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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS
OTTAWA, Tuesday, March 19, 2019
(80)

[English)

The Standing Senate Committee on Fisheries and Oceans met
this day at 6:10 p.m., in room B30, Senate of Canada Building,
the chair, the Honourable Fabian Manning, presiding.

Members of the committee present: The Honourable Senators
Anderson, Bovey, Christmas, Francis, Gold, Manning, Mclnnis,
Munson, Patterson, Petitclerc and Poirier (11).

In attendance: Daniele Lafrance, Analyst, Parliamentary
Information and Research Services, Library of Parliament.

Also present: The official reporters of the Senate.

Pursuant to the order of reference adopted by the Senate on
Tuesday, December 11, 2018, the committee continued
its consideration of Bill C-55, An Act to amend the Oceans Act
and the Canada Petroleum Resources Act. (For complete text
of the order of reference, see proceedings of the committee,
Issue No. 36.)

WITNESSES:
Fisheries and Oceans Canada:

Jeff MacDonald, Director General, Oceans and Fisheries
Policy;

Darren Goetze, Director General, Conservation and Protection.
Natural Resources Canada:

Candace Newman, Senior Policy Analyst, Offshore Petroleum
Management Division, Energy Sector;

Danny Wright, Subdivision Chief, Environmental Earth
Sciences, Geological Survey of Canada, Lands and
Minerals Sector.

The chair made a statement.
Mr. MacDonald answered questions from time to time.

It was agreed that the committee proceed to clause-by-clause
consideration of Bill C-55, An Act to amend the Oceans Act and
the Canada Petroleum Resources Act.

It was agreed that the title stand postponed.
It was agreed that clause 1 carry.
It was agreed that clause 2 carry.
It was agreed that clause 3 carry.
It was agreed that clause 4 carry.

The chair asked whether clause 5 shall carry.

PROCES-VERBAUX

OTTAWA, le mardi 19 mars 2019
(30)

[Traduction]

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des péches et des océans se
réunit aujourd’hui, a 18 h 10, dans la piece B30 de I’édifice du
Sénat du Canada, sous la présidence de I'honorable Fabian
Manning (président).

Membres du comité présents : Les honorables sénateurs
Anderson, Bovey, Christmas, Francis, Gold, Manning, Mclnnis,
Munson, Patterson, Petitclerc et Poirier (11).

Egalement présente : Daniele Lafrance, analyste, Service
d’information et de recherche parlementaires, Bibliothéque du
Parlement.

Aussi présents : Les sténographes officiels du Sénat.

Conformément a I’ordre de renvoi adopté par le Sénat le mardi
11 décembre 2018, le comité poursuit son étude du projet de loi C-
55, Loi modifiant la Loi sur les océans et la Loi fédérale sur les
hydrocarbures. (Le texte intégral de ['ordre de renvoi figure au
fascicule n° 36 des délibérations du comité.)

TEMOINS :
Péches et Océans Canada :

Jeff MacDonald, directeur général,Politiques des océans et des
péches;

Darren Goetze, directeur général, Conservation et protection.
Ressources naturelles Canada :

Candace Newman, analyste de la politique principale, Division de
la gestion des hydrocarbures extracotiers, Secteur de I'énergie;

Danny Wright, chef de sous-division, Géosciences
environnementales, Commission géologique du Canada,
Secteur des terres et des minéraux.

Le président fait une déclaration.
M. MacDonald répond a des questions de temps a autre.

Il est convenu que le comité continue I’étude article par
article du projet de loi C-55, Loi modifiant la Loi sur les océans
et la Loi fédérale sur les hydrocarbures.

Il est convenu de reporter I'adoption du titre.
Il est convenu d’adopter article 1.
Il est convenu d’adopter I’article 2.
Il est convenu d’adopter I’article 3.
11 est convenu d’adopter ’article 4.

Le président demande si larticle 5 est adopté.
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The Honourable Senator Poirier moved:

That Bill C-55 be amended, in clause 5, on page 3,

(a) by replacing line 17 with the following:

“(a) was lawfully carried out in the three-year
period immediately”; and

(b) by replacing line 22 with the following:

“(b) was lawfully carried out in the three-year
period immediately”.

After debate, the question put on the motion in amendment, it
was negatived.

The Honourable Senator Mclnnis moved:

That Bill C-55 be amended, in clause 5, on page 4, by
adding the following after line 20:

“(2.1) No order may be made under subsection (2) to
designate a marine protected area that would include
any area of the sea that is included in the definition
offshore area in section 2 of the Canada-Nova Scotia
Offshore Petroleum Resources Accord Implementation
Act unless the Premier of Nova Scotia has given prior
consent to the designation in writing.”.

After debate, the question put on the motion in amendment, it
was negatived.

The Honourable Senator Mclnnis moved:

That Bill C-55 be amended, in clause 5, on page 4, by
adding the following after line 20:

“(2.1) No order may be made under subsection (2) to
designate a marine protected area that would include
any area of the sea that is included in the definition
offshore area in section 2 of the Canada-Newfoundland
and Labrador Atlantic Accord Implementation Act unless
the Premier of Newfoundland and Labrador has given
prior consent to the designation in writing.”.

After debate, the question put on the motion in amendment, it
was negatived.

The Honourable Senator Patterson moved:

That Bill C-55 be amended in clause 5, on page 4, by
adding the following after line 32:

“35.11 (1) Before an order may be made under
subsection 35.1(2), the Minister shall

(a) cause the proposed order to be posted on the
Minister’s website, accompanied by a notice that invites
the public to provide comments during a period, to be
set by the Minister, of at least 60 days, beginning on the
day after the day on which the proposed order is posted;

L’honorable sénatrice Poirier propose :

Que le projet de loi C-55 soit modifié a I’article 5, a la
page 3 :

a) par substitution, a la ligne 12, de ce qui suit :

« a) a été exercée légalement dans les trois années
précédant la »;

b) par substitution, a la ligne 17, de ce qui suit :

« b) a été exercée légalement dans les trois années
précédant la ».

Aprés débat, la motion d’amendement, mise aux voix, est
rejetée.

L’honorable sénateur Mclnnis propose :

Que le projet de loi C-55 soit modifié, a larticle 5, a la
page 4, par adjonction, aprés la ligne 20, de ce qui suit :

« (2.1) 1l est interdit de désigner par arrété pris en
vertu du paragraphe (2) une zone de protection marine
qui engloberait tout espace maritime visé par la
définition de zone extracédtiére ou zone a article 2 de
la Loi de mise en ceuvre de I’Accord Canada — Nouvelle-
Ecosse sur les hydrocarbures extracétiers, sauf si le
premier ministre de la Nouvelle-Ecosse y a consenti
préalablement par écrit. ».

Aprés débat, la motion d’amendement, mise aux voix, est
rejetée.

L’honorable sénateur Mclnnis propose :

Que le projet de loi C-55 soit modifié, a Particle 5, a la
page 4, par adjonction, aprés la ligne 20, de ce qui suit :

« (2.1) I est interdit de désigner par arrété pris en vertu
du paragraphe (2) une zone de protection marine qui
engloberait tout espace maritime visé par la définition de
zone extracétiere ou zone a I'article 2 de la Loi de mise en
ceuvre de I’Accord atlantique Canada — Terre-Neuve-et-
Labrador, sauf si le premier ministre de Terre-Neuve-et-
Labrador y a consenti préalablement par écrit. ».

Aprés débat, la motion d’amendement, mise aux voix, est
rejetée.

L’honorable sénateur Patterson propose :

Que le projet de loi C-55 soit modifié, a larticle 5, a la
page 4, par adjonction, aprés la ligne 31, de ce qui suit :

« 35.11 (1) Avant qu’un décret puisse étre pris en vertu du
paragraphe 35.1(2), le ministre :

a) fait afficher sur son site Web le projet de décret,
accompagné d’un avis invitant le public a lui faire des
observations dans le délai qu’il établit, qui sera au
moins de soixante jours et qui commencera le jour
suivant I’affichage;
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(b) ensure that the public is provided with an
opportunity to participate meaningfully in informing
the Minister’s consideration of the proposed order
within the period set under paragraph (a);

(¢) provide written notice of the proposed order to every
jurisdiction whose lands or interests may be affected by
the order and consult and cooperate with every such
jurisdiction that requests a consultation no later than 30
days after the day on which it received the notice; and

(d) prepare and post on the Minister’s website a report
that

(i) summarizes the comments received under
paragraph (a),

(ii) describes how the public was provided an
opportunity for meaningful participation as
required under paragraph (b),

(iii) lists the requests received for consultation under
paragraph (c), and

(iv) summarizes the consultations that occurred
under paragraph (c).

(2) For the purposes of paragraph (1)(c), jurisdiction
means

(a) the government of a province;

(b) any agency or body that is established under an Act
of the legislature of a province and that has powers,
duties or functions in relation to the environment;

(¢) any body — including a co-management body —
that is established under a land claim agreement
referred to in section 35 of the Constitution Act, 1982
and that has powers, duties or functions in relation to
the environment; or

(d) any council, government or other entity that is
authorized to act on behalf of an Indigenous group,
community or people that holds rights recognized and
affirmed by section 35 of the Constitution Act, 1982
and that has powers, duties or functions in relation to
the environment

(i) under a land claim agreement referred to in
section 35 of the Constitution Act, 1982, or

(ii) under an Act of Parliament or an Act of the
legislature of a province, including a law that
implements a self-government agreement.

(3) For greater certainty, the requirement set out in
paragraph (1)(c) to consult and cooperate with a
jurisdiction includes, when appropriate, a duty to
accommodate if the jurisdiction is a body or entity
referred to in paragraph (2)(c) or (d).”.

b) veille a ce que le public ait la possibilité de participer
de fagon significative a son examen du projet de décret
dans le délai établi a 'alinéa a);

¢) donne un avis écrit du projet de décret a toute
instance dont les terres ou les intéréts peuvent étre
touchés par celui-ci, et consulte toute instance qui
demande a étre consultée au plus tard trente jours
suivant la réception de cet avis et coopére avec elle;

d) prépare et affiche sur son site Web, un rapport qui :

(i) résume les observations regues au titre de I’alinéa
a),

(ii) décrit comment le public a eu la possibilité de
participer de facon significative a I’examen visé a
I’alinéa b),

(iii) dresse une liste des demandes de consultation
regues au titre de I’alinéa c),

(iv) résume les consultations tenues en application
de I’alinéa c).

(2) Pour I'application de l'alinéa (1)c), instance s’entend
des entités suivantes :

a) le gouvernement d’une province;

b) tout organisme établi sous le régime d’une loi
provinciale et ayant des attributions relatives a
I’environnement;

¢) tout organisme — de cogestion ou autre — établi
par un accord sur des revendications territoriales visé a
larticle 35 de la Loi constitutionnelle de 1982 et ayant
des attributions relatives a I’environnement;

d) tout Conseil, gouvernement ou autre entité autorisé
a agir pour le compte d’un groupe, d’une collectivité
ou d’un peuple autochtones titulaires de droits
reconnus et confirmés par larticle 35 de la Loi
constitutionnelle de 1982 et ayant des attributions
relatives a I’environnement au titre :

(i) soit d’un accord sur des revendications territoriales
visé a Iarticle 35 de la Loi constitutionnelle de 1982,

(ii) soit d’une loi fédérale ou dune loi provinciale,
notamment une loi mettant en ceuvre un accord sur
I’autonomie gouvernementale. ».

(3) Il est entendu que I’exigence prévue a I’alinéa (1)c) de
consulter une instance et de coopérer avec elle comprend,
au besoin, une obligation d’adaptation si I'instance est un
organisme ou une entité visés aux alinéas (2)c) ou d). ».
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At 7:54 p.m., after debate, the committee suspended.
At 7:58 p.m., the committee resumed.

At 8:01 p.m., the committee adjourned to the call of the chair.

ATTEST:

OTTAWA, Thursday, March 21, 2019
(81)

[English)

The Standing Senate Committee on Fisheries and Oceans met
this day at 8:06 a.m., in room B30, Senate of Canada Building, the
chair, the Honourable Fabian Manning, presiding.

Members of the committee present: The Honourable Senators
Anderson, Bovey, Campbell, Christmas, Francis, Gold, Manning,
Mclnnis, Patterson, Petitclerc and Poirier (11).

In attendance: Daniele Lafrance, Analyst, Parliamentary
Information and Research Services, Library of Parliament and
Ben Silverman, Communications Officer, Senate Communications
Directorate.

Also present: The official reporters of the Senate.

Pursuant to the order of reference adopted by the Senate on
Tuesday, December 11, 2018, the committee continued its
consideration of Bill C-55, An Act to amend the Oceans Act and
the Canada Petroleum Resources Act. (For complete text of the
order of reference, see proceedings of the committee, Issue No. 36.)

WITNESSES:
Fisheries and Oceans Canada:

Jeff MacDonald, Director General, Oceans and Fisheries
Policy;

Josée-Annie Verville, Chief, Enforcement Policy.
Natural Resources Canada:

Candace Newman, Senior Policy Analyst, Offshore Petroleum
Management Division, Energy Sector;

Danny Wright, Subdivision Chief, Environmental Earth
Sciences, Geological Survey of Canada, Lands and
Minerals Sector.

The chair made a statement.
Mr. MacDonald answered questions from time to time.

It was agreed that the committee continue clause-by-clause
consideration of Bill C-55, An Act to amend the Oceans Act and
the Canada Petroleum Resources Act.

Resuming debate on the motion of the Honourable Senator
Patterson:

A 19 h 54, aprés débat, la séance est suspendue.
A 19 h 58, la séance reprend.

A 20 h 1, la séance est levée jusqu’a nouvelle convocation de la
présidence.

ATTESTE :

OTTAWA, le jeudi 21 mars 2019
(81)

[Traduction]

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des péches et des océans se
réunit aujourd’hui, a 8 h 6, dans la piece B30 de I’édifice du Sénat
du Canada, sous la présidence de I’honorable Fabian Manning
(président).

Membres du comité présents : Les honorables sénateurs
Anderson, Bovey, Campbell, Christmas, Francis, Gold,
Manning, Mclnnis, Patterson, Petitclerc et Poirier (11).

Egalement présents : Daniele Lafrance, analyste, Service
d’information et de recherche parlementaires, Bibliothéque du

Parlement et Ben Silverman, agent de communications, Direction
des communications du Sénat.

Aussi présents : Les sténographes officiels du Sénat.

Conformément a I’ordre de renvoi adopté par le Sénat le mardi
11 décembre 2018, le comité poursuit son étude du projet de loi C-
55, Loi modifiant la Loi sur les océans et la Loi fédérale sur les
hydrocarbures. (Le texte intégral de I'ordre de renvoi figure au
fascicule n° 36 des délibérations du comité.)
TEMOINS :
Péches et Océans Canada :

Jeff MacDonald, directeur général, Politiques des océans et des
péches;

Josée-Annie Verville, chef, Politiques d’application de la loi.
Ressources naturelles Canada :

Candace Newman, analyste de la politique principale, Division
de la gestion des hydrocarbures extracotiers, Secteur de
I’énergie;

Danny Wright, chef de sous-division, Géosciences
environnementales, Commission géologique du Canada,
Secteur des terres et des minéraux.

Le président fait une déclaration.
M. MacDonald répond a des questions de temps a autre.

Il est convenu que le comité continue I’étude article par article
du projet de loi C-55, Loi modifiant la Loi sur les océans et la Loi
fédérale sur les hydrocarbures.

Reprise du débat sur la motion de I'honorable sénateur
Patterson :
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That Bill C-55 be amended in clause 5, on page 4, by
adding the following after line 32:

Que le projet de loi C-55 soit modifié, a larticle 5, a la
page 4, par adjonction, apres la ligne 31, de ce qui suit :

“35.11 (1) Before an order may be made under
subsection 35.1(2), the Minister shall

« 35.11 (1) Avant qu’un décret puisse étre pris en vertu du
paragraphe 35.1(2), le ministre :

(a) cause the proposed order to be posted on the
Minister’s website, accompanied by a notice that
invites the public to provide comments during a
period, to be set “by the Minister, of at least
60 days, beginning on the day after the day on which
the proposed order is posted;

(b) ensure that the public is provided with an
opportunity to participate meaningfully in informing
the Minister’s consideration of the proposed order
within the period set under paragraph (a);

(c) provide written notice of the proposed order to
every jurisdiction whose lands or interests may be
affected by the order and consult and cooperate with
every such jurisdiction that requests a consultation no
later than 30 days after the day on which it received the
notice; and

(d) prepare and post on the Minister’s website a report
that

(i) summarizes the comments received under
paragraph (a),

(ii) describes how the public was provided an
opportunity for meaningful participation as
required under paragraph (b),

(iii) lists the requests received for consultation under
paragraph (c), and

(iv) summarizes the consultations that occurred
under paragraph (c).

(2) For the purposes of paragraph (1)(c), jurisdiction
means

(a) the government of a province;

(b) any agency or body that is established under an Act
of the legislature of a province and that has powers,
duties or functions in relation to the environment;

(¢) any body — including a co-management body —
that is established under a land claim agreement
referred to in section 35 of the Constitution Act, 1982
and that has powers, duties or functions in relation to
the environment; or

(d) any council, government or other entity that is
authorized to act on behalf of an Indigenous group,
community or people that holds rights recognized and
affirmed by section 35 of the Constitution Act, 1982
and that has powers, duties or functions in relation to
the environment

a) fait afficher sur son site Web le projet de décret,
accompagné d’un avis invitant le public a lui faire des
observations dans le délai qu’il établit, qui sera au
moins de soixante jours et qui commencera le jour
suivant 1’affichage;

b) veille a ce que le public ait la possibilité de participer
de facon significative a son examen du projet de décret
dans le délai établi a 'alinéa a);

¢) donne un avis écrit du projet de décret a toute
instance dont les terres ou les intéréts peuvent étre
touchés par celui-ci, et consulte toute instance qui
demande a étre consultée au plus tard trente jours
suivant la réception de cet avis et coopére avec elle;

d) prépare et affiche sur son site Web, un rapport qui :

(i) résume les observations regues au titre de I’alinéa
a),

(i) décrit comment le public a eu la possibilité de
participer de fagon significative a ’examen visé a
I’alinéa b),

(iii) dresse une liste des demandes de consultation
regues au titre de 1’alinéa c),

(iv) résume les consultations tenues en application
de I'alinéa c).

(2) Pour I'application de l'alinéa (1)c), instance s’entend
des entités suivantes :

a) le gouvernement d’une province;

b) tout organisme établi sous le régime d’une loi
provinciale et ayant des attributions relatives a
I’environnement;

¢) tout organisme — de cogestion ou autre — établi
par un accord sur des revendications territoriales visé a
larticle 35 de la Loi constitutionnelle de 1982 et ayant
des attributions relatives a ’environnement;

d) tout Conseil, gouvernement ou autre entité autorisé
a agir pour le compte d’un groupe, d’une collectivité
ou dun peuple autochtones titulaires de droits
reconnus et confirmés par l'article 35 de la Loi
constitutionnelle de 1982 et ayant des attributions
relatives a ’environnement au titre :
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(i) under a land claim agreement referred to in
section 35 of the Constitution Act, 1982, or

(i) under an Act of Parliament or an Act of the
legislature of a province, including a law that
implements a self-government agreement.

(3) For greater certainty, the requirement set out in
paragraph (I)(c) to consult and cooperate with a
jurisdiction includes, when appropriate, a duty to
accommodate if the jurisdiction is a body or entity
referred to in paragraph (2)(c) or (d).”.

After debate, the question being put on the motion, it was
adopted on the following vote:

YEAS
The Honourable Senators

Anderson, Campbell, Christmas, Francis, Manning, Mclnnis,
Patterson, Petitclerc, Poirier — 9

NAYS
NIL
ABSTENTIONS
The Honourable Senators
Bovey, Gold — 2
The Honourable Senator Mclnnis moved:

That Bill C-55 be amended, in clause 5, on page 4, by
adding the following after line 32:

“(4) Despite section 35.2, no order may be made under
subsection (2) unless the Minister

(a) is able to delineate the exact geographical location
of the proposed marine protected area and make a
precise determination of any habitat or species
requiring protection in that area; and

(b) posts a report of the information referred to in
paragraph (a) on the departmental website.”.

At 9:55 a.m., after debate, the committee adjourned to the call
of the chair.

ATTEST:

(i) soit d’un accord sur des revendications territoriales
visé a I'article 35 de la Loi constitutionnelle de 1982,

(ii) soit d’une loi fédérale ou d’une loi provinciale,
notamment une loi mettant en ceuvre un accord sur
Pautonomie gouvernementale. ».

(3) Il est entendu que I’exigence prévue a I’alinéa (1)c) de
consulter une instance et de coopérer avec elle comprend,
au besoin, une obligation d’adaptation si I'instance est un
organisme ou une entité visés aux alinéas (2)c) ou d). ».

Apres débat, la motion, mise aux voix, est adoptée par le vote
suivant :

POUR
Les honorables sénateurs

Anderson, Campbell, Christmas, Francis, Manning, Mclnnis,
Patterson, Petitclerc, Poirier — 9

CONTRE
0
ABSTENTIONS
Les honorables sénateurs
Bovey, Gold — 2
L’honorable sénateur Mclnnis propose :

Que le projet de loi C-55 soit modifié, a Iarticle 5, a la
page 4, par adjonction, aprées la ligne 31, de ce qui suit :

« (4) Malgré larticle 35.2, il est interdit de prendre un
arrété en vertu du paragraphe (2), sauf si le ministre :

a) peut délimiter 'emplacement géographique exact de
la zone de protection marine proposée et identifier
précisément les habitats et les especes qui doivent étre
protégés dans cette zone;

b) publie un rapport contenant les renseignements visés
a I’alinéa a) sur le site Web du ministére. ».

A 9 h 55, aprés débat, la séance est levée jusqu’a nouvelle
convocation de la présidence.

ATTESTE :

La greffiere du comité,
Chantal Cardinal

Clerk of the Committee
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EVIDENCE
OTTAWA, Tuesday, March 19, 2019

The Standing Senate Committee on Fisheries and Oceans, to
which was referred Bill C-55, An Act to amend the Oceans Act
and the Canada Petroleum Resources Act, met this day at
6:10 p.m. to give clause-by-clause consideration to the bill.

Senator Fabian Manning (Chair) in the chair.
[English]

The Chair: Good evening, senators. The first order of
business is do we have an agreement that the committee go
through clause-by-clause consideration of Bill C-55?

Hon. Senators: Agreed.

The Chair: Any contra-minded? Carried.

Before we begin, I would like to make all senators aware that
we have government officials from the Department of Fisheries
and Oceans Canada and Natural Resources Canada in the room
with us, should any senators have any technical questions to
raise as we go through the bill clause by clause. We will ask
people to join us at the table if we need to have that.

I’'m not sure if everybody is familiar with the process of
clause by clause. I know we have some new senators with us. |
will run through a few things.

If at any point a senator is not clear where we are in the
process, please feel free to ask for clarification. I want to ensure
that at all times we all have the same understanding of where we
are in this process.

In terms of the mechanics of the process, I wish to remind
senators that when more than one amendment is proposed to be
moved in a clause, amendments should be proposed in the order
of the lines of the clause. You’ll find in one of our amendments
we had that happening here this afternoon.

If a senator is opposed to an entire clause, I would remind you
that in committee the proper process is not to move a motion to
delete the entire clause but, rather, to vote against the clause as
standing as part of the bill.

TEMOIGNAGES
OTTAWA, le mardi 19 mars 2019

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des péches et des océans,
auquel a été renvoyé le projet de loi C-55, Loi modifiant la Loi
sur les océans et la Loi fédérale sur les hydrocarbures, se réunit
aujourd’hui, a 18 h 10, pour étudier le projet de loi article par
article.

Le sénateur Fabian Manning (président) occupe le fauteuil.
[Traduction]

Le président : Bonsoir, mesdames et messieurs les sénateurs.
Le premier point & ’ordre du jour est la question suivante :
consentons-nous a ce que le comité procéde a 1’étude article par
article du projet de loi C-55?

Des voix : Oui.

Le président : Y a-t-il des membres qui sont contre? La
motion est adoptée.

Avant que nous commencions, j’aimerais informer tous les
sénateurs qu’il y a, dans la salle, des hauts fonctionnaires du
ministére des Péches et des Océans et du ministére des
Ressources naturelles au cas ou des sénateurs auraient des
questions techniques a poser au cours de notre étude article par
article du projet de loi. Nous demanderons a des gens de se
joindre a nous a la table si nous avons besoin de poser de telles
questions.

Je ne suis pas slr que vous soyez tous au courant du processus
lié aux études article par article. Comme je sais que certains des
sénateurs ici présents sont nouveaux, je vais passer en revue
quelques aspects de ces études.

Si, a n’importe quel moment, vous n’étes pas certain de
I’endroit ou nous en sommes, n’hésitez pas a demander des
précisions. Je veux m’assurer que nous sommes tous, en tout
temps, sur la méme longueur d’onde quant a 1’étape qui nous
occupe.

En ce qui concerne les rouages du processus, je tiens a
rappeler aux sénateurs que, lorsqu’il y a plus d’un amendement
propos€ pour un méme article, les amendements devraient &tre
présentés dans ’ordre des lignes de 1’article qu’ils modifient.
Vous constaterez que cela s’est produit cet aprés-midi
relativement a I’un de nos amendements.

Je vous rappelle que, en comité, si vous étes contre I’ensemble
d’un article, le processus appropri¢ ne consiste pas a présenter
une motion visant a supprimer ’article en entier, mais plutot a

voter contre la présence de 1’article dans le projet de loi.
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[ would also remind senators that some amendments that are
moved may have consequential effects on other parts of the bill.
It would be useful in this process if a senator moving an
amendment identified to the committee other clauses in this bill
where this amendment could have an effect. Otherwise it would
be very difficult for members of the committee to remain
consistent in their decision making.

I want everybody to know that we have six amendments we’re
dealing with here. All the amendments have been run through the
Law Clerk’s office in regard to where they fit. That doesn’t say
that somebody can’t move an amendment from the table. That
can be done also. If you do, it will be on hold until we get it
figured out.

If committee members ever have any questions about the
process or about the propriety of anything occurring, they can
certainly raise a point of order. As chair, I will listen to the
argument, decide when there has been sufficient discussion on a
matter of order and make a ruling.

The committee is the ultimate master of its own business
within the bounds established by the Senate and a ruling can be
appealed to the full committee by asking whether the ruling shall
be sustained.

As chair, I will do my utmost to ensure that all senators
wishing to speak have the opportunity to do so. For this,
however, I will depend upon your cooperation, as I always do. I
ask all of you to consider other senators and keep remarks to the
point and as brief as possible.

Finally, I wish to remind honourable senators that if there is
ever any uncertainty as to the results of a voice vote or a show of
hands, the most effective route is to request a roll call vote,
which obviously provides unambiguous results.

All senators are aware that any tied vote negates the motion in
question.

Are there any questions on anything that I have touched on
here this evening so far? Is everybody clear?

Senator Munson: Yes, sir.

The Chair: If so, we can now proceed. I doubt if we are all
clear, but we’ll say we are anyway.

Bear with us, Chantal and I. We brought in some expert help
this evening if we need to have it.

Je rappellerais aussi aux sénateurs que certains amendements
proposés peuvent avoir des conséquences sur d’autres parties du
projet de loi. Dans le cadre du présent processus, il serait bon
que le sénateur qui propose I’amendement indique au comité les
autres articles sur lesquels I’amendement pourrait avoir des
conséquences. Sinon, les membres du comité auront beaucoup de
mal a prendre des décisions cohérentes.

Je tiens a ce que vous sachiez tous que nous sommes saisis de
six amendements en ce moment. Le bureau du légiste a passé en
revue tous les amendements afin de déterminer ou ils
s’appliquent. Toutefois, cela ne veut pas dire que les sénateurs ne
peuvent pas prendre la parole pour présenter un amendement, car
il est effectivement possible de le faire. Si vous le faites,
I’amendement sera mis en veilleuse jusqu’a ce que nous
puissions déterminer ou il s’applique.

Si jamais un membre du comité a des questions a soulever a
propos du processus ou du caractére approprié¢ de n’importe quel
aspect de son déroulement, il peut certainement invoquer le
Réglement. En ma qualit¢é de président, j’entendrai les
arguments, je déterminerai quand un rappel au Réglement a été
suffisamment débattu, et je rendrai une décision.

Toutefois, comme le comité est le maitre de ses propres
affaires dans les limites établies par le Sénat, il est possible de
faire appel d’une décision de la présidence en demandant a
I’ensemble des membres si la décision sera maintenue.

En ma qualité de président, je ferai tout en mon pouvoir pour
m’assurer que tous les sénateurs qui souhaitent s’exprimer ont
I’occasion de le faire. Toutefois, pour ce faire, je compterai,
comme toujours, sur votre coopération. Je demanderais donc a
tous les membres du comité de prendre en considération les
autres sénateurs en veillant, dans la mesure du possible, a ce que
leurs interventions soient pertinentes et bréves.

Enfin, je souhaite rappeler aux honorables sénateurs qu’en cas
d’incertitude quant aux résultats d’un vote oral ou a main levée,
la facon la plus efficace de procéder est de demander un vote par
appel nominal, qui donne évidemment des résultats non ambigus.

Tous les sénateurs savent qu’un vote a égalité annule la
motion en question.

Y a-t-il des questions a propos de n’importe lequel des sujets
que j’ai abordés jusqu’a maintenant, ce soir? Tous les sénateurs
ont compris clairement mes précisions?

Le sénateur Munson : Oui, monsieur.

Le président : Dans ce cas, nous pouvons aller de I’avant. Je
doute que nous ayons tous compris la marche a suivre, mais nous
allons prétendre que c’est le cas de toute maniere.

Je vous prie d’étre indulgents envers Chantal et moi. Nous
avons fait appel a des experts ce soir, au cas ou nous aurions
besoin de leurs compétences.



21-3-2019

Péches et océans

39:11

[s it agreed that the committee proceed to -clause-by-
clause consideration of Bill C-55, An Act to amend the Oceans
Act and the Canada Petroleum Resources Act?

Hon. Senators: Agreed.

The Chair: Shall the title stand postponed?

Hon. Senators: Agreed.

The Chair: Shall clause 1 carry?
Hon. Senators: Agreed.

The Chair: Shall clause 2 carry?
Hon. Senators: Agreed.

The Chair: Shall clause 3 carry?
Hon. Senators: Agreed.

The Chair: Shall clause 4 carry?
Hon. Senators: Agreed.

The Chair: Shall clause 5 carry?
Senator Poirier: I’m on page 3.
I move:

That Bill C-55 be amended in clause 5, on page 3:

“(a) was lawfully carried out in the three-year period
immediately”; and

“(b) was lawfully carried out in the three-year period
immediately”.

Basically what it’s doing is changing the “in the year
immediately” on both lines to a “three-year period immediately.”
And I think everybody has a copy of that.

The Chair: Are there any comments or questions?

Senator Gold: Although I think I understand the intent of it,
it would be helpful, senator, if you briefly explained the rationale
for it.

Senator Poirier: Yes. Basically, it’s extending the freezing of
the footprint based on the previous 12 months to the last three
years in order to take into account the rotational fisheries. We’ve
heard from witnesses to extend the freezing of the footprint, for
example, Christina Burridge from the BC Seafood Alliance. If
you remember, she urged our committee to extend the footprint
to protect the rotational fisheries, such as the sea cucumber

Est-il convenu de procéder a I’étude article par article du
projet de loi C-55, Loi modifiant la Loi sur les océans et la Loi
fédérale sur les hydrocarbures?

Des voix : Oui.

Le président : Etes-vous d’accord de suspendre 1’adoption du
titre?

Des voix : Oui.

Le président : L’article 1 est-il adopté?
Des voix : Oui.

Le président : L’article 2 est-il adopté?
Des voix : Oui.

Le président : L’article 3 est-il adopté?
Des voix : Oui.

Le président : L’article 4 est-il adopté?
Des voix : Oui.

Le président : L’article 5 est-il adopté?
La sénatrice Poirier : Je suis a la page 3.
Je propose :

Que le projet de loi C-55 soit modifié¢ a I’article 5, a la
page 3, de la fagon suivante :

« a) a été exercée légalement dans les trois années
précédant la »; et

« b) a été exercée légalement dans les trois années
précédant la ».

L’amendement consiste essentiellement a remplacer, aux deux
lignes, les mots « dans 1’année précédant la » par les mots « dans
les trois années précédant la ». Je pense que tout le monde a regu
une copie de I’amendement.

Le président : Y a-t-il des commentaires ou des questions?

Le sénateur Gold : Méme si je crois comprendre I’objectif de
votre amendement, il serait bon, madame la sénatrice, que vous
expliquiez bri¢vement votre raisonnement.

La sénatrice Poirier : Oui. L’amendement élargit
essentiellement le gel de I’empreinte fondé sur une période, en
faisant passer la période des 12 mois précédents aux trois années
précédentes, afin de tenir compte de la péche en rotation. Nous
avons entendu des témoins comme Christina Burridge, qui
représente la BC Seafood Alliance, demander 1’¢largissement du
gel de I’empreinte. Si vous vous souvenez, elle a prié
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where they were fished once every three years. We also heard
from Jerry Ward on this issue. He said fish know no boundaries.
Some fish stock, such as shrimp and turbot, are shared with
Greenland and they tend to swim back and forth. The fish move
around based on water temperature and salinity. Where there are
fish today may not be the same down the road.

This gives more flexibility to the rotational fisheries to be
adapted to the potential MPAs. We heard from witnesses that 12
months is too restrictive. We will be allowing the 12 months for
more predictable activities. We should give the same flexibility
to rotational fisheries, as some of the things we’ve heard.

They are saying it would be unfair to punish certain rotational
fishery harvesters to 12 months because of the nature of the
fisheries. Giving them three years is a fair approach and
inclusive to all different types of fisheries.

If you remember correctly, the BC Seafood Alliance had even
talked six years. They came with the notion of the six years but
they said they would be happy with three years. They are the
ones on the sea with the knowledge of the fisheries. I feel it’s
important to listen to them when a government bill can harm
their activities. I think they need to be listened to.

Those are some of the reasons and rationale behind answering
to some of our witnesses.

Senator Gold: Chair, this is in the spirit of being thorough
because when this issue was raised at our February 5 meeting,
Mr. Morel, the Assistant Deputy Minister of the Department of
Fisheries and Oceans, in responding to this important and
legitimate concern — and I think he was probably pointing to
subclause (c) — said:

That’s exactly why we put in the act “authorized” versus the
activities that are happening. When they are authorized and
you have a fishing licence that is valid and conditions have
been renewed, even if you don’t fish they are still
authorized and they will be considered effective. Freezing
the footprint will not affect these kinds of conditions.

instamment notre comité d’élargir I’empreinte afin de protéger la
péche en rotation, comme celle des concombres de mer qui a lieu
tous les trois ans. Nous avons également entendu Jerry Ward
parler de ce probléme. Il a indiqué que les poissons ne
respectaient pas les frontiéres. Nous partageons certains stocks
de poissons, comme les crevettes et les flétans noirs, avec le
Groenland, ces poissons ayant effectivement tendance a aller et
venir entre nos deux pays. Les poissons se déplacent en fonction
de la température et de la salinit¢ de 1’eau. Par conséquent,
I’endroit ou les poissons se trouvent aujourd’hui pourrait étre
différent plus tard.

Cela donnerait une plus grande marge de manceuvre aux
pécheurs qui pratiquent la péche en rotation et qui devront
s’adapter aux ZPM éventuelles. Nous avons entendu les témoins
dire qu’une période de 12 mois était trop restreinte. Nous
autoriserons la période de 12 mois pour les activités plus
prévisibles, mais nous devrions accorder la méme marge de
manceuvre aux pécheurs qui pratiquent la péche en rotation,
conformément a certains des témoignages que nous avons
entendus.

Ces témoins soutiennent qu’en raison de la nature de la péche
en rotation, il serait injuste de pénaliser les pécheurs qui la
pratiquent en limitant la période a 12 mois. Pour étre justes et
inclusifs a I’égard de tous les types de péche, nous devrions leur
accorder une période de trois ans.

Si vous vous souvenez correctement, la BC Seafood Alliance
avait méme parlé de six ans. Ils sont arrivés avec I’idée de faire
passer la période a six ans, mais ils ont déclaré qu’ils seraient
satisfaits de la voir passer a trois ans. Ces gens travaillent en mer
et connaissent les péches. Je crois qu’il est important de les
écouter lorsqu’un projet de loi d’initiative ministérielle peut
nuire a leurs activités. Je pense qu’il faut les écouter.

Voila la logique ou quelques-unes des raisons pour lesquelles
nous devrions satisfaire nos témoins.

Le sénateur Gold : Monsieur le président, j’aborde cette
question par souci de rigueur, parce que, lorsqu’elle a été
soulevée lors de notre séance du 5 février, M. Morel, le sous-
ministre adjoint du ministére des Péches et des Océans a, en
réponse a cette préoccupation importante et 1égitime, déclaré ce
qui suit — et je pense qu’il faisait probablement allusion a
I’alinéa c) :

C’est exactement pour cette raison que nous précisons, dans
la loi, activités « autorisées », par opposition a activités en
cours. Les activités qui sont autorisées, quand vous avez un
permis de péche valide et que les conditions ont été
renouvelées, méme si vous ne péchez pas, demeurent
autorisées et 1’autorisation est considérée comme étant en
cours de validité. Le gel de I’empreinte n’aura aucune
incidence sur ce genre de conditions.
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In other words, the definition of “ongoing” includes, in
subparagraph (c), “was not carried out” but “was authorized and
continues to be authorized.” That may not be good enough but
that was the answer that they gave for the rotational fisheries.

Senator Poirier: I understand that. I think some of the
witnesses had concerns. It’s their livelihood. It’s their income. I
mentioned two or three who have concerns about it. It’s to give
them the security. Like I said, their will would have been six
years, but knowing that would be difficult. I think we went with
three years. They would be willing to accept that or be happy
that at least we were doing that.

They felt that 12 months was really not enough and it could
cause issues within the industry.

Senator Gold: Thank you.

Senator Bovey: Given that we have representatives from the
ministry here, could they respond to a question that I have? I’d
like to know if three years was part of their deliberations and, if
so, why did they settle on one year as opposed to three years? I’d
like to know what the department’s researchers thoughts were as
to why they came to the decision of 12 months.

The Chair: Would somebody from the department like to join
the table?

Jeff MacDonald, Director General, Oceans and Fisheries
Policy, Fisheries and Oceans Canada: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

The Chair: Did you hear the question proposed by Senator
Bovey?

Mr. MacDonald: I believe the question was what was the
thinking for one year versus other time periods?

Senator Bovey: Yes, and was three years considered? What
was the rationale and the substantive thinking that came to a 12-
month solution as opposed to a longer one?

Mr. MacDonald: We considered two things in the drafting of
the bill. One was whether to use the word “current” or
“ongoing.” We settled on the word “ongoing” because “current”
leaves the impression that the activity had to have been occurring
on the day before the order or recently before the ministerial
order was signed, whereas “ongoing” allows the interpretation to
include that the activity is current but not necessarily happening
within that period. That complements paragraph (c), which is

Autrement dit, la définition d’activités « en cours » englobe, a
I’alinéa c), chacune des activités qui n’a pas « été exercée »,
mais qui « était autorisée, et 1’est toujours ». Cette disposition
n’est peut-&tre pas suffisante, mais c’est la réponse que les
fonctionnaires nous ont donnée au sujet de la péche en rotation.

La sénatrice Poirier : Je comprends cela, mais certains des
témoins étaient préoccupés a ce sujet. Il s’agit de leur moyen de
subsistance, de leur source de revenus. J’ai mentionné deux ou
trois témoins qui sont inquiets a ce sujet. Mon amendement vise
a leur apporter une certaine sécurité. Comme je I’ai indiqué, ils
auraient voulu que la période soit fixée a six ans, mais ils
savaient que ce serait difficile a obtenir. Je pense que nous nous
sommes entendus sur trois ans. Ils seraient disposés a accepter
cela ou heureux que nous prenions au moins cette mesure.

Ils avaient le sentiment qu’une période de 12 mois n’était
réellement pas suffisante et qu’elle pourrait causer des problémes
a I’industrie.

Le sénateur Gold : Merci.

La sénatrice Bovey : Etant donné qu’il y a des représentants
du ministeére dans la salle, pourrait-il répondre a la question que
je me pose? J’aimerais savoir si, au cours de leurs délibérations,
ils ont envisagé d’établir la période a trois ans et, le cas échéant,
pourquoi ils ont décidé de la fixer a un an plutot que trois ans.
J’aimerais connaitre les réflexions et les raisons des chercheurs
du ministére en ce qui concerne leur décision de fixer la période
a 12 mois.

Le président : Est-ce qu’un représentant du ministére

aimerait venir s’asseoir a la table?

Jeff MacDonald, directeur général, Politiques des océans et
des péches, Péches et Océans Canada : Merci, monsieur le
président.

Le président : Avez-vous entendu la question de la sénatrice
Bovey?

M. MacDonald : Je pense que sa question portait sur les
raisons qui nous ont fait choisir une période d’un an plutét que
d’autres périodes?

La sénatrice Bovey : Oui, et est-ce qu’'une période de trois
ans a été envisagée? Quels étaient le raisonnement et les
réflexions qui vous ont amené a choisir une solution de 12 mois,
au lieu d’une période plus longue?

M. MacDonald : Il y a deux choses que nous avons prises en
considération au cours de la rédaction du projet de loi. L’une
d’elles était la question de savoir si nous utiliserions le terme
« courant » ou « en cours ». Nous avons décidé d’utiliser le
terme « en cours », parce que le mot « courant » donne
I’impression que ’activité doit avoir été exercée le jour avant ou
peu de temps avant la signature de 1’arrété ministériel, alors que
I’expression « en cours » peut étre interprétée de maniere a
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related to the ongoing activity that may not have occurred in the
past year but that has been authorized.

The approach in crafting this concept of freezing the footprint
was based on permitted activities. A fishing licence is an
authorization by the minister under the Fisheries Act. It is valid
as long as the licence fees are paid and other basic conditions of
eligibility are met.

That permit to fish is granted until it’s withdrawn. Even if a
fishery has not been prosecuted in the past 12 months, for a
variety of reasons — either because of the presence of the
species or because of concerns over conservation and the fishery
may be closed for a period of time — the fishing licence is
considered valid and would fall under paragraph (c) in this part
of the act.

In terms of the time frame, we proposed one year to ensure
there are limits to what’s captured in the frozen footprint. The
longer the period of time, the more you have to go back and
research what activities have taken place. In some cases, if an
activity took place once in the past three, five, seven years, you
have to go back and research and document that in order to say
that activity was authored at that time and could still be
considered an ongoing activity.

On the other hand, if the time period was too short, you may
run into circumstances of activities that are seasonal in nature
and therefore occur at certain times of the year. We felt one year
would capture activities that would be regular but seasonal and at
the same time would still not make it so lengthy that we require a
tremendous amount of research to find out what was the
footprint that we’re capturing. We’re capturing it not just in
space but in time. One year was proposed for that reason,
namely, to ensure that we didn’t affect seasonal activities. At the
same time, it’s congruent with the way we normally manage
fisheries, where licences are renewed on an annual basis. As long
as the licence fees and the other eligibility criteria are met, then a
person holding a fishing licence would be considered an ongoing
activity, whether a fishery had been prosecuted in the previous
year or not.

Senator Poirier: Thank you for that. I understand what
you’re saying. One of the complaints that we heard through a lot
of the witnesses is about a lack of communication with the
people in the industry and the people that are out in the sea in
that they know what they’re doing. They have the knowledge

englober une activité qui est actuelle, mais qui ne se déroule pas
nécessairement pendant la période. L’expression complete
I’alinéa c), qui est lié a une activité en cours, une activité qui a
été autorisée, mais qui n’a peut-étre pas été exercée au cours de
la derniére année.

L’approche adoptée pour concevoir la notion de gel de
I’empreinte était fondée sur des activités autorisées. Un permis
de péche est une autorisation accordée par le ministre en vertu de
la Loi sur les péches. Il est valide tant que les droits du permis
sont acquittés et que d’autres conditions d’admissibilité de base
sont remplies.

Un pécheur détient un permis de péche tant qu’on ne le lui
retire pas. Méme si 1’entreprise de péche n’a pas été poursuivie
au cours des 12 derniers mois pour diverses raisons — soit pour
des raisons liées a la présence d’une espéce, soit en raison de
préoccupations liées a la conservation et du fait que I’entreprise
était peut-étre fermée pendant une certaine période —, le permis
de péche est considéré comme valide, et il est assujetti a
I’alinéa c) de cette partie de la loi.

En ce qui concerne la période, nous avons proposé un an pour
nous assurer que les activités englobées par le gel de I’empreinte
étaient limitées. Plus la période est longue, plus il faut remonter
dans le temps pour déterminer les activités qui ont été exercées.
Dans certains cas, si une activité a été exercée une seule fois au
cours des trois, cinq ou sept derniéres années, vous &tes forcés
d’étudier des données historiques afin de pouvoir certifier que
cette activité était autorisée a cette époque et qu’elle peut encore
étre considérée comme une activité en cours.

Par contre, si la période était trop courte, nous risquions de ne
pas tenir compte de certaines activités de nature saisonniére qui
surviennent seulement pendant certaines périodes de 1’année.
Nous avions le sentiment qu’une période d’une année
engloberait les activités réguliéres, mais saisonnicres, sans que la
période soit tellement longue qu’elle exige un grand nombre de
recherches pour déterminer 1’empreinte saisie. Il est & noter que
nous saisissons I’empreinte non seulement dans 1’espace, mais
aussi dans le temps. Une période d’un an a été proposée pour
cette raison, a savoir qu’elle n’aurait pas de répercussions sur les
activités saisonniéres. En méme temps, cette période cadre avec
la fagon dont nous gérons habituellement les péches, puisque les
permis de péche sont renouvelés annuellement. A condition que
les droits du permis aient été acquittés et que d’autres critéres
d’admissibilité aient été remplis, les activités du titulaire du
permis de péche seront considérées comme en cours, que
I’entreprise de péche ait été poursuivie ou non au cours de la
derniére année.

La sénatrice Poirier : Je vous remercie de vos précisions, et
je comprends ce que vous dites. L’une des plaintes que nous
avons entendues de la part de nos témoins concerne un manque
de communication avec les membres de I’industrie et les gens
qui travaillent en mer, en ce sens qu’ils savent ce qu’ils font. Ils
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about it. When something is happening that could affect or harm
their activities, their livelihood, it’s important that we listen to
them.

As 1 said, they had concerns about fish travel, water
temperature changes and sea cucumbers. These are all issues
they raised. I really want to reinforce, if we’re consulting with
our industry, that it’s important. They are the ones who have the
knowledge first-hand. They’re out there and know what they’re
dealing with. If we’re communicating with them — and they
often say we don’t do enough — as we have done here, by
bringing them in as witnesses; and when they have told us these
things that affect them, we should listen to them. They were
asking for six years but would accept three. I’'m asking you to
please consider the possibility of listening to our fishermen and
see what we can do here.

Senator Bovey: Mr. MacDonald, we heard a lot about the sea
cucumbers. Can you talk about the sea cucumber? Put that mix
into this between the one and the three years? Having seen them
off many boats in the West Coast, I’'m well aware of their nature.
Can you tell me what the difference is, just for the sea
cucumbers? I think we understand the rest.

Senator Poirier: They fish every two years. That’s what they
told us in committee.

Senator Bovey: What does that do to the one-year licence, if
it’s a once-every-three-year fishery?

Mr. MacDonald: I’'m not familiar with the management of
the sea cucumber fishery. I am familiar with the way that our
licensing system operates. I could ask my colleague how it’s
enforced, if you like.

The Chair: We’re going to ask whoever is in the back
representing departments to come up to the table because we’re
not going to play musical chairs here all evening. We can then
get answers to any questions that we have. You can stay with us
for the duration of the questions.

I want to welcome you all here. If there are any questions from
any of our senators that any of you feel you can answer — and it
may not be directed towards you because the question may be
brought forward by a senator and they will not necessarily know
who will give the answer — please free to do so.

Senator Bovey: We don’t need long answers. We’re trying to
get to the pith of it.

ont des connaissances a ce sujet et, lorsque quelque chose se
produit qui pourrait nuire a leurs activités, a leurs moyens de
subsistance, il importe que nous les écoutions.

Comme je ’ai indiqué, ils étaient préoccupés a propos des
déplacements des poissons, des fluctuations de la température de
I’eau et des concombres de mer. Ce sont toutes des questions
qu’ils ont soulevées. Je tiens vraiment a insister de nouveau sur
le fait que, si nous consultons des membres de notre industrie,
c’est que cela revét une grande importance. Ce sont eux qui ont
une connaissance de premiére main du secteur. Ils travaillent sur
le terrain et connaissent les conditions auxquelles ils doivent
faire face. Si nous communiquons avec eux — et ils soutiennent
que nous ne le faisons pas assez souvent — comme nous ’avons
fait dans le cas présent, nous devrions écouter ce qu’ils ont a
dire. Ils ont demandé que la période soit fixée a six ans, mais
accepteraient une période de trois ans. Je vous demande de bien
vouloir envisager la possibilité d’écouter les témoignages de nos
pécheurs et de voir ce que nous pouvons faire pour eux.

La sénatrice Bovey : Monsieur MacDonald, nous avons
beaucoup entendu parler des concombres de mer. Pourriez-vous
traiter du sujet? Qu’en est-il de la période d’un et de trois ans
dans cette péche? Comme j’ai vu quantité de concombres de mer
sur de nombreux bateaux sur la cote Ouest, je connais fort bien
leur nature. Pourriez-vous nous expliquer la différence, juste
pour les concombres de mer? Je pense que nous comprenons le
reste.

La sénatrice Poirier : La péche a lieu aux deux ans, selon ce
que les pécheurs ont indiqué au comité.

La sénatrice Bovey : Quelle incidence cela a-t-il sur le
permis d’un an, si la péche a lieu aux trois ans?

M. MacDonald : Mon expertise concerne le fonctionnement
de notre régime de permis, et non la gestion de la péche aux
concombres de mer. Je pourrais demander & mon collégue de
quelle maniére cela fonctionne, si vous voulez.

Le président : Nous allons demander a quiconque représente
des ministéres de s’avancer a la table pour que nous ne jouions
pas a la chaise musicale toute la soirée. Nous pourrons ainsi
obtenir des réponses a nos questions. Vous pouvez rester avec
nous pour toute la période des questions.

Je vous souhaite tous la bienvenue. Si des sénateurs posent des
questions auxquelles vous avez [I’impression de pouvoir
répondre, sentez-vous libre de le faire, méme si elles ne vous
sont pas directement adressées, car les sénateurs qui les posent
ne sauront pas nécessairement qui fournira une réponse.

La sénatrice Bovey : Nous n’avons pas besoin de longues
réponses. Nous tentons d’aller au fond des choses.
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Mr. MacDonald: Fisheries licences are issued on an annual
basis, regardless of whether the fishery is prosecuted that year or
not.

When I was describing the eligibility requirements for holding
a fishing licence, they may vary from different regions in DFO in
terms of, for example, in Newfoundland, whether one has
professional status or not. That’s an eligibility requirement. In
other provinces you don’t necessarily have those circumstances.

The one thing that is common is licence fees and those are
paid on an annual basis and they must be paid in full. If licence
fees are paid in full, and other conditions are met, then the permit
is valid regardless of whether a fishery is being prosecuted that
year or not.

We have many examples of fisheries that have been under
moratoria for a long time, nevertheless there are Canadians that
hold licences for that fishery. They continue to pay the fees so
that their fishing licence remains valid, even if there’s no fishery
taking place. That’s how the regime is administered.

The Chair: Does anybody else want to add to that?

Mr. MacDonald: The sea cucumber would be the same
situation where the sea cucumber harvester would have to pay
the licence fees for their licence on an annual basis because
that’s the way the licence fees are administered. They are
regulations. They have an annual schedule. We’ve made changes
over time on how one pays the fees, but they have to be done on
an annual basis.

Senator Gold: Just to understand on the policy question. Do [
understand correctly, then, that a fisher’s concern that the
footprint be frozen one year — I understand the concern, it’s
livelihood for sure — but do I understand your answer to mean
that in fact the amendment may not be necessary because if in
fact it is a rotational fishery, which is only prosecuted every
three, four or five years or whatever it might be, that’s so long as
that licence is valid that the freezing of the footprint at any
moment in time will include that activity under paragraph (c) as
an authorized activity? Do I understand correctly?

Mr. MacDonald: That would be correct, Mr. Chair.

The Chair: Is there a limit on, say, for example, we’re talking
about the cod in Newfoundland, just to get it out there, is there a
limit on how many years you can have a licence even if the
fisheries is not prosecuted?

Mr. MacDonald: The only limit, Mr. Chair, would be related
to the other eligibility requirements. We have a number of other
eligibility requirements in different DFO regions as it relates to,
for example, owner-operator and fleet separation policies. As
long as you’re in compliance with those eligibility requirements

M. MacDonald : Les permis de péche sont délivrés
annuellement, que la péche soit autorisée ou non cette année-1a.

Les exigences en matiére d’admissibilité dont j’ai parlé au
sujet des permis de péche varient d’une région a 1’autre du MPO.
A Terre-Neuve, par exemple, tout dépend si le pécheur a un
statut de professionnel ou non. C’est une exigence en maticre
d’admissibilité. La situation ne sera pas nécessairement la méme
dans d’autres provinces.

Le facteur commun, ce sont les droits de permis, qui doivent
étre payés en entier chaque année. S’ils le sont et que d’autres
conditions sont satisfaites, alors le permis est valide, que la
péche soit autorisée ou non cette année-la.

Un grand nombre de péches font 1’objet d’un moratoire depuis
longtemps; des pécheurs canadiens n’en détiennent pas moins
des permis. Ils continuent de payer les droits pour que leur
permis demeure valide, méme s’ils ne péchent pas. C’est ainsi
que le régime est géré.

Le président : Est-ce que quelqu’un souhaite ajouter quelque
chose?

M. MacDonald : La situation serait la méme pour le
concombre de mer; les pécheurs devraient payer le permis
chaque année, car c’est ainsi que les droits de permis sont gérés.
11 existe des réglements et un calendrier annuel. Au fil du temps,
nous avons modifi¢ le mode de paiement, mais les pécheurs
doivent payer leur permis annuellement.

Le sénateur Gold : Je voudrais comprendre la facette
stratégique. Je comprends qu’un pécheur se préoccupe du gel de
I’empreinte pendant un an, car la péche est son moyen de
subsistance, mais ai-je raison de comprendre que votre réponse
signifie que ’amendement pourrait étre superflu, parce que si la
péche s’effectue en fait par rotation et n’a lieu qu’aux trois,
quatre ou cinq ans, tant que le permis est valide, le gel de
I’empreinte a n’importe quel moment inclura cette activité, qui
est autorisée en vertu de ’alinéa c)? Est-ce que je comprends
bien?

M. MacDonald : C'est exact, monsieur le président.

Le président : Y a-t-il une limite au nombre d’années au
cours desquelles on peut détenir un permis — pour la morue de
Terre-Neuve, par exemple, question d’aborder le sujet — méme
si la péche n’est pas autorisée?

M. MacDonald : La seule limite, monsieur le président,
aurait un lien avec les autres exigences en matiére
d’admissibilité. Un certain nombre d’exigences s’appliquent a
cet égard dans les diverses régions du MPO, en ce qui concerne
les politiques relatives aux propriétaires-exploitants et a la
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then there’s no limit in terms of how long one can hold a licence
as long as one pays the fees and fulfills the -eligibility
requirements.

The Chair: Regardless of the fishery itself, it’s prosecuted for
three, four, five or six years?

Mr. MacDonald: That’s correct.

Senator Poirier: I have a follow-up question. If you’re saying
there’s no issue there and that there’s no danger. I heard the
word “may” and “may” is not a guarantee to me, it’s a
possibility. If we leave it at carried out in the year and not make
the amendment to three, if you say it’s not going to change
anything then what’s the big issue of changing it to three? It’s
not going to change anything there either, other than give a
reassurance to the fishermen that we’ve heard them loud and
clear and that we’re responding to the concerns they have put out
there. To me, instead of “may,” it gives them a guarantee that
they will be safe for three years. If you’re saying there’s really
no difference then what’s the big deal?

Mr. MacDonald: I’m just explaining the rationale as to why
we chose one year. The frozen footprint, as I was saying, it’s not
just the area that’s being proposed but it’s also the length of
time. When we would be preparing a ministerial order, we would
have to outline what were the activities that took place that are
considered ongoing activities. The greater the time period, the
more work is required in the regulatory phase to articulate the
ongoing activities.

If, as I explained, we made it too short, then we could
conceivably miss seasonal activities. If we made it too broad, we
would end up having to research and document one-off activities
that take place in a much wider time frame. That’s where the one
year came from.

With regard to fishing activities, the licensing regime is on an
annual basis. While the one year was not chosen to coincide with
just fishing because there are other activities that could be taking
place in the area, it addresses the matter as it relates to whether
or not holding a valid fishing licence would be considered an
ongoing activity. That’s why we put that in there.

Senator Poirier: Just following that again. You mentioned
that too short would be too short but the time of the 12 months
would give you a time to actually look at it to see if there are any
issues going forward. But if the fish is only fished every three
years, you’re not going to do it every 12 months either way. In
the instance of the sea cucumber, from what the fishermen were
telling us, they fish it only every three years. For them that three
years is their short period because it only comes every three
years. | can’t see what would be the added issue. I’'m having

séparation de la flottille, par exemple. Tant que 1’on satisfait a
ces exigences et paie son permis, il n’y a aucune limite a la durée
au cours de laquelle on peut détenir un permis.

Le président : Sans égard a la péche elle-méme, qu’elle soit
autorisée aux trois, quatre, cinq ou six ans?

M. MacDonald : Oui.

La sénatrice Poirier : J’ai une question de suivi. Vous dites
qu’il n’y a pas de probléme ou de danger. Or, j’ai entendu le mot
« pourrait »; pour moi, ce mot n’évoque pas une garantie, mais
une possibilité. Si nous laissons « exercée dans I’année » et ne
portons pas la période a trois ans, quel probléme y a-t-il a porter
la période a trois ans si vous dites que cela ne changera rien?
Cela ne changera rien a cet égard non plus, en dehors du fait que
cela garantira aux pécheurs que nous les entendons bel et bien et
que nous réagissons a leurs préoccupations. A mon avis, au lieu
d’utiliser « pourrait », on offre aux pécheurs la garantie qu’ils
seront protégés pendant trois ans. Si vous dites qu’il n’y a pas
vraiment de différence, ou est le probléme?

M. MacDonald : J’explique seulement pourquoi nous avons
choisi une durée d’un an. Comme je 1’ai indiqué, le gel de
I’empreinte, en plus de viser une zone proposée, prévoit aussi
une durée. Quand nous préparerons un décret ministériel, nous
devrons énumérer les activités considérées comme étant en
cours. Plus longue est la durée, plus long est le travail nécessaire
pour répertorier les activités en cours a 1’étape réglementaire.

Comme je I’ai expliqué, si la durée est trop courte, des
activités saisonniéres pourraient nous échapper, alors que si elle
est trop longue, nous devrons effectuer des recherches et colliger
des documents sur des activités ponctuelles exercées sur une
période bien plus longue. Voila pourquoi nous avons prévu une
durée a un an.

En ce qui concerne les activités de péche, le régime de
délivrance de permis est annuel. Méme si la durée d’un an n’a
pas été choisie juste pour la péche, car d’autres activités
pourraient se dérouler dans la zone, cela résout la question, car le
fait de posséder ou non un permis valide permet d’établir si
Iactivité est en cours. C’est pour cette raison que nous avons
pris cette disposition.

La sénatrice Poirier : Je voudrais poursuivre sur le méme
sujet. Vous avez indiqué qu’une durée trop courte serait
insuffisante, mais qu’une période de 12 mois vous accorderait le
temps d’étudier la situation pour voir si des problémes se
profilent a 1’horizon. Par contre, si la péche n’a lieu qu’aux trois
ans, vous n’effectuerez pas d’examen tous les 12 mois de toute
fagon. Dans le cas du concombre de mer, selon ce que les
pécheurs nous ont indiqué, la péche n’a lieu qu’aux trois ans.
Pour eux, c’est la période de trois ans qui s’avére courte,
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a hard time understanding what would be the added issue at that
point.

Senator Mclnnis: I hope this is on point. When you’re older
you remember these things. I remember when they didn’t fish
sole because people didn’t eat sole. Never mind now if you don’t
know whether you’re having haddock or sole. Fisheries change.

What would happen in a situation where there was the
development of a fishery and there wasn’t a licence. If a licence
were permitted, how would this all shake out? Would they be
able to develop that fishery?

Mr. MacDonald: I’m not sure of the question.

Senator Mclnnis: If there was another species that all of a
sudden people had an appetite for, would they be able to
commence that new fishery? There wouldn’t be any previous
licences.

Mr. MacDonald: We have a policy on developmental
fisheries in the Department of Fisheries and Oceans. It’s called
the New Emerging Fisheries Policy. It’s very rare that we
develop a new fishery because most of our fisheries are fully
subscribed. But when we do it’s usually as a result of additional
scientific research on discovery of a stock. Some commercial
harvesters are given a special licence to see whether that stock is
at commercial levels. All of those things are part of that policy,
prior to opening up a full commercial fishery if it’s deemed to be
at a scale that the stock can sustain. That is clear and distinct
from the establishment of marine protected areas.

If we were in a situation where you had an interim protection
MPA and there were no licences to fish that particular species,
then you would not be allowed to fish that particular species in
that particular area during the time that the interim protection
MPA is in force because it would not be an ongoing activity.

I hope that answers the question.

Senator MclInnis: It does and it doesn’t. If it’s in an MPA, is
it not locked in? That’s what we’re saying in these sections. You
say the developmental fishery would override that. Am I hearing
that correctly?

Mr. MacDonald: What I was saying was this clause applies
just to the period of time for an interim protection MPA. That
time period is only five years. After that five years, the minister
either has to recommend to the Governor-in-Council a full MPA

car la péche ne revient qu’aux trois ans. Je ne vois pas ou un
probléme s’ajouterait. J’ai de la difficulté a comprendre ce qui
ajouterait probléme a cet égard.

Le sénateur Mclnnis : J’espére que mon observation est
pertinente. Quand on a un certain 4ge, on se souvient de
certaines choses. Je me souviens de 1’époque ou les pécheurs ne
péchaient pas la sole, car les gens n’en mangeaient pas.
Aujourd’hui, il importe peu de savoir si on a de I’aiglefin ou de
la sole. Les péches évoluent.

Que se passerait-il si une péche connaissait un essor et qu’il
n’y avait pas de permis? Comment les choses se passeraient-
elles? Serait-il possible de faire prendre de I’expansion a cette
péche?

M. MacDonald : Je ne suis pas certain de comprendre la
question.

Le sénateur Mclnnis : Si les gens développaient un intérét
soudain pour une espéce, serait-il possible de commencer cette
nouvelle péche, alors qu’il n’y avait pas de permis auparavant
pour cette péche?

M. MacDonald : Le ministére des Péches et des Océans
dispose d’une politique au sujet des péches émergentes; il s’agit
de la Politique sur les nouvelles péches. Nous lancons trés
rarement de nouvelles péches, car la plupart de nos péches sont
pleinement exploitées. Cependant, quand nous le faisons, c’est
habituellement a 1la suite de recherches scientifiques
supplémentaires effectuées en raison de la découverte d’un stock.
Certains pécheurs commerciaux se voient accorder un permis
spécial pour vérifier si le stock peut é&tre exploité
commercialement. Toutes ces démarches, prévues dans Ia
politique, doivent étre mises en ceuvre avant que ne commence la
péche commerciale, si on considére que ce sera a une échelle que
le stock peut supporter. Il s’agit d’une question entiérement
distincte de 1’établissement de zones de protection marines.

Si nous étions en présence d’une zone de protection marine
provisoire et qu’il n’existait pas de permis pour ’espéce de
poissons concernée, la péche de ce poisson ne serait pas
autorisée dans cette zone tant que la protection provisoire est en
vigueur, car il ne s’agirait pas d’une activité en cours.

J’espere avoir répondu a la question.

Le sénateur Mclnnis : Elle y répond et n’y répond pas. S’il y
a une zone de protection marine, la question n’est-elle pas
réglée? C’est ce qu’indiquent ces dispositions. Vous dites que la
Politique sur les nouvelles péches primerait sur ces dispositions.
Est-ce que je comprends bien?

M. MacDonald : Ce que je disais, c’est que cette disposition
s’applique uniquement pendant la durée de la zone de protection
marine provisoire, c’est-a-dire cinq ans. Par la suite, le ministre
peut recommander au gouverneur en conseil d’instaurer une zone
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or repeals the order. Because it’s time limited, the issue of a
developmental fishery would have to be addressed in the
development of the management plan of an MPA.

Senator Bovey: You, Mr. Chair, wanted us to think about
consequential effects. [ have a consequential question.

If the period was three years, would there be a concern about
conservation? One of the reasons for this is conservation of
stocks and breeding grounds and the growth of the fishery, shall
we say. If it was a three-year period, is there a danger that might
impair the conservation of a particular area or fish?

Mr. MacDonald: With regard to fisheries management
decisions, it is true that sometimes when we are developing an
MPA it’s for reasons of protecting species. That’s what you see
in section 35 of the act.

In other cases, you are protecting habitat, and in some cases
it’s both.

When it comes to fish species that we may need to protect, the
minister of Fisheries and Oceans and Canadian Coast Guard has
two hats, so even if he’s regulating an area under the Oceans
Act, he can still at the same time regulate fishing activities. If
there are activities that are causing harm to the stocks that are
being studied, he has the authority under the Fisheries Act to
curtail those activities for the sake of protecting those stocks.

It may have a secondary effect of helping address the
conservation objectives of the marine protected area, but it
would be under the Fisheries Act that he would make those
decisions with regard to species. That would be the same
circumstances in an interim protection MPA, if it was discovered
during the time of that five-year period that there was a level of
fishing harming the conservation objectives. He could still adjust
the level of fishing in order to make sure that the conservation
objectives were being met.

Senator Poirier: When the department drafted or worked on
this bill and decided to go with the 12 months, did you consult
with the rotational fish harvesters to see if they had issues with
the 12 months? Did you have discussion with the people who are
out on the sea and working this every day? Did you talk with
them?

Mr. MacDonald: Yes, we did have discussions with fishing
associations. We had discussions, obviously, with officials in the
Department of Justice because we were trying to find the right
balance.

de protection permanente ou d’annuler le décret. Comme la
durée est limitée, il faudrait résoudre la question des nouvelles
péches au cours de 1’¢laboration du plan de gestion d’une zone
de protection marine.

La sénatrice Bovey : Monsieur le président, vous vouliez que
nous réfléchissions aux conséquences. J’ai une question a ce
sujet.

Si la période était de trois ans, y aurait-il un probléme au
chapitre de la conservation? Si la présente mesure 1égislative est
proposée, c’est notamment pour assurer la conservation des
stocks, des aires de reproduction et de la croissance de la péche,
si ’on peut dire. Si la période était de trois ans, cela risquerait-il
de nuire a la conservation d’une aire ou d’un poisson en
particulier?

M. MacDonald : En ce qui concerne les décisions relatives a
la gestion des péches, il est vrai que parfois, nous établissons une
zone de protection marine pour protéger une espeéce. C’est ce
qu’on voit a I’article 35 de la loi.

Dans d’autres cas, on protége 1’habitat ou les deux.

Quand il est question des espéces de poissons que nous
pourrions devoir protéger, le ministre des Péches et des Océans
et de la Garde cotiére canadienne joue deux rdles; ainsi, méme
s’il réglemente une zone en vertu de la Loi sur les océans, il peut
quand méme réglementer les activités de péche en méme temps.
Si des activités s’averent préjudiciables aux stocks de poissons
qui sont étudiés, la Loi sur les océans ’autorise a y mettre un
frein afin de protéger ces stocks.

Voila qui pourrait avoir pour effet secondaire de contribuer a
I’atteinte des objectifs de conservation de la zone de protection
marine, mais c’est en vertu de la Loi sur les océans que le
ministre prendrait ces décisions concernant I’espece. Il en irait de
méme dans le cas d’une zone de protection marine provisoire, si
on découvrait pendant la période de cinq ans que les niveaux de
péche nuisent a 1’atteinte des objectifs de conservation. Il
pourrait toujours modifier le niveau de péche afin d’assurer
I’atteinte de ces objectifs.

La sénatrice Poirier : Quand le ministére a élaboré ce projet
de loi et décidé de choisir une période de 12 mois, avez-vous
consulté les pécheurs qui s’adonnent a la rotation des péches
pour voir si elle leur convenait? Avez-vous discuté avec ceux qui
travaillent en mer en ce moment méme? Leur avez-vous parlé?

M. MacDonald : Oui, nous avons discuté avec les
associations de pécheurs et, de toute évidence, avec les
fonctionnaires du ministére de la Justice, car nous tentons
d’assurer un juste équilibre.
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We also, obviously, spoke internally with those who managed
the fisheries, especially at a regional level. Many of our fisheries
are managed at the regional level and not at the national level.
We took into account the seasonality and the fact that some
fisheries are not on an annual basis but are on a less frequent
basis.

Senator Poirier: You spoke with the people for the sea
cucumbers and the companies and all of these people.

Mr. MacDonald: We’ve spoken with representatives from the
British Columbia —

Senator Poirier: They didn’t tell you they preferred the three
years at the time like they told us here in committee?

Mr. MacDonald: They raised concerns about the rotational
fishery. Then we explained that we felt that paragraph (c)
addressed the issue in the sense that it wouldn’t affect their
ability to prosecute the fishery because having had a valid
licence would make it an ongoing activity. During the five-year
period of an interim protection MPA, the rotational fishery could
still take place within those five years, even if it hadn’t been
taking place the year before, and even if it hadn’t been taking
place the first year of interim protection. It could still take place
in the second or third year, depending on when the fishery was
taking place, when the stock was present in the area and when
the licences were valid beforehand.

Senator Gold: I'm trying to square a circle here. I think we
need to be responsive to the anxieties and the concerns. We have
heard, frankly, and it’s no disrespect, that communication isn’t
always what we would hope in some regions and in some cases.

I’'m reluctant to support an amendment that I’'m satisfied
actually isn’t necessary. How do we respond to legitimate
concerns, and communication might be one way? I wonder
whether it would be acceptable to have — I’'m going to see this
in a number of areas; we’ve heard this a lot — an observation
underlining the necessity for early and ongoing communication
consultation and the like with stakeholders. I think with respect
to stakeholders in this case, we are talking about rotational
fisheries but also Indigenous communities or territorial
governments or provincial governments because that’s
primordial. I’m inclined not to support an amendment which just
doesn’t seem to me necessary legally but to find a way to
respond to the very understandable and legitimate concerns that
stakeholders have shared with us. It’s just an observation.

Nous avons également discuté au sein du ministére avec ceux
qui gerent les péches, particulierement a 1’échelle régionale. Un
grand nombre de nos péches sont, en effet, gérées a 1’échelle
locale et non nationale. Nous avons tenu compte de la
saisonnalité et du fait que les péches n’ont pas lieu tous les ans,
mais moins fréquemment.

La sénatrice Poirier : Vous avez parlé du concombre de mer
avec les gens, les entreprises et tous les intéresseés.

M. MacDonald : Nous avons parlé avec des représentants de
la Colombie-Britannique...

La sénatrice Poirier : Ils ne vous ont pas indiqué alors qu’ils
préféraient la période de trois ans, comme ils I’ont dit au comité?

M. MacDonald : IIs ont soulevé des préoccupations au sujet
des péches par rotation. Nous leur avons alors expliqué que nous
pensions que ’alinéa c) réglait la question, car la disposition ne
les empécherait pas de s’adonner a la péche parce que le fait
qu’ils détiennent un permis valide ferait en sorte que ’activité
serait considérée comme ¢tant en cours. Pendant la période de
cinq ans de la zone de protection marine provisoire, la péche par
rotation pourrait quand méme avoir lieu, méme s’il n’y en avait
pas eu I’année précédente ou au cours de la premiere année de la
période de protection provisoire. Elle pourrait toujours avoir lieu
au cours de la deuxiéme ou de la troisiéme année, selon la
période a laquelle elle se déroulait, le moment auquel le stock de
poissons était présent et la période au cours de laquelle les
permis étaient valides auparavant.

Le sénateur Gold : Je m’efforce de comprendre ici. Je pense
que nous devons réagir a 1’anxiété et aux préoccupations des
gens. Sans vouloir faire preuve d’irrespect, je soulignerais que
nous avons entendu dire que la communication n’est pas toujours
telle qu’on D’espérerait dans certaines régions et dans certains
cas.

J’hésite a appuyer I’amendement, que je juge en fait superflu.
Comment pouvons-nous réagir aux préoccupations légitimes? La
communication pourrait nous y aider. Je me demande s’il serait
acceptable de formuler une observation soulignant la nécessité
de communiquer précocement et continuellement avec les parties
prenantes afin de les consulter. La situation se présente dans un
certain nombre de régions, car nous avons fréquemment entendu
cette remarque. Je pense que par parties prenantes, nous
entendons ceux qui font de la péche par rotation, mais aussi des
communautés autochtones et les gouvernements provinciaux ou
territoriaux, car c’est primordial. Je serais enclin a ne pas
appuyer un amendement qui ne me semble tout simplement pas
nécessaire sur le plan juridique. Je chercherais plutdt un moyen
de réagir aux préoccupations trés compréhensibles et légitimes
dont les parties prenantes nous ont fait part. C’est une simple
observation.
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Senator Poirier: It’s important to consult but also listen to
what they have concerns about. You can’t just consult and not
listen. I respect your position.

Senator Gold: We had one witness testify about that. I think
that was the only witness we had.

Senator Poirier: I named three just in my notes a while ago.

Senator Gold: I defer. You mentioned Christina Burridge.

Senator Poirier: Christina Burridge from the BC Seafood
Alliance; there was Jerry Ward. Two, sorry, that I mentioned to
you.

Senator Gold: I stand corrected. Thank you.
Senator Patterson: May I join this discussion?

Mr. Chair, I think we heard clearly from Mr. Ward about the
impact of climate change in the Arctic, that species are moving
northward. He mentioned shrimp and turbot in his evidence. I
think we’ve also heard about Atlantic salmon, Pacific salmon;
there’s orcas now in the Arctic with diminishing ice. I’d like to
ask: With the clear evidence we have of climate change, which
affects water temperatures and, as I understand it, salinity and
currents and other things, isn’t it preferable to have a bigger
window to be able to assess the trends when we have these
movements of stocks? Mr. Ward said, and I just happen to have
his quote here:

Fish know no boundaries. A couple of these stocks, in
shrimp and turbot, we share with Greenland and they tend to
swim back and forth. With the changing environmental
conditions, we are concerned about freezing the footprint
without adequate science, because these fish move around
based on water temperatures and salinity. So where we are
fishing today, in five years’ time, you may not be able to
fish there. They may not have moved north or south, or even
east or west. We are seeing it on a regular basis, of course.
That’s a real problem for us in that area.

I think he was speaking to lengthening that time.

I wonder if it might be of significance in the Arctic,
particularly with climate change occurring.

The Chair: Would you like to address that, Mr. MacDonald?

La sénatrice Poirier : Il importe de les consulter, mais aussi
d’écouter leurs doléances. On ne peut les consulter sans les
écouter. Je respecte votre position.

Le sénateur Gold : Un témoin a comparu a ce sujet. Je pense
que c’est le seul témoin que nous ayons entendu.

La sénatrice Poirier : J’en ai énuméré trois dans mes notes il
y a quelques instants.

Le sénateur Gold : Mais non. Vous avez parlé¢ de Christina
Burridge.

La sénatrice Poirier : Christina Burridge, de la BC Seafood
Alliance, ainsi que Jerry Ward. Désolée, je vous en ai nommé
deux.

Le sénateur Gold : J’avoue mon erreur. Merci.
Le sénateur Patterson : Puis-je me joindre a la discussion?

Monsieur le président, je pense que M. Ward nous a
clairement indiqué qu’en raison des changements climatiques
dans I’Arctique, les espéces remontent vers le nord. Dans son
témoignage, il a parlé des crevettes et du flétan. Je pense que
nous avons également entendu parler du saumon de 1’ Atlantique,
du saumon du Pacifique, voire des orques, qui envahissent
I’ Arctique maintenant que la glace recule. J’aimerais vous poser
la question suivante : maintenant que nous avons des preuves
manifestes des changements climatiques, lesquels influent sur les
températures de 1’eau et, selon ce que je comprends, sur la
salinité, le courant et d’autres facteurs, n’est-il pas préférable de
prévoir une période plus longue pour pouvoir évaluer les
tendances alors que les stocks sont en mouvement? Voici ce que
M. Ward avait a dire a ce sujet :

Le poisson ne connait pas de frontiéres. Nous partageons
certains stocks, comme ceux de crevettes et de flétans, avec
le Groenland, et ils tendent a se déplacer. Avec le
changement des conditions environnementales, nous
craignons de geler I’empreinte sans données scientifiques
adéquates, car ces poissons se déplacent en fonction des
températures et de salinit¢ de 1’eau. Dans cinq ans, nous
pourrions ne pas pouvoir pécher la ou nous péchons
actuellement. Les stocks pourraient ne pas s’étre déplacés
vers le nord ou le sud, ou méme vers 1’est ou ’ouest. C’est
un phénoméne que nous observons réguliérement, bien
entendu. C’est pour nous un véritable probléme dans cette
région.

Je pense qu’il préconisait de prolonger la durée.
Je me demande si cela pourrait avoir de I’importance dans

I’Arctique, surtout avec les changements climatiques qui se
produisent.

Le président : Voulez-vous monsieur

MacDonald?

répondre a cela,
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Mr. MacDonald: I’m not sure what I should answer on that
question. If we’re talking about clause 5, we’re talking about the
proposed amendment for the length of time. The length of time
for the frozen footprint is really a function of how one applies
the interim protection MPA. I think Senator Patterson’s question
is really related to how we manage a spatial tool when the
environment is becoming more dynamic. That’s really a broader
question. I’m not necessarily a climate or a stock scientist. I
can’t explain what’s taking place in the ocean. I can say that
some arguments we have heard with regard to marine protected
areas and their boundaries is that they need to be reviewed once
they’re established.

We heard not just for MPAs but for marine refuges, and in this
context of an interim protection MPA, one of the reasons the tool
was being proposed is so that we can afford interim protection to
an area and take the time to really come to a clear understanding
of not just the conservation objectives but also how to create a
management plan with the partners that are managing the MPA,
so that when we do designate it as a Governor-in-Council area,
we actually have addressed some of those issues that would
inevitably come up, especially for a marine protected area, of
which the primary purpose is to protect certain species which are
more dynamic than, say, habitats, for example, which tend to
migrate in a much slower way.

The Chair: No two MPAs will be the same. You couldn’t
have a rule across the board per se because you could have
different climate issues, different species, different activities, and
different prosecution of fisheries. The minister’s determination
of the process for the MPA for the five-year period.

Mr. MacDonald: When we first look at an area we know is
important from a biodiversity point of view, that’s really when
our dialogue begins with communities, our planning partners,
industry associations et cetera.

It is to come to a common understanding of what should be the
conservation objective and also what is the area of study. Those
conversations take place and these are the types of issues that
inevitably come up at the early stages, way before you get to the
point where you are designating it either as an MPA or an
Interim Protection MPA.

The Chair: Due to the power invested in me by the Queen,
I’ve heard enough. I'm going to ask the question: Is it your
pleasure, honourable senators, to adopt the motion in
amendment?

Some Hon. Senators: No.
Some Hon. Senators: Agreed.

The Chair: All those in favour, raise your hands for now? All
those against? The motion is defeated.

M. MacDonald : Je ne suis pas certain de la réponse que je
devrais donner. S’il est question de I’article 5, nous parlons de la
modification proposée concernant la durée. La durée du gel de
I’empreinte dépend de la facon dont on applique la ZPM
provisoire. Je pense que la question du sénateur Patterson
concerne la fagon dont nous gérons un outil spatial lorsque
I’environnement devient plus dynamique. C’est une question
plus vaste. Je ne suis pas un scientifique spécialiste du climat ou
des stocks. Je ne peux pas expliquer ce qui se passe dans 1’océan.
Je peux vous dire qu’on nous a fait valoir qu’il est nécessaire de
revoir les zones de protection marine et leurs limites une fois
qu’elles ont été établies.

C’est ce qu’on nous a dit non seulement pour les ZPM, mais
aussi pour les refuges marins. En ce qui concerne les ZPM
provisoires, on a proposé cet outil pour offrir une protection
provisoire a une certaine zone et prendre le temps de bien
comprendre les objectifs en matiére de conservation et la facon
d’élaborer un plan de gestion avec les partenaires qui gérent la
ZPM, de sorte que, lorsque nous allons désigner une zone par
décret, nous aurons déja réglé certains des points qui seraient
inévitablement soulevés, particuliérement en ce qui concerne une
zone de protection marine, dont 1’objectif principal est de
protéger certaines especes, qui sont plus dynamiques que, par
exemple, des habitats, qui ont tendance a changer beaucoup plus
lentement.

Le président : Il n’y aura pas deux ZPM identiques. On ne
peut pas avoir une reégle générale parce qu’il y a différents
climats, différentes espéces, différentes activités et différentes
péches. Le ministre doit déterminer le processus pour une ZPM
pour une période de cinq ans.

M. MacDonald : Lorsque nous commencons a examiner une
zone que nous savons importante sur le plan de la biodiversité,
c’est la que nous entamons un dialogue avec les collectivités, nos
partenaires pour la planification, des associations de 1’industrie,
et cetera.

Il s’agit de s’entendre sur 1’objectif en matiére de conservation
et sur la zone a étudier. Ces conversations ont lieu et on discute
inévitablement de cela au tout début, bien avant de procéder a la
désignation de la zone en tant que ZPM ou ZPM provisoire.

Le président : En vertu du pouvoir qui m’est conféré par la
reine, je vais mettre la question aux voix : plait-il aux honorables
sénateurs d’adopter la motion d’amendement?

Des voix : Non.
Des voix : D’accord.

Le président : Que tous ceux qui sont d’accord lévent la
main. Tous ceux qui sont contre. La motion est rejetée.
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Shall clause 5 carry?

Senator MclInnis: I have an amendment. I don’t know what
you have for number 1, but I have the one with respect to the
premier signing off. Is that the one you have up front?

The Chair: Nova Scotia, offshore petroleum. It is TMI,
honourable senators.

Senator MclInnis: I move:

That Bill C-55 be amended in clause 5, on page 4, by
adding the following after line 20:

“(2.1) No order may be made under subsection (2) to
designate a marine protected area that would include any
area of the sea that is included in the definition offshore
area in section 2 of the Canada-Nova Scotia Offshore
Petroleum Resources Accord Implementation Act unless
the Premier of Nova Scotia has given prior consent to the
designation in writing.”.

I also have an amendment which is analogous, except that it
deals with the Canada-Newfoundland — do you want to deal
with that separately?

The Chair: We will do that later. One at a time.

Senator Mclnnis: The reason for this amendment is to
attempt in advance to prevent confusion and disruption, because
the Atlantic Accords are supreme over the Fisheries Act and the
Oceans Act. I can well imagine, if an MPA were put in place, the
disruption that would be caused if the province in conjunction
with a petroleum company were to conduct seismic testing,
drilling and eventually the production of oil and gas. If you think
that is not a real possibility, let me just give you — and I did this
in committee, but it is worth mentioning again, in the last 20
years in Nova Scotia, we have received $4 billion in revenue
from petroleum projects and $5 billion spent on goods, services
and work commitments. Now, the offshore geoscience shows
that Nova Scotia offshore holds an estimated 8 billion untapped
barrels of oil and 120 trillion cubic feet of untapped gas. It is
there. They haven’t found it. But they will.

What this would do, if an MPA were in the process, that the
Premier of Nova Scotia would have to sign off and consent to it.
I say the premier. I talked to some legal experts. I thought it
would be best to have the legislature sign off on it, but they tell
me, no, that governments come and go, as we know. They
thought the best answer would be the premier.

L’article 5 est-il adopté?

Le sénateur McInnis : J’ai un amendement a proposer. Je ne
sais pas ce que vous avez pour le numéro 1, mais j’ai celui qui
porte sur le consentement du premier ministre. Est-ce celui-la
que vous avez?

Le président : L’Accord Canada — Nouvelle-Ecosse sur les
hydrocarbures  extracotiers. C’est [’amendement TMI,
honorables sénateurs.

Le sénateur MclInnis : Je propose :

Que le projet de loi C-55 soit modifié, a I’article 5, a la
page 4, par adjonction, apres la ligne 20, de ce qui suit :

« (2.1) 11 est interdit de désigner par arrété pris en vertu
du paragraphe (2) une zone de protection marine qui
engloberait tout espace maritime visé par la définition de
zone extracotiere ou zone a ’article 2 de la Loi de mise en
eeuvre de ’Accord Canada — Nouvelle-Ecosse sur les
hydrocarbures extracétiers, sauf si le premier ministre de
la Nouvelle-Ecosse y a consenti préalablement par
écrit. ».

J’ai aussi un autre amendement qui est similaire, sauf qu’il
concerne 1’accord Canada — Terre-Neuve-et-Labrador;
voulez-vous qu’on I’examine séparément?

Le président : Nous allons nous en occuper plus tard. Un a la
fois.

Le sénateur Mclnnis : Je propose cet amendement afin
d’éviter de la confusion et des perturbations, car les accords
atlantiques ont préséance sur la Loi sur les péches et la Loi sur
les océans. Je peux trés bien imaginer, si une ZPM était mise en
place, les perturbations que cela entrainerait si la province,
conjointement avec une société pétroliére, procédait a des essais
sismiques, a du forage et, au bout du compte, a la production de
pétrole et de gaz. Si vous croyez que ce n’est pas une réelle
possibilité, permettez-moi de vous mentionner — je 1’ai déja fait
en comité, mais il y a lieu de le répéter — que,au cours des 20
derniéres années en Nouvelle-Ecosse, nous avons enregistré des
recettes de 4 milliards de dollars provenant de projets pétroliers,
et 5 milliards de dollars ont été dépensés en biens et services et
dans le cadre de travaux. Des données géoscientifiques indiquent
qu’au large de la Nouvelle-Ecosse se trouvent, selon les
estimations, 8 milliards de barils de pétrole et 120 trillions de
pieds cubes de gaz. Les gisements sont la. Ils n’ont pas encore
¢été trouvés, mais ¢a viendra.

Si une ZPM était en voie d’étre établie, le premier ministre de
la Nouvelle-Ecosse devrait donner son consentement. J’ai
indiqué que c’est le premier ministre, car j’ai parlé a des juristes.
Je croyais qu’il serait mieux que 1’Assemblée législative donne
son consentement, mais ils m’ont dit que ce n’était pas une
bonne idée, car les gouvernements changent, comme nous le
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That’s the logic and the reason for it. And you know, there is a
map, which I didn’t bring with me, that shows the potential of 18
MPAs off the coast of Nova Scotia, running from the north into
Cape Breton, through to Yarmouth. It is a real possibility. The
reason is simply to have the Government of Nova Scotia sign off
on it.

I know the Premier of Nova Scotia appeared before the review
panel and talked extensively about it. He did not talk about the
Accords Acts, but I asked the question of Natural Resources
officials and I have since checked and it is a fact that the
Accords Acts are supreme. If the Government of Nova Scotia
agrees within the 200 nautical miles to conduct oil exploration,
they can do it, and they can’t be stopped. That doesn’t matter
whether it is in an MPA or not. That’s why, up front, get the
provincial consent to do so. I move that amendment.

The Chair: Any further discussion?

Senator Bovey: Thank you for this. I guess we’ve often
talked about the balancing acts we all have before us. Perhaps,
Mr. MacDonald, you can confirm for me what I thought was the
case: That there are agreements between Canada and Nova
Scotia existing and that they are supreme? That they reign, in
this case, over and above any other MPAs?

Mr. MacDonald: I’m just going to repeat what my supervisor
said in the committee before, which is correct. The Canada-Nova
Scotia Offshore Petroleum Accords Acts and the Newfoundland
one, both have a clause in them which say they supercede any
other federal statute. That’s in that legislation, to answer the
question.

Senator Bovey: In my understanding would that mean that
this proposed amendment is already covered off by other
agreements that are supreme?

Mr. MacDonald: The way we operate right now is, when we
are working in an Accord area, when we have an area that we
want to propose as a Marine Protected Area, we do work closely
with the Canada-Newfoundland and the Canada-Nova Scotia
Offshore Petroleum Boards, where they share their information
about prospectivity and we have our information on the
biodiversity. Part of the analysis when we want to establish a
Marine Protected Area is we take into account the economic
potential when we are designing the area.

savons. Ils étaient d’avis qu’il valait mieux que ce soit le premier
ministre.

Voila la logique et la raison. Vous savez, il existe une carte,
que je n’ai pas avec moi, qui montre qu’on peut établir 18 ZPM
au large de la Nouvelle-Ecosse, qui vont du Cap-Breton, au nord,
jusqu’a Yarmouth. C’est une réelle possibilité. Cette disposition
vise simplement a faire en sorte que le gouvernement de la
Nouvelle-Ecosse donne son consentement.

Je sais que le premier ministre de la Nouvelle-Ecosse a
comparu devant le comité d’examen et qu’il en a discuté
longuement. Il n’a pas parlé des lois de mise en ceuvre des
accords, mais j’ai posé la question aux fonctionnaires du
ministére des Ressources naturelles, et, depuis, j’ai vérifié, et il
s’avere effectivement que les lois de mise en ceuvre des accords
ont préséance. Si le gouvernement de la Nouvelle-Ecosse
autorise I’exploration pétroliere a I’intérieur des 200 milles
nautiques, les sociétés pétrolieres pourront le faire, et on ne
pourra pas les en empécher, méme si c’est dans une ZPM. C’est
pourquoi il faut au départ obtenir le consentement de la province.
Je propose donc cet amendement.

Le président : Y a-t-il des commentaires?

La sénatrice Bovey : Je vous remercie. Nous avons souvent
parlé de ce jeu d’équilibre. Vous pouvez peut-étre, monsieur
MacDonald, confirmer ce que je pense, c’est-a-dire que 1’accord
conclu entre le Canada et la Nouvelle-Ecosse a préséance. 11 a
préséance, dans ce cas-ci, méme s’il s’agit d’une ZPM, n’est-ce
pas?

M. MacDonald : Je vais tout simplement répéter ce que mon
superviseur a dit, car c’est exact. La Loi de mise en ceuvre de
I’Accord Canada — Nouvelle-Ecosse sur les hydrocarbures
extracotiers et la Loi de mise en ceuvre de 1’Accord atlantique
Canada — Terre-Neuve-et-Labrador comportent toutes les deux
une disposition qui précise qu’elles ont préséance sur toute autre
loi fédérale. Pour répondre a votre question, je peux donc dire
que c’est ce que précisent ces deux lois.

La sénatrice Bovey : Est-ce que cela signifie que cet
amendement proposé est déja couvert par des accords qui ont
préséance?

M. MacDonald : En ce moment, lorsque nous travaillons
dans une zone visée par un accord, quand il s’agit d’'une zone
que nous proposons qu’elle soit désignée comme €tant une zone
de protection marine, nous travaillons en étroite collaboration
avec les offices des hydrocarbures extracotiers de Terre-Neuve et
de la Nouvelle-Ecosse, qui nous communiquent de 1’information
sur la prospectivité. De notre c6té, nous avons de I’information
concernant la biodiversité. Lorsque nous procédons a une
analyse quand nous voulons établir une zone de protection
marine, nous tenons compte du potentiel économique.
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In certain circumstances, for example, St. Anns Bank, when
the original area that we proposed, based on the feedback we got
back from the Nova Scotia Offshore Petroleum Board, we
actually removed the northern part of what we were originally
proposing because there was some petroleum prospectivity there.
The area that we did designate, it does say there’s no oil and gas
allowed. It did not require an explicit consent by the province,
but certainly they understood that that’s what the regulations
were going to say, and they were satisfied that their concerns
about prospectivity had been addressed by the fact that we had
changed the boundaries in order to take into account the higher
prospectivity in the northern part. We managed that through
trying to make the two statutes work together.

Our understanding of the way the supremacy clause works in
the Accords Acts is that if there is a conflict, the courts will try
to make the two statutes work together. It is only when the courts
cannot make the statutes work together that they would then see
what Parliament said, and they would say this one overrides that
one. We try to avoid those situations by jointly planning the
different mandates that we have under the Offshore Petroleum
Accords Act, which is also a federal statute, as well as the
Oceans Act.

Senator Gold: Senator Mclnnis, just a question for
clarification. The example you gave was to avoid the conflict,
confusion or embarrassment — or all of the above — were an
MPA to be established and subsequently oil or gas exploration
was sought, which would be allowed under the agreement as it
has been explained.

Would your amendment also cover or grant to the premier a
right of prior consent? If, for whatever reason, the premier
decided that fishery concerns or the impact of an MPA on a
particular community or fishery community — having nothing to
do with oil and gas — were to be given priority over the
protection of the environment. Do I read your amendment
correctly that it wouldn’t require the premier to invoke oil and
gas exploration which would be covered by that, but it could be
for any reason?

Senator Mclnnis: No, see, it is the Canada-Nova Scotia
Offshore Petroleum Resources Accord. It is not to do with the
fishery. It is to do with the petroleum resources.

Senator Gold: I understand. You are a more experienced
lawyer than I am here. It says no order may be made to designate
a Marine Protected Area that would include any area of the sea
that is included in the definition, unless without prior consent. It
doesn’t require, anywhere in that area, even if the reason for

Dans certains cas, par exemple la zone de protection marine du
banc de St. Anns, nous apportons des modifications a la zone que
nous avions proposée a 1’origine. A la suite des commentaires
que nous avons obtenus de I’Office Canada — Nouvelle-Ecosse
des hydrocarbures extracétiers, nous avons supprimé la partie
nord de la zone du banc de St. Anns parce qu’il était possible d’y
faire de la prospection pétroliere. Dans la zone que nous avons
finalement désignée, il est interdit d’y faire de la prospection
pétroliére et gaziére. Il n’a pas été nécessaire d’obtenir le
consentement explicite de la province. Elle comprenait bien que
le réglement allait préciser cela, et elle était heureuse que nous
ayons répondu a ses préoccupations a propos de la prospection
en modifiant les limites de la zone pour tenir compte du potentiel
élevé de prospection dans la partie nord. Nous avons essayé de
concilier les deux lois.

D’aprés ce que nous comprenons de la fagon dont fonctionne
la disposition sur la primauté dans les lois de mise en ceuvre des
accords, s’il y a un conflit, les tribunaux vont essayer de
concilier les deux lois. Si les tribunaux n’y parviennent pas, c’est
seulement a ce moment-la qu’ils s’appuieront sur ce que le
Parlement a dit pour déterminer laquelle des deux lois a
préséance. Nous essayons d’éviter de telles situations en
planifiant conjointement les différents mandats que nous avons
en vertu de la Loi de mise en ceuvre de l’accord sur les
hydrocarbures extracotiers, qui est également une loi fédérale, et
la Loi sur les océans.

Le sénateur Gold : Monsieur le sénateur Mclnnis, j’ai
seulement une question pour fins de clarification. Vous avez
expliqué que vous visez a éviter un conflit, de la confusion ou un
embarras — ou tout cela a la fois — si une ZPM devait étre
désignée et que, par la suite, on voudrait procéder a de
I’exploration pétroliére ou gaziére, qui serait autorisée en vertu
de I’accord, comme on I’a expliqué.

Est-ce que votre amendement accorde aussi au premier
ministre le droit au consentement préalable? Supposons que,
pour une raison quelconque, le premier ministre décide que les
répercussions sur les péches ou I’incidence d’une ZPM sur une
collectivité ou le secteur des péches — ce qui n’a rien a voir
avec le pétrole et le gaz — doivent avoir la priorité sur la
protection de I’environnement. Est-ce que j’ai bien compris votre
amendement? Il ne serait pas nécessaire que le premier ministre
invoque 1’exploration pétrolicre et gaziére; il pourrait faire valoir
n’importe quelle raison, est-ce exact?

Le sénateur MclInnis : Non, il s’agit de 1’Accord Canada —
Nouvelle-Ecosse sur les hydrocarbures extracotiers. Il ne
concerne pas les péches; il porte sur les ressources pétroliéres.

Le sénateur Gold : Je comprends. Vous étes un avocat plus
chevronné que moi. On dit qu’il est interdit de désigner par
arrété une zone de protection marine qui engloberait tout espace
maritime visé par la définition, sauf si le premier ministre y a
consenti préalablement. N’importe ou dans la zone, la raison n’a
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doing it has nothing to do with potential oil exploration. I
presume that in section 2 of the Canada-Nova Scotia Offshore
Petroleum Resources Accord implementation Act is a large area.

Senator Meclnnis: Absolutely. It’s 200 nautical miles all
around the province of Nova Scotia.

Senator Gold: My question is, though it refers to the area
defined by the act, it doesn’t actually refer to the rationale for
granting or withholding consent to offshore exploration. Am I
reading this right to think this would allow the premier of Nova
Scotia to block the establishment of an MPA in that 200-mile
area for whatever reason, including impact on fisheries or a
particular fishery?

Senator Mclnnis: Currently, there is a large MPA in the
works. It is 2,100 kilometres. The premier appeared before the
panel and spoke against it because, obviously — and he was
alluding to this — the geoscience says that that could be a ripe
ground for gas and/or oil exploration. That could be many areas
that are offshore.

What this would do would simply say the premier has to have
a reason for this. What is the geoscience? What’s your best
knowledge?

Now, the alternative would be to approve the MPA, let it go
through the process — and trust me, it is not easy. It is extremely
controversial. If you go through that, and you put it in place, then
you can imagine what would happen. They will do it. If seismic
testing is conducted in drilling and so on, in that marine
protected area. It’s better to come clean up front, have the
negotiation, the discussion and then make a determination as to
whether it should proceed or not.

I can tell you, in Atlantic Canada — particularly in Nova
Scotia and Newfoundland — the offshore holds tremendous
future benefits to the provinces. I can recall this back as far as
when I was in government, it was the same thing when gas was
found. They don’t know where they are going to find it. They
know there are tremendous resources there.

An MPA will not stop them, ultimately. What [’'m suggesting
is that there has to be more thought put into where we are going
to put MPAs.

Senator Gold: Senator, if I may, I understand that. I take your
point 100 per cent about the potential and properly exploitable
potential for the benefit of all citizens and ultimately of the
country. But if I were the premier, I might just say no and wait to
see what happens I wonder if that wouldn’t tip the scales too
much against the protection that might be appropriate for the
environment under circumstances where if the exploration is to

pas a étre liée a une possible exploration pétroliére. Je présume
que dans I’article 2 de la Loi de mise en ceuvre de 1’Accord
Canada — Nouvelle-Ecosse sur les hydrocarbures extracétiers,
la zone est grande.

Le sénateur Mclnnis : Tout a fait. C’est une zone de 200
milles nautiques tout autour de la province de la Nouvelle-
Ecosse.

Le sénateur Gold : On mentionne que la zone est celle visée
par la définition dans la loi, mais on ne mentionne pas la raison
de consentir ou non a 1’exploration extracotiere. Ai-je raison de
penser que cette disposition permettrait au premier ministre de la
Nouvelle-Ecosse de bloquer la création d’une ZPM dans cette
zone de 200 milles pour n’importe quelle raison, notamment les
répercussions sur les péches ou sur une péche en particulier?

Le sénateur MclInnis : Actucllement, on est en voie d’établir
une importante ZPM de 2 100 kilométres. Le premier ministre a
comparu devant le comité d’examen et il s’est prononcé contre
1’établissement de cette zone, car, bien entendu — et il y a fait
allusion — les données géoscientifiques indiquent qu’il y a un
bon potentiel d’exploration pétroliére ou gaziére. Ce pourrait étre
le cas dans bien des zones extracotieres.

Cette disposition vise simplement a préciser que le premier
ministre doit avoir une raison. Quelles sont les données
géoscientifiques? Quelles sont les meilleures connaissances?

L’autre option serait d’approuver la ZPM, de laisser aller le
processus, et croyez-moi, ce n’est pas facile. Cela suscite
beaucoup de controverse. Si on établit une ZPM, alors on peut
imaginer ce qui se passera. On ira de 1’avant. Il y aura des essais
sismiques et du forage dans cette zone de protection marine. Il
vaut mieux étre parfaitement clair dés le début, négocier,
discuter et ensuite décider si ce devrait étre accepté ou non.

Je peux vous dire que, dans la région du Canada atlantique,
particuliérement en Nouvelle-Ecosse et & Terre-Neuve, les zones
extracOtiéres procureront beaucoup d’avantages dans le futur a
ces provinces. On en parlait déja lorsque j’étais dans le
gouvernement. C’était la méme chose lorsqu’on a trouvé du gaz.
On ne sait pas ou on va en trouver, mais on sait qu’il y en a
énormément.

La ZPM ne sera pas un frein, au bout du compte. Ce que je
veux dire, c’est qu’il faut une meilleure réflexion relativement
aux endroits ou nous établissons des ZPM.

Le sénateur Gold : Permettez-moi de vous dire, monsieur le
sénateur, que je comprends cela. Je comprends tout a fait le point
que vous faites valoir a propos du potentiel a exploiter au profit
de tous les citoyens, et, ultimement, de I’ensemble du pays. Si
j’étais le premier ministre, je dirais peut-étre non et j’attendrais
de voir ce qu’il se passera. Je me demande si cette disposition ne
va pas trop nuire a la protection qui serait appropriée pour
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take place that it can take place. It will take place. Because the
accord is paramount to whatever MPA process is in place.

Senator Mclnnis: See, but what [ am —
Senator Gold: What am I missing?

Senator Mclnnis: No, it is a legitimate argument, except that
the purpose of the amendment is to prevent this hostility,
frustration and consternation that’s going to be caused by
disrupting an MPA that has been done properly by the officials
who are now on the ground there. Better to have it out now and
make the determination. You know, it is a very serious
consideration that has to be given to this.

We all want to conserve. I can tell you they will conduct the
exploration. It will be done and it will cause a lot of confusion
and a lot of anxiety.

I know you know this — although Atlantic Canadians are
much more reasonable — that though the premier is an elected
official, I’ve not seen one, when it comes down to it, that they
become reasonable and very reasonable and have open
discussions with Fisheries and Oceans Canada and those that are
sponsoring these MPAs. This would not be a carte blanche. This
would not be a, no, we are not doing it. I think it would be set up
that there would be proper discussions.

I can tell you governments want revenue and there will be no
greater thing for the province of Nova Scotia to become a “have”
province on the resources they have control over. That’s what we
are talking about here and they will be doing it. We are putting
people to all this effort and all I’'m suggesting is, in advance of
doing that, let’s have a discussion as to the legitimacy of this,
and stop the disruption down the road that is sure to come.

The area is 2,100 kilometres, there is one MPA. As I said,
there is a map that shows potential MPAs that would cover the
entire tip, Cape Breton to Yarmouth. I can and will provide you
and the sponsor of the bill the map to show you.

This is a precautionary approach. I think it is a strategic
approach. I think it is an important approach to do. If someone
has a better mechanism in implementing this to get the consent
of the province, then let’s hear it. Maybe we don’t have to pass
this amendment tonight. But it was one of the things that I
thought of immediately when I asked the question of the senior
witnesses from Natural Resources. I immediately called and got
legal advice on it as well.

It’s not to put an amendment in just to slow down the bill or
change it or anything. It’s a responsible amendment in my mind.
I think we should do it.

I’environnement dans les cas ou il y aurait de 1’exploration, car il
y aura de I’exploration parce que ’accord a préséance sur les
ZPM.

Le sénateur McInnis : Mais ce que je...
Le sénateur Gold : Qu’est-ce qui m’échappe?

Le sénateur MclInnis : Vous faites valoir un bon argument,
mais 1’objectif de cette disposition est d’éviter I’hostilité, la
frustration et la consternation que causera le fait de perturber une
ZPM qui a été établie en bonne et due forme par les
fonctionnaires qui sont sur le terrain. Il vaut mieux en parler tout
de suite et prendre une décision. Vous savez, il faut se pencher
la-dessus trés sérieusement.

Nous voulons tous préserver 1’environnement. Je peux vous
dire qu’il y aura de I’exploration, et cela causera beaucoup de
confusion et d’anxiété.

Vous savez que — et je sais que les Canadiens de 1’ Atlantique
sont beaucoup plus raisonnables — le premier ministre est un
¢lu, et je n’ai jamais vu un premier ministre &tre raisonnable, trés
raisonnable, et discuter ouvertement avec le ministére des Péches
et des Océans et ceux qui soutiennent ces ZPM. Il ne s’agit pas
de donner carte blanche. Il ne s’agit pas de dire qu’on ne va pas
de l’avant. Je pense que cette disposition favoriserait les
discussions qui s’imposent.

Les gouvernements ont besoin de revenus, et il n’y aurait rien
de mieux pour la Nouvelle-Ecosse que de s’enrichir grice aux
ressources qu’elle gére. C’est ce dont il est question ici, et c’est
ce qui se passera. Il y a des gens qui déploient des efforts pour
établir des ZPM, alors tout ce que je dis, c’est que, au préalable,
discutons de la légitimité et évitons les perturbations qui vont
certes survenir a un moment donné.

Il y a une ZPM de 2 100 kilometres. Comme je 1’ai dit, il
existe une carte qui indique des ZPM potentielles qui
couvriraient toute la province, du Cap-Breton a Yarmouth. Je
vais vous transmettre cette carte, ainsi qu’au parrain du projet de
loi, pour vous le montrer.

Il s’agit d’une précaution. Je crois aussi qu’il s’agit d’une
approche stratégique. Je pense que c’est important. Si quelqu’un
d’autre a en téte une meilleure facon d’obtenir le consentement
de la province, alors qu’il le dise. Nous n’avons peut-étre pas
besoin d’adopter cet amendement ce soir. J’ai tout de suite pensé
a cette disposition lorsque j’ai posé la question aux
fonctionnaires du ministére des Ressources naturelles. J’ai
immédiatement appelé un juriste pour obtenir ses conseils.

Je ne présente pas cet amendement pour ralentir I’adoption du
projet de loi ou pour le modifier. C’est un amendement
responsable a mon avis. Je crois que nous devrions 1’adopter.
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Senator Christmas: As a fellow Nova Scotian, I have a right
to jump into this conversation. I appreciate Senator Mclnnis’
need or desire to see this bill provide a lot of clarity. It is
unfortunate if a court has to be brought in to weigh different bills
and try to come to a judgment, so I support Senator Mclnnis’
desire to make sure that it’s clear. Being a Nova Scotian, I
understand and appreciate that the accord does have supremacy
over other federal statutes. I think what Senator Mclnnis is trying
to do is take that clarity one step further and ensure that the
Oceans Act also reflects that so there is no need for a judge to go
bouncing back and forth.

The only problem I have — and I would take Senator
Mclnnis’ judgment on this — is the last part “unless the premier
of Nova Scotia has given prior consent.” The premier being in
the office that he holds he would have broad authority. I think it
leaves that section too broad, where he could cite perhaps almost
any reason to not give that consent in writing. It may not be just
for oil and gas exploration. It could be for other reasons. It could
be for social reasons or the fishery or shipping. There could be
numerous reasons that he could cite for not giving consent.

What I would suggest, instead of the premier giving written
consent, is perhaps we should consider having the Canada-Nova
Scotia Offshore Petroleum Resources Board give the consent in
writing. Their jurisdiction is clear that it is only for oil and gas.
And, of course, Nova Scotia is a party to that board. Their views
and opinions would obviously be taken into consideration.

I throw that is out as a suggestion, perhaps to add clarity to
this clause, if it were the petroleum board that gave the consent
in writing.

The Chair: Senator Mclnnis, you asked for more advice. You
got some.

Senator Mclnnis: Are you sure you want the petroleum
board? That’s putting the fox in the hen house if I ever saw it. I
appreciate that. I’'m not sure that would be the proper vehicle. If
there is some other vehicle that could be put in place, I’d like to
know what it is. I worry what Bill C-69 is going to do with that
board in any event.

Senator Gold: Well, this is watered-down version. I’'m
concerned about the consent. There is a continuum between
ignoring people, engaging, consultation and consent. I don’t
want to presume that I know how you would answer this, but is
prior consent in writing required or is something slightly less
veto-ish — that’s not an English word, is it? It is not a French
word either.

Le sénateur Christmas : Je suis moi aussi Néo-Ecossais,
alors j’ai le droit de participer & la conversation. Je comprends
que le sénateur Mclnnis souhaite que le projet de loi soit trés
clair. I est malheureux qu’un tribunal ait a soupeser différentes
lois et qu’il essaie de rendre une décision, alors je comprends
que le sénateur Mclnnis désire que le projet de loi soit clair.
Comme je suis originaire de la Nouvelle-Ecosse, je sais que
I’accord a préséance sur d’autres lois fédérales. Je pense que ce
que le sénateur Mclnnis essaie de faire, c’est faire en sorte aussi
que la Loi sur les océans soit claire également afin qu’il ne soit
pas nécessaire qu’un juge ait a soupeser les deux lois.

La seule chose qui me pose probléme — et je vais m’en
remettre au jugement du sénateur Mclnnis —, c’est la derniére
partie qui se lit comme suit : « sauf si le premier ministre de la
Nouvelle-Ecosse y a consenti préalablement par écrit. » Le
premier ministre, compte tenu du poste qu’il occupe, dispose de
vastes pouvoirs. Je crois que cette formulation trop vague permet
au premier ministre d’invoquer pratiquement n’importe quelle
raison pour ne pas donner son consentement par écrit. La raison
pourrait ne pas seulement étre I’exploration pétroliére et gaziere.
Il pourrait s’agir d’autres motifs. Il pourrait s’agir de raisons
d’ordre social ou de motifs liés au secteur des péches ou au
transport maritime. Les raisons qu’il peut invoquer pour ne pas
donner son consentement sont nombreuses.

Plutét que ce soit le premier ministre qui donne son
consentement par écrit, peut-€tre que ce devrait étre 1’Office
Canada — Nouvelle-Ecosse des hydrocarbures extracotiers. Son
mandat concerne uniquement le pétrole et le gaz. Bien entendu,
comme la province est représentée au sein de cette entité, son
point de vue et ses opinions seraient de toute évidence pris en
considération.

C’est ce que je propose afin de rendre cette disposition plus
claire, c’est-a-dire faire en sorte que ce soit ’office qui donne
son consentement par écrit.

Le président : Sénateur Mclnnis, vous avez demandé des
propositions, alors en voila une.

Le sénateur Mclnnis : Etes-vous certain de vouloir que ce
soit I’office qui donne le consentement? C’est comme mettre le
loup dans la bergerie. Je vous remercie pour votre suggestion. Je
ne suis pas certain que ce soit ’entité appropriée. S’il y a une
autre option, j’aimerais la connaitre. Je me demande ce qui se
passera avec 1’office dans le cadre du projet de loi C-69.

Le sénateur Gold : Eh bien, ¢’est une version diluée. Je suis
préoccupé a propos du consentement. Il y a un processus; il y a
la consultation, car il faut écouter les gens, et il y a le
consentement. Je ne veux pas prétendre que je sais ce que vous
allez répondre a cela, mais est-ce que le consentement par écrit
est nécessaire ou est-ce qu’on ne pourrait pas utiliser un terme
qui s’apparente moins a un veto?
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The Chair: That’s not even a Newfoundland word.

Senator Gold: It’s something that underlines the importance
of proper involvement and consultation and it is such that
whatever decision is made through the process, even though
we’re told that’s what takes place, it’s clear that it must take
place before something can be designated.

Is that strong enough to meet your concerns? It would have to
be reworded somehow.

Senator MclInnis: Yes. I know you understand this but let me
say it. The premier can do it anyway.

Senator Poirier: That’s right.

Senator MclInnis: They have the authority. How do we soften
that?

Senator Gold: As I understand it, the premier can authorize
oil and gas exploration because of the accord. Currently, the
premier wouldn’t have the ability to say despite all of the science
and all of the other — I just don’t want an MPA in my backyard
but that’s the legal effect of this clause.

Senator Mclnnis: In fact, they can do that at a time when an
MPA is in place.

Senator Gold: With regard to oil and gas.

Senator MclInnis: Absolutely; that’s what this is. It’s not with
respect to the fishery. It’s with respect to the offshore petroleum
resources.

Senator Gold: It’s with regard to the area defined in that but
it does not require the premier to invoke — this may be a law
professor’s concern —

Senator Mclnnis: Yes, it is.

Senator Gold: Please forgive me for that. As drafted, it gives
an unfettered power in the premier to say no to an MPA for
whatever reason. I believe that was Senator Christmas’s
observation. The reference to offshore petroleum accord is only
for the purpose of designating the area over which the premier
would have a veto.

Senator MclInnis: Yes, which is all around the province of
Nova Scotia.

Senator Poirier: He already has it. That’s what I mean, he
already has it.

Senator Gold: I’m repeating myself.

Le président : On peut puiser dans le vocabulaire terre-
neuvien.

Le sénateur Gold : On veut souligner 1’importance d’une
consultation et d’une participation en bonne et due forme. Peu
importe la décision qui est prise durant le processus, il est clair
qu’elle doit étre prise avant la désignation, méme si on nous dit
que c’est ce qui se passera.

Est-ce que cela suffirait a répondre a vos préoccupations? Il
faudrait reformuler.

Le sénateur Mclnnis : Oui. Je sais que vous le savez, mais
permettez-moi de le répéter : le premier ministre peut le faire de
toute fagon.

La sénatrice Poirier : C’est exact.

Le sénateur MclInnis : Il en a le pouvoir. Comment atténuer
cela?

Le sénateur Gold : D’apres ce que je comprends, le premier
ministre peut autoriser I’exploration pétroliere et gazieére en
raison de D’accord. Actuellement, malgré toutes les données
scientifiques et toute l’information, le premier ministre ne
pourrait pas dire qu’il ne veut tout simplement pas d’une ZPM.

Le sénateur Mclnnis : En fait, ’exploration peut se faire
méme lorsqu’une ZPM est établie.

Le sénateur Gold : L’exploration pétroli¢re et gaziere.

Le sénateur Mclnnis : Tout a fait; c’est ainsi. Il n’est pas
question des péches, mais bien des ressources pétrolicres
extracdtiéres.

Le sénateur Gold : On parle de la zone définie, mais on
n’exige pas que le premier ministre invoque... Peut-étre que c’est
une préoccupation propre a un professeur de droit...

Le sénateur Mclnnis : Oui, en effet.

Le sénateur Gold : Pardonnez-moi, mais telle qu’elle est
rédigée, cette disposition donne un pouvoir illimité au premier
ministre de refuser 1’établissement d’une ZPM pour n’importe
quelle raison. Je crois que c’est ce qu’a fait valoir le sénateur
Christmas. L’accord sur les hydrocarbures extracétiers est utilisé
ici uniquement pour désigner la zone sur laquelle le premier
ministre aurait un droit de veto.

Le sénateur Mclnnis : Oui, et cette zone entoure la province
de la Nouvelle-Ecosse.

La sénatrice Poirier : Il a déja le pouvoir. C’est ce que je
veux dire; il 1’a déja.

Le sénateur Gold : Je me répete.
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The Chair: [ will try to really muddy the waters now. To be
clear, Senator Mclnnis, because your next amendment is pretty
much the same thing as it relates to Newfoundland and
Labrador’s accord as it is to Nova Scotia’s. At the present time,
the Government of Newfoundland and Labrador and the
Government of Nova Scotia can commence drilling — no,
you’re telling me they can’t in an MPA? I didn’t know that.
You’d better fill us in.

Mr. MacDonald: To clarify, Mr. Chair, the authorization of
an oil and gas activity in the offshore area is given by the
Canada-Newfoundland Offshore Petroleum Board, which is a
creature of both the federal and the provincial governments. It’s
not a provincial decision. It’s a federal-provincial decision. The
federal decision maker is the Minister of Natural Resources.

The Chair: As I said, I’'m doing my best to muddy the waters.
The Canada-Nova Scotia or the Canada-Newfoundland
Petroleum Board can decide to conduct drilling in an MPA at
any time. Is that what you’re telling us? They have the authority
under the accords to do that?

Mr. MacDonald: The accord legislation says that activities
authorized under this are supreme, so they supersede other
federal statutes, yes. There is a whole lot of administration
around the authorization of the drilling activity, which is —

The Chair: That’s a different kettle of fish, yes. Basically the
boards can authorize.

Mr. MacDonald: Yes, they authorize.
The Chair: That’s the top law. Okay.

Senator MclInnis, if I follow what Senator Gold is saying, he
believes that what you’re putting forward here extends beyond
oil and gas and it gives the premier of Nova Scotia, the premier
of Newfoundland what you’ve written here, even though it falls
under the petroleum board but the fact is how it’s written,
Senator Gold believes it gives carte blanche for the premier of
either province to deny or not to give consent for whatever
reason he or she may want to do at that time, and not necessarily
on oil and gas but on anything? Am I reading you correctly?

Senator Gold: That’s how I'm reading it. It may not be the
intent but that’s how I’m reading it.

The Chair: I’'m trying to figure out how we’re reading things.
Is there any way that you can change what you have here to meet
the goal you’re trying to reach?

Senator MclInnis: I would like to have the opportunity to do
that. I said that earlier. We’re not in that big a rush. We want to
get this done, but I would like to explore it a bit further. As I said
earlier, I’m not interjecting here to try to delay —

Le président : Je vais essayer de brouiller les cartes.
Monsieur le sénateur Mclnnis, il faut étre clair, car votre
prochain amendement est identique a celui-ci sauf qu’il concerne
I’accord avec Terre-Neuve-et-Labrador. Actuellement, les
gouvernements de Terre-Neuve-et-Labrador et de la Nouvelle-
Ecosse peuvent autoriser le forage — non, vous me dites qu’ils
ne peuvent pas le faire dans une ZPM? Je ne le savais pas. Vous
devriez nous donner des explications.

M. MacDonald : Monsieur le président, I’autorisation d’une
activité pétrolicre ou gaziére dans une zone extracOtiére est
accordée par I’Office Canada — Terre-Neuve des hydrocarbures
extracotiers, qui est un organisme des gouvernements fédéral et
provincial. Il ne s’agit pas d’une décision provinciale, mais
plutdét d’une décision fédérale-provinciale. Du c6té du
gouvernement fédéral, c’est le ministre des Ressources naturelles
qui est responsable de la décision.

Le président : Comme je I’ai dit, je fais de mon mieux pour
brouiller les cartes. L’office de la Nouvelle-Ecosse ou celui de
Terre-Neuve peut décider d’autoriser du forage dans une ZPM en
tout temps. Est-ce exact? Les deux offices ont ce pouvoir en
vertu des accords, n’est-ce pas?

M. MacDonald : Les lois de mise en ceuvre des accords
précisent qu’elles ont préséance sur d’autres lois fédérales, en
effet. L autorisation d’une activité de forage est complexe sur le
plan administratif, et c’est...

Le président: C’est une autre paire de manches.

Essentiellement, les offices peuvent autoriser le forage.
M. MacDonald : Oui, ce sont eux qui 1’autorisent.
Le président : C’est cette loi qui a préséance. D’accord.

Monsieur le sénateur MclInnis, si j’ai bien compris le sénateur
Gold, il estime que votre amendement permet au premier
ministre de la Nouvelle-Ecosse et au premier ministre de Terre-
Neuve, en raison de la formulation, de ne pas donner son
consentement pour n’importe quelle raison, et pas
nécessairement pour des raisons liées au pétrole et au gaz, méme
si on vient de nous dire que la décision appartient aux offices des
hydrocarbures. Est-ce que j’ai bien compris?

Le sénateur Gold : C’est ce que je comprends lorsque je lis
I’amendement. Ce n’est peut-étre pas ’intention, mais c’est ce
que je comprends.

Le président : J’essaie de déterminer comment on comprend
cette disposition. Y a-t-il moyen pour vous de modifier votre
libellé pour atteindre 1’objectif que vous souhaitez?

Le sénateur Mclnnis : J’aimerais avoir la possibilité de le
faire. Comme je I’ai dit plus tOt, nous ne sommes pas
particuliécrement pressés. Nous voulons terminer cette étude,
mais j’aimerais examiner cela davantage. Comme je 1’ai dit tout
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The Chair: No, I’'m concerned from Newfoundland and
Labrador of the same concerns you have in relation to Nova
Scotia. I want to make sure we’re all clear on what we’re saying
and what we’re trying to do.

Senator Bovey: Coming from the Prairies — which are the
friendliest of all — I see what you’re getting at but I think we’re
already there. From what I understand with the Canada-Nova
Scotia Offshore Petroleum Resources Accord and the one with
Newfoundland to ensure that is understood in the bill — isn’t all
we need something to recognize that the accord is in place with
Nova Scotia and Newfoundland, with the offshore petroleum
resources that reigns supreme. I know this is not legalese. If it’s
already the case and we’re trying to underline that yes, that is the
case, isn’t that —

Senator Mclnnis: It’s more than that. What we’re trying to
do here is be proactive. We’re trying to say, look, the province of
Nova Scotia, we’re putting an MPA in place off of Cape Breton
Island just outside of Danny’s home.

Let’s have a discussion about that beforehand, not have the
province go in and start drilling in the middle of an MPA.

I can imagine what that would cause.

Senator Gold: Scientific work that goes on to identify the
biodiversity changes, the next step is to identify an area of
interest. At that point, before anything is designated — before
anything is deemed a temporary — that’s when discussions,
consultations and all of that with the premier and others would
take place.

If that’s all we’re trying to accomplish to make sure that there
isn’t just a unilateral definition — it’s Tuesday morning, we’ve
just decided, with no discussion, here’s a protected area for the
next five years. That is not how it’s done, as far as I understand.

If we’re trying to be proactive and avoid unilateral decisions
on the part of the department of fisheries, which would then
result in conflict because of a decision to pursue oil and gas, why
isn’t the consultative process, either in place or reinforced
somehow or other in this bill, sufficient?

Senator McInnis: I just want to tell you something.

This is just one article opposing the MPA and the number of
groups that are opposing it in Nova Scotia. The premier opposed
this for the very reason that I directly spoke about tonight. This
is a major issue.

a I’heure, je ne présente pas cet amendent pour essayer de
retarder...

Le président : J’ai les mémes préoccupations pour Terre-
Neuve-et-Labrador que celles que vous avez pour la Nouvelle-
Ecosse. Je veux que nous comprenions tous clairement ce dont il
est question et ce que nous essayons de faire.

La sénatrice Bovey : Je viens des Prairies — ou les gens sont
les plus sympathiques — mais je comprends ce que vous voulez
faire. Cependant, je crois que c’est déja le cas. D’apres ce que je
comprends, en vertu de I’ Accord Canada — Nouvelle-Ecosse sur
les hydrocarbures extracoétiers et de I’accord avec Terre-Neuve...
Nous voulons nous assurer que ce soit bien compris dans le
projet de loi. N’est-il pas suffisant de reconnaitre que ces accords
avec la Nouvelle-Ecosse et Terre-Neuve existent et qu’ils ont
préséance. Je sais que ce n’est pas une formulation juridique. Si
c’est déja le cas, et que nous cherchons a insister la-dessus,
n’est-ce pas...

Le sénateur McInnis : Nous essayons de faire plus que cela.
Nous essayons d’étre proactifs. Nous voulons dire a la Nouvelle-
Ecosse que nous mettons en place une ZPM au large de 1I’ile du
Cap-Breton.

Il faut en discuter au préalable, afin d’éviter que la province
procéde a du forage en plein milieu d’une ZPM.

Je peux imaginer ce que cela causerait.

Le sénateur Gold : Des travaux scientifiques permettent de
déterminer qu’il y a des changements dans la biodiversité. Il
nous faut alors déterminer une zone a protéger. A ce moment-1a,
avant de désigner une zone, ou une zone provisoire, nous
entamons des discussions, des consultations, et cetera avec le
premier ministre et d’autres intervenants.

C’est ce que nous essayons de faire pour éviter qu’il y ait une
décision unilatérale, qu’un bon matin on décide, sans qu’il y ait
eu de discussions, qu’une certaine zone sera une ZPM durant les
cinq prochaines années. Ce n’est pas de cette fagon qu’on doit
procéder, d’apres ce que je comprends.

Si nous essayons d’étre proactifs et d’éviter des décisions
unilatérales de la part du ministére des Péches, qui donneraient
lieu & un conflit parce qu’on souhaite mener des activités
pétroliéres et gaziéres, pourquoi est-ce que le processus de
consultation, ’actuel processus ou un processus amélioré dans le
projet de loi, n’est-il pas suffisant?

Le sénateur MclInnis : Je veux vous dire quelque chose.

Voici un article qui fait état de I’opposition a la désignation
d’une ZPM. Il y a un certain nombre de groupes qui s’y opposent
en Nouvelle-Ecosse. Le premier ministre s’y est opposé en
invoquant justement la raison que j’ai expliquée ce soir. C’est un
enjeu trés important.
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They will go through what has happened here, and it’s done,
this Oceans Act is to enable the Government of Canada to get to
ten per cent. That’s the point. Otherwise, the old system would
be fine. This is the reason they’re doing it. They freeze the
footprint. Now, and what I’ve said before, is reverse onus. There
it is, prove it shouldn’t happen. That’s exactly what the people
down in my neck of the woods are going through. It’s not a
proper system. It’s one — forgive me — for a government to get
to a milestone, and they’re not, unfortunately, listening to the
fishers and many of the residents and the people that make their
livelihood there. There’s so much uncertainty.

This consultation process that took place over five years, and
then the order becomes regulations — wouldn’t it be better, as
opposed to going through all of that, to get that consent from the
province of Nova Scotia? That’s what I’m saying.

This is a long-haul process. We’re putting the cart before the
horse when in fact it can be snuffed out just like that at any time.
If I had my way, I would try to determine where we could put —
in conjunction with the province — some MPAs. We all have to
be protectionists and we have to be conserving and so on. In fact,
sometimes I think Fisheries and Oceans are being too much that
way. You have to do it and not as much in management.

This has to be done in conjunction with the province. This
amendment would be this government acting responsibly.

[ can’t speak for the premier, but he went to Saint John and
spoke against this before the panel. As opposed to doing that, he
can shut it down at any time when he wants, if they are going to
drill or whatever. Why don’t we reasonably come up with an
amendment that will enable there to be that discussion that takes
place? That’s all we’re asking.

It will eliminate all of this anxiety and consternation that’s
taking place. I was in a meeting on Saturday and there had to be
250 people in the room. There should have only been 150. That’s
how upset people are about this.

Mr. MacDonald: I would just offer for the committee that
this bill is fairly narrow in scope. The Oceans Act is an enabling
piece of legislation. The process I was explaining, when we
coordinate with the offshore petroleum boards when it comes to
the initial design of MPAs and where they are located. I refer
you to section 33 of the Oceans Act. It says specifically in
section one, subsection (a):

In exercising the powers and performing the duties and
functions assigned to the Minister by this Act . . .

For the entire act, the minister:

Les gens seront mis devant le fait accompli. Ce projet de loi
vise a permettre au gouvernement du Canada de geler
I’empreinte a 10 p. 100. C’est ’objectif. S’il n’était pas question
de cela, ’ancien systeme ferait 1’affaire. C’est la raison pour
laquelle on présente ce projet de loi; ¢’est pour geler I’empreinte.
Comme je I’ai dit plus tot, le fardeau de la preuve est inversé. On
doit nous prouver que cela ne devrait pas se faire. C’est
exactement ce que doivent faire les gens de ma province. Ce
n’est pas une fagon appropriée de faire. Pardonnez-moi, mais
c’est seulement pour que le gouvernement puisse réaliser
quelque chose d’important, mais, malheureusement, il n’écoute
pas les pécheurs, un grand nombre des citoyens et ceux qui
doivent gagner leur vie. Il y a beaucoup d’incertitude.

Le processus de consultation a eu lieu pendant cinq ans.
Ensuite, c’est devenu un réglement. Ne serait-il pas mieux, au
lieu de faire tout cela, d’obtenir le consentement de la province
de la Nouvelle-Ecosse? C’est ce que je dis.

C’est un processus de longue haleine. Nous mettons la charrue
avant les beeufs, alors qu’en fait, cela pourrait disparaitre
n’importe quand. S’il n’en tenait qu’a moi, j’essaierais de
déterminer les endroits ou nous pouvons établir, de concert avec
la province, des zones de protection marine. Nous devons tous
assurer la protection, la conservation et ainsi de suite. En fait, il
m’arrive de penser que Péches et Océans penche trop de ce coté.
11 faut que cela se fasse, et pas tant au niveau de la gestion.

Il faut que cela se fasse de concert avec la province. Avec cet
amendement, le gouvernement agirait de fagon responsable.

Je ne peux pas parler au nom du premier ministre, mais il est
allé a Saint John et a exprimé son opposition a cela. Au lieu de
cela, il peut tout annuler quand il le veut, si des travaux de forage
ou autres sont prévus. Pourquoi ne pas adopter un amendement
raisonnable qui permettrait la discussion? C’est tout ce que nous
demandons.

Cela ¢éliminera toute 1’anxiété et la consternation. J’étais a une
réunion, samedi, et il y avait au moins 250 personnes dans la
piéce. Normalement, il n’y en aurait eu que 150. Les gens sont a
ce point fachés de cela.

M. MacDonald : J’aimerais simplement indiquer au comité
que la portée de ce projet de loi est relativement limitée. La Loi
sur les océans est une loi habilitante. Pour le processus que
j’expliquais, concernant la coordination avec les offices des
hydrocarbures extracétiers au moment de concevoir initialement
les zones de protection marine et d’en déterminer 1’emplacement,
je vous invite a lire I’article 33 de la Loi sur les océans. On dit ce
qui suit a I’alinéa 33(1)a) :

Dans 1’exercice des attributions qui lui sont conférées par
la présente loi, le ministre :

Cela s’applique a la loi enti¢re. Le ministre :
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(a) shall cooperate with other ministers, boards and
agencies of the Government of Canada, with provincial
and territorial governments and with affected aboriginal
organizations, coastal communities and other persons and
bodies, including those bodies established under land
claims agreements;

That’s at the heart of the Oceans Act when it was originally
passed. It’s not coming up in Bill C-55, but it is why we take that
approach when we design marine protected areas, for example.
It’s because that’s what the minister shall do according to the
Oceans Act. Whether we’ve achieved that is a different subject
but in terms of what the current bill is proposing and what the
law currently says, that’s there.

Senator MclInnis: The only question with respect to that is
why was it necessary for the premier of Nova Scotia to go before
the panel and plead his case? Who is in touch with him in
advance, or anyone in the government? No one. With respect.

The Chair: There’s an answer somewhere in the air but it
hasn’t found its way to the table.

I would say for now we have exhausted that discussion.

Is it your pleasure, honourable senators to adopt the motion in
amendment?

Hon. Senators: Agreed.
Some Hon. Senators: No.

The Chair: All those in favour of adopting the amendment,
raise your hands?All those contra-minded, raise your hands. The
motion is defeated.

Shall clause 5 carry?

Senator Mclnnis: I have the Newfoundland clause. I want to
repeat what [’ve said —

The Chair: No, not with the power invested in me. Even the
fact that it’s Newfoundland and Labrador, I think we’ve gone
through the process.

Senator McInnis: I won’t proceed with that.

The Chair: We will now move to amendment TM2,
Newfoundland and Labrador. I’'m going to read it to make sure
everybody is aware.

It is moved by the Honourable Senator Mclnnis:

That Bill C-55 be amended on clause 5, page 4, at line 20
by adding the following after line 20:

a) coopeére avec d’autres ministres et organismes
fédéraux, les gouvernements provinciaux et territoriaux et
les organisations autochtones, les collectivités cotieres et
les autres personnes de droit public et de droit privé
intéressées, y compris celles constituées dans le cadre
d’accords sur des revendications territoriales;

C’est ce qui était au ceeur de la Loi sur les océans au moment
de son adoption initiale. Cela n’apparait pas dans le projet de
loi C-55, mais c’est la raison pour laquelle nous adoptons cette
démarche au moment de concevoir des zones de protection
marine, par exemple. C’est parce que c’est ce que le ministre
doit faire en vertu de la Loi sur les océans. Quant a savoir si c’est
ce que nous avons accompli, c’est une question bien différente.
Cependant, en ce qui concerne ce que le projet de loi propose et
ce que la loi dit en ce moment, c’est 1a.

Le sénateur Mclnnis : La seule question a ce sujet est celle
de savoir pourquoi il a été nécessaire que le premier ministre de
la Nouvelle-Ecosse comparaisse et plaide sa cause. Qui
communique avec lui a 1’avance? Est-ce qu’il y a quelqu’un au
gouvernement? Je dirais respectueusement que non.

Le président : La réponse existe quelque part, mais elle n’a
pas fait son chemin jusqu’a cette table.

Je dirais que nous avons vidé la question pour le moment.

Plait-il aux honorables sénateurs la motion

d’amendement?

d’adopter

Des voix : D’accord.
Des voix : Non.

Le président : Que ceux qui sont pour [’adoption de
I’amendement lévent la main. Que ceux qui sont contre lévent la
main. La motion est rejetée.

L’article 5 est-il adopté?

Le sénateur Mclnnis : J’ai ’article relatif a Terre-Neuve. Je
veux répéter ce que j’ai dit...

Le président : Non, pas avec le pouvoir dont je suis investi.
Méme s’il est question de Terre-Neuve-et-Labrador, je pense que
nous avons épuisé le processus.

Le sénateur McInnis : Je ne vais pas poursuivre avec cela.

A

Le président : Nous passons maintenant a l’amendement
TM2, qui concerne Terre-Neuve-et-Labrador. Je vais le lire pour
que tout le monde comprenne bien.

L’honorable sénateur Mclnnis propose :

Que le projet de loi C-55 soit modifié, a Iarticle 5, a la
page 4, par adjonction, apres la ligne 20, de ce qui suit :
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“(2.1) No order may be made under subsection (2) to
designate a marine protected area that would include any
area of the sea that is included in the definition offshore
area in section (2) of the Canada-Newfoundland and
Labrador Atlantic Accord Implementation Act unless the
Premier of Newfoundland and Labrador has given prior
consent to the designation in writing.”.

« (2.1) 11 est interdit de désigner par arrété pris en vertu
du paragraphe (2) une zone de protection marine qui
engloberait tout espace maritime visé¢ par la définition de
zone extracotiere ou zone a I’article 2 de la Loi de mise en
ceuvre de 1’Accord Atlantique Canada — Terre-Neuve-et-
Labrador, sauf si le premier ministre de Terre-Neuve-et-
Labrador y a consenti préalablement par écrit. ».

Is it your pleasure honourable senators to adopt the motion in Plait-il aux honorables sénateurs d’adopter la motion

amendment? d’amendement?
Some Hon. Senators: Agreed. Des voix : D’accord.
Some Hon. Senators: No. Des voix : Non.

The Chair: All those in favour, raise your hands? All those
contra-minded, raise your hands?The motion is defeated.

Le président : Que ceux qui sont pour lévent la main. Que
ceux qui sont contre lévent la main. La motion est rejetée.

The Chair: Shall clause 5 carry? Le président : L’article 5 est-il adopté?

Senator Patterson: Shall I read the proposed amendment? Le sénateur Patterson : Devrais-je lire [’amendement
proposé?

The Chair: Yes, you can, because you’re going to have to Le président : Oui, car vous allez devoir I’expliquer.

explain it.
Senator Patterson: I move: Le sénateur Patterson : Je propose :

Que le projet de loi C-55 soit modifié, a 1’article 5, a la
page 4, par adjonction, apres la ligne 31, de ce qui suit :

That Bill C-55 be amended in clause 5, on page 4, by
adding the following after line 32:

« 35.1(1) Avant qu’un décret puisse étre pris en vertu du
paragraphe 35.1(2), le ministre :

“35.11(1) Before an order may be made under
subsection 35.1(2), the Minister shall:

(a) cause the proposed order to be posted on the
Minister’s website, accompanied by a notice that invites
the public to provide comments during a period, to be set
by the Minister, of at least 60 days, beginning on the day
after the day on which the proposed order is posted;

(b) ensure that the public is provided with an opportunity
to participate meaningfully in informing the Minister’s
consideration of the proposed order within the period set
under paragraph (a);

(¢) provide written notice of the proposed order to every
jurisdiction whose lands or interests may be affected by
the order and consult and cooperate with every such
jurisdiction that requests a consultation no later than 30
days after the day on which it received the notice; and

(d) prepare and post on the Minister’s website a report
that:

(i) summarizes the comments received under
paragraph (a),

a) fait afficher sur son site Web le projet de décret,
accompagné d’un avis invitant le public a lui faire des
observations dans le délai qu’il établit, qui sera au moins
de 60 jours et qui commencera le jour suivant 1’affichage;

b) veille a ce que le public ait la possibilité de participer
de fagon significative a son examen du projet de décret
dans le délai établi a ’alinéa a);

¢) donne un avis écrit du projet de décret a toute instance
dont les terres ou les intéréts peuvent étre touchés par
celui-ci, et consulte toute instance qui demande a étre
consultée au plus tard trente jours suivant la réception de
cet avis et coopere avec elle;

d) prépare et affiche sur son site Web, un rapport qui :

(i) résume les observations regues au titre de 1’alinéa a),
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(ii) describes how the public was provided an
opportunity for meaningful participation as required
under paragraph (b),

(iii) lists the requests received for consultation under
paragraph (c), and

(iv) summarizes the consultations that occurred under
paragraph (c).

(2) For the purposes of paragraph (1)(c), jurisdiction means

(a) the government of a province;

(b) any agency or body that is established under an Act of
the legislature of a province and that has powers, duties or
functions in relation to the environment;

(¢) any body — including a co-management body — that
is established under a land claim agreement referred to in
section 35 of the Constitution Act, 1982 and that has
powers, duties or functions in relation to the environment;
or

(d) any council, government or other entity that is
authorized to act on behalf of an Indigenous group,
community or people that holds rights recognized and
affirmed by section 35 of the Constitution Act, 1982 and
that has powers, duties or functions in relation to the
environment

(i) under a land claim agreement referred to in
section 35 of the Constitution Act, 1982, or

(ii) under an Act of Parliament or an Act of the
legislature of a province, including a law that
implements a self-government agreement.

(3) For greater certainty, the requirement set out in
paragraph (1)(c) to consult and cooperate with a jurisdiction
includes, when appropriate, a duty to accommodate if the
jurisdiction is a body or entity referred to in paragraph (2)(c)
or (d)”.

I think, Mr. Chair, the committee members have a copy of this
amendment. I have also provided the proposed amendment to the
minister’s office, the office of the Minister of Fisheries and
Oceans.

The Chair: Does everybody have a copy of amendment DP1?

Go ahead, Senator Patterson.

Senator Patterson: If I could speak to the amendment,
Mr. Chair,Canada’s approach to creating MPAs and including
the vesting of final authority with the responsible minister has
not been well received by some. The Inuvialuit President Duane

(ii) décrit comment le public a eu la possibilité de
participer de fagon significative a 1’examen visé a
I’alinéa b),

(iii) dresse une liste des demandes de consultation
recues au titre de 1’alinéa c),

(iv) résume les consultations tenues en application de
I’alinéa c).

(2) Pour I’application de I’alinéa (1)c), instance s’entend
des entités suivantes :

a) le gouvernement d’une province;

b) tout organisme établi sous le régime d’une loi
provinciale ayant des attributions relatives a
I’environnement;

¢) tout organisme — de cogestion ou autre — établi par
un accord sur des revendications territoriales visé a
I’article 35 de la Loi constitutionnelle de 1982 et ayant
des attributions relatives a 1’environnement;

3

d) tout Conseil, gouvernement ou autre entité autorisé a
agir pour le compte d’un groupe, d’une collectivité ou
d’un peuple autochtones titulaires de droits reconnus et
confirmés par ’article 35 de la Loi constitutionnelle de
1982 et ayant des attributions relatives a 1’environnement
au titre :

(i) soit d’un accord sur des revendications territoriales
visé a I’article 35 de la Loi constitutionnelle de 1982,

(ii) soit d’une loi fédérale ou d’une loi provinciale,
notamment une loi mettant en ceuvre un accord sur
I’autonomie gouvernementale.

(3) 11 est entendu que I’exigence prévue a 1’alinéa (1)c) de
consulter une instance et de coopérer avec elle comprend, au
besoin, une obligation d’adaptation si I’instance est un
organisme ou une entité visés aux alinéas (2)c) ou d). ».

Monsieur le président, je crois que les membres du comité ont
un exemplaire de cet amendement. J’ai aussi transmis
I’amendement proposé au cabinet du ministre — le cabinet du
ministre des Péches et des Océans.

Le président : Est-ce que tout le monde a un exemplaire de
I’amendement DP1?

Nous vous écoutons, sénateur Patterson.

Le sénateur Patterson : Si vous me le permettez, monsieur le
président, je dirais a propos de cet amendement que certains
n’acceptent pas trés bien 1’approche du Canada concernant la
création de zones de protection marine, et notamment, le fait que



39:36

Fisheries and Oceans

21-3-2019

Smith raised before the committee his persistent objection
despite the inclusion of a non-derogation clause during
consideration by the House of Commons. Not all land claims are
created equal, and the added cause does not help to restore the
IRCs, that’s the Inuvialuit Regional Council’s, faith in the
ongoing the IIBA, Inuit Impact and Benefit Agreement
negotiations. These concerns were also raised in the House of
Commons committee by Premier Bob McLeod of the
Government of the Northwest Territories.

The Government of Nunavut, the GN, also raised the issue of
the impact of this bill on devolution. As you know, that’s the
process to negotiate transfer for management of lands and
resources onshore. It includes a commitment to also, in the
future, discuss co-management on the offshore.

Pre-commencement of devolution negotiations, an MOU was
signed between Canada and the Government of the Northwest
Territories and carried over to the Government of Nunavut to
discuss and eventually settle the issue of co-management of the
offshore.

We would love to have an arrangement like the Atlantic
Accords but it would also involve the Inuit who have rights in
the offshore and who establish sovereignty for Canada in the
offshore.

I should say the Inuit and the Inuvialuit.

The lack of a requirement of express permission from the
adjacent province — which means territory under the
Interpretation Act — to proceed with the establishment of an
MPA has been interpreted by the Government of Nunavut as an
act of bad faith, given the ongoing nature of the current
devolution negotiations.

We know that the government and southern interests are
looking to Nunavut for yet another Marine Protected Area,
which is why it is so important to the Government of Nunavut to
ensure that this bill bring certainty to the process for the
inclusion of the adjacent jurisdiction as a full-fledged decision
maker.

While we were toiling in the Senate, my assistant was at the
budget lock-up. I want to quote from today’s budget. It says, and
I quote:

The Government is exploring the potential creation of a
marine conservation area in the High Arctic Basin or
Tuvaijuittuq (which means “the ice never melts” in
Inuktitut . . . .

la décision finale appartienne au ministre responsable. Le
président inuvialuit, Duane Smith, a indiqué au comité qu’il
continue de s’opposer a cela malgré 1’inclusion d’une disposition
de non-dérogation au moment de I’examen du projet de loi par la
Chambre des communes. Les revendications territoriales ne sont
pas toutes égales, et les dispositions ajoutées ne contribuent pas a
redonner aux CRI — les conseils régionaux inuvialuit —
confiance dans les négociations de I’Entente sur les
répercussions et les avantages pour les Inuits, ou ERAI Le
premier ministre des Territoires du Nord-Ouest, Bob MacLeod, a
également soulevé ces préoccupations devant le comité de la
Chambre des communes.

Le gouvernement du Nunavut, le GN, a également soulevé la
question des effets de ce projet de loi sur le transfert des
responsabilités. Comme vous le savez, il s’agit du processus de
négociation du transfert de la gestion des terres et des ressources
infracoticres. Cela englobe I’engagement de discuter également a
I’avenir de la cogestion des ressources extracotiéres.

Avant le début des négociations du transfert des
responsabilités, le Canada et le gouvernement des Territoires du
Nord-Ouest ont signé un protocole d’entente qui a été ensuite
proposé au gouvernement du Nunavut en vue de la discussion et
du reéglement, a terme, de la question de la cogestion des
ressources extracotiéres.

Nous serions ravis d’avoir une entente comme les Accords
atlantiques, mais cela inclurait les Inuits qui ont des droits sur les
ressources extracotieres et qui établissent la souveraineté du
Canada sur les ressources extracotieres.

Je devrais préciser que ce sont les Inuits et les Inuvialuit.

L’absence d’une obligation d’obtenir la permission expresse
de la province adjacente — c’est-a-dire les territoires tels que
définis dans la Loi d’interprétation — avant de procéder a la
création d’une zone de protection marine est interprétée par le
gouvernement du Nunavut comme un geste de mauvaise foi,
étant donné que les négociations sur le transfert des
responsabilités se poursuivent.

Nous savons que le gouvernement et les parties intéressées du
Sud souhaitent établir au Nunavut une autre zone de protection
marine, et c’est la raison pour laquelle il est si important pour le
gouvernement du Nunavut de veiller a ce que ce projet de loi
garantisse que le processus inclue le territoire adjacent en tant
que décideur a part entiere.

Pendant que nous étions a travailler au Sénat, mon adjoint était
au huis clos budgétaire. J’aimerais citer un passage du budget
d’aujourd’hui :

Le gouvernement étudie la possibilité de créer une aire
marine de conservation dans le bassin de I’Extréme-
Arctique ou Tuvaijuittuq (« la glace ne fond jamais » en
innu)...
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I’ll pause here to say that the budget said “Innu,” but I’'m
correcting them, as Inuktitut is the dialect spoken in the Baffin
Region where I am from and the Innu are a First Nations group
in Labrador, but I digress. I wanted to point out that small
geographical error in the Minister of Finance’s budget address.

The budget goes on to say that the High Arctic Basin is:

. . . the last portion of the Arctic region expected to retain
summer sea ice until at least 2050. The Government will
work with the Government of Nunavut and Qikiqtani Inuit
Association to advance this important conservation
initiative, while also working to support the development of
a conservation economy in the region.

Chair, committee members, the Government of Canada, in
today’s budget, is already committed to work with the
Government of Nunavut and the adjacent rights holder, the
regional Inuit association, to advance this important conservation
initiative. They have committed to doing what my amendment
modestly proposes — consult and cooperate. They have said they
will do that. I would like to quote from the DFO website:

Fisheries and Oceans Canada (DFO) and Parks Canada
Agency (PSA) will work with Indigenous, Northern and
international partners to explore the best ways to
collaboratively —

That’s a word that resonates with my amendment.

— to collaboratively protect and manage this area, and to
establish protected areas in Canada’s portion of the High
Arctic.

I want to emphasize the word, “collaboratively.” There is a
high degree of interest from Southern-based environmental
organizations in this initiative. The World Wildlife Fund has
been very active and they say this about the High Arctic Basin:

Limiting climate change is the most important thing we can
do for ice-associated life, but we can also take action
locally. We can avoid additional threats from activities such
as oil and gas exploration, commercial fishing, tourism and

shipping.

Now, Mr. Chair, I want to say, really — shipping? You know
we depend for our annual resupply on shipping. Tourism is a
newly developing, important source of economic activity for
communities. We have the Crystal Serenity visiting the Arctic in

Je vais m’arréter ici pour dire que le budget dit « innu ». Je
tiens a les corriger, car I’inuktitut est le dialecte parlé dans la
région de Baffin, d’ou je suis originaire, alors que les Innus sont
un groupe des Premieres Nations du Labrador, mais je m’¢éloigne
du sujet. Je tenais a souligner cette légére erreur de nature
géographique commise dans le discours du budget du ministre
des Finances.

Je poursuis ma lecture de ce qu’on dit dans le budget a propos
du bassin de I’Extréme-Arctique :

... la derniére partie de la région de 1’Arctique qui devrait
conserver sa glace de mer en été jusqu’en 2050 au moins. Le
gouvernement collaborera avec le gouvernement du
Nunavut et avec 1’Association inuite du Qikiqtani afin de
faire progresser cette initiative de conservation importante,
tout en collaborant au développement d’une économie de
conservation dans la région.

Monsieur le président, mesdames et messieurs les membres du
comité, le gouvernement du Canada, dans le budget qu’il
présente aujourd’hui, s’engage déja a travailler avec le
gouvernement du Nunavut et avec les titulaires de droits
adjacents, 1’association inuite régionale, afin de réaliser cette
importante initiative de conservation. Il s’est engagé a faire ce
que mon amendement propose modestement — consulter et
coopérer. Il a dit qu’il ferait cela. J’aimerais citer quelque chose
qui se trouve sur le site web de Péches et Océans Canada.

Péches et Océans Canada et 1I’Agence Parcs Canada
travailleront avec des partenaires autochtones, nordiques et
internationaux afin d’explorer les meilleures fagons de
protéger et de gérer cette zone en collaboration...

Voila un mot qui se retrouve dans mon amendement.

... et d’établir des zones protégées dans la partie canadienne
de I’Extréme-Arctique.

Je tiens a souligner le mot « collaboration ». Cette initiative
suscite énormément 1’intérét d’organismes environnementaux du
Sud. Le Fonds mondial pour la nature est trés actif a cet égard, et
voici ce qu’il dit a propos du bassin de I’Extréme-Arctique.

Limiter les changements climatiques est la chose la plus
importante que nous puissions faire pour protéger les
especes qui vivent des glaces, mais nous pouvons également
agir localement. Nous pouvons écarter les menaces
additionnelles venant des activités comme 1’exploration
pétroliére et gaziére, la péche commerciale, le tourisme et le
transport maritime.

Monsieur le président, j’ai le golt de dire, vraiment? Le
transport maritime? Vous savez que nous dépendons du transport
maritime pour notre réapprovisionnement annuel. Le tourisme
est une source nouvelle et importante d’activité économique pour
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recent years. And commercial fishery is a growing industry, as I
think the committee has heard, which employs over 300 Inuit
right now.

I make this point about the advocacy of the World Wildlife
Fund and other organizations like the Lewis Pugh Foundation
and Oceans North because I believe it is imperative that
Northerners have the final decision on what areas are to be
protected — or at least that Northerners have a strong voice in
making the final decision on what areas are to be protected and
what opportunities are to be foreclosed, perhaps, in the name of
conservation.

I think this amendment will not increase the time it would take
to establish an MPA. Instead it is seeking to bring certainty as to
how that time will be used and what the process will look like.
The government claims — and I think your committee has heard
from the minister and officials — that the process is going to be
inclusive. I think they presented a chart about the consultation
process to be undertaken. My plea to committee colleagues is,
why not codify that process and describe it in law?

With the greatest of respect to Senator McInnis’ amendment
relating to the Atlantic, this is not a veto nor consent. It is
collaboration and consultation.

When IRC President Duane Smith appeared before this
committee on February 6, 2019, Senators Gold and Bovey
responded to his submissions to the committee and asked
whether he suggest changes to the process outlined in this bill?
Senator Bovey, as well, asked in that vein.

Colleagues, I have shared this amendment with the Inuvialuit
Regional Corporation and the Government of Nunavut. After
some back-and-forth with them and the Law Clerk, I have
prepared this amendment before you today. The Law Clerk used
language on consultation and accommodation currently found in
Bill C-69 which is now before the Senate and tweaked that
language to fit this bill.

My question: If the government is dedicated to this process —
and I’ve given you some quotes about how they publicly
committed as recently as in today’s budget — and is comfortable
in laying it out in detail in another bill — namely Bill C-69 —
why not in this one? Why not hold the government and future
governments to a process outlined in the law?

If I may, Mr. Chair, I have a letter from Duane Ningagsiq
Smith, Chair and CEO of the Inuvialuit Regional Corporation,
dated today. It is just in English, but I would like to briefly read

les collectivités. Le Crystal Serenity vient visiter 1’Arctique,
depuis quelques années. Et je crois que le comité a entendu que
la péche commerciale est une industrie en croissance qui emploie
plus de 300 Inuits en ce moment.

Je souligne cela au sujet du travail de défense du Fonds
mondial pour la nature et d’autres organisations comme la
Fondation Lewis Pugh et Océans Nord, parce que je trouve
impératif que les gens du Nord aient le dernier mot sur les zones
qui doivent étre protégées, ou du moins que les gens du Nord
soient fortement représentés au moment de la prise de décisions
sur les zones qui doivent étre protégées et sur les possibilités qui
seront restreintes au nom de la conservation.

Je crois que cet amendement n’aura pas pour effet de
prolonger le temps requis pour 1’établissement d’une zone de
protection marine. On cherche plutot a préciser la facon dont ce
temps sera utilisé et I’allure que prendra le processus. Le
gouvernement prétend — et je crois que votre comité a entendu
le ministre et les fonctionnaires le dire — que le processus sera
inclusif. Je crois qu’ils ont présenté un diagramme montrant le
processus de consultation a entreprendre. Ce que je demande a
mes colléegues du comité, c’est d’inscrire et de décrire ce
processus dans la loi.

Avec le plus grand respect pour I’amendement proposé par le
sénateur Mclnnis au sujet de 1’Atlantique, je précise qu’il n’est
pas question d’un veto ou d’un consentement. Il est question de
collaboration et de consultation.

Quand le président de la Société régionale inuvialuit, Duane
Smith, a comparu devant le comité, le 6 février 2019, les
sénateurs Gold et Bovey ont répondu a ce qu’il avait soumis au
comité et lui ont demandé s’il suggérait des changements au
processus énoncé dans le projet de loi. La sénatrice Bovey est
allée dans la méme veine.

Chers collégues, j’ai montré cet amendement a la Société
régionale inuvialuit et au gouvernement du Nunavut. Aprés
quelques propositions et révisions de leur part et de celle du
légiste, j’ai préparé 1’amendement que je vous présente
aujourd’hui. Le légiste a utilisé le libellé relatif a la consultation
et a I’adaptation du projet de loi C-69 qui est en ce moment a
I’é¢tude au Sénat et 1’a adapté au présent projet de loi.

Voici ma question. Si le gouvernement est déterminé a
appliquer ce processus — et je vous ai cité certains propos
montrant son engagement public, entre autres, pas plus tard que
dans le budget d’aujourd’hui —, et s’il est a 1’aise d’énoncer cela
dans un autre projet de loi, notamment le projet de loi C-69,
pourquoi ne pas le faire dans celui-ci? Pourquoi ne pas imposer
au gouvernement et a tous les gouvernements futurs un processus
qui serait énoncé dans la loi?

Si vous me le permettez, monsieur le président, j’ai une lettre
de Duane Ningagsiq Smith, président et directeur général de la
Société régionale inuvialuit, qui porte la date d’aujourd’hui. Je
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the three paragraphs, if I may. It is supporting the proposed  vais vous en lire les trois paragraphes. Il appuie les amendements
amendments to Bill C-55. It is addressed to you, Mr. Chair: proposés au projet de loi C-55. Cela s’adresse a vous, monsieur

Thank you for considering my presentation to the committee
last month. We appreciate the questions that you and your
colleagues raised.

Since that presentation, IRC has worked closely with
Senator Patterson and his office to find a legislative solution
to the issues we and others have raised with respect to
Bill C-55.

The text that Senator Patterson and his office have
developed with our input help ensure that rights holders are
adequately notified, consulted and, where appropriate,
accommodated where a Marine Protected Area is proposed.
As the Inuvialuit Final Agreement does not have the benefit
of some of the key terms of more modern land claim
agreements, and as a ministerial order under Section 35.1(2)
of the bill could impose extensive impacts on our region, it
is our position that this text is necessary to provide clear
instructions to those responsible for implementing the
Oceans Act over the long term. Non-derogation clauses,
while essential, are not sufficient in this case.

le président.

Je vous remercie de tenir compte de I’exposé que j’ai
présenté au comité le mois dernier. Nous vous savons gré
des questions que vous-méme et vos collégues avez
soulevées.

Depuis cet exposé, la Société régionale inuvialuit travaille
en étroite collaboration avec le sénateur Patterson et avec
son bureau afin de trouver une solution de nature législative
aux enjeux que nous-mémes et d’autres personnes avons
soulevés concernant le projet de loi C-55.

Le libelle établi par le sénateur Patterson et son bureau avec
notre contribution contribue a garantir que les détenteurs de
droits sont convenablement avisés et consultés, et que des
mesures d’adaptation sont prises au besoin si une zone de
protection marine est proposée. Etant donné que la
Convention définitive des Inuvialuit n’a pas 1’avantage de
certaines des modalités clés comprises dans des ententes
plus modernes sur les revendications territoriales, et étant
donné qu’un arrété ministériel en vertu du
paragraphe 35.1(2) du projet de loi pourrait avoir des
répercussions considérables sur notre région, nous estimons
que ce libellé est nécessaire afin de donner des directives
claires a ceux qui sont responsables de la mise en ceuvre de
la Loi sur les océans a long terme. Les dispositions de non-
dérogation sont essentielles, mais elles ne sont pas
suffisantes en I’espece.

I have copies of that letter, unfortunately in English only. J’ai  cette lettre en plusieurs exemplaires, mais,
malheureusement, en anglais seulement.

Mr. Chair, I just want to ask committee members to consider Monsieur le président, je veux tout simplement demander aux
the key testimony we heard from two premiers, from Nunavut membres du comité de tenir compte des témoignages importants
and the Northwest Territories — Canada’s longest coastline. des deux premiers ministres que nous avons entendus, ceux du

Honourable Joe Savikataaq gave this testimony before our

committee on February 26:

I want to reiterate that we are not against the creation of
protected areas but rather we need a decision-making role in
the process. We have expressed our concerns with the
general failure of Canada to involve the Government of
Nunavut in this decision-making process, with respect to
marine protected areas on a number of specific
occasions . . . .

With Bill C-55, there is no consultation process. If it passes
as is, the DFO minister can say that this area is protected,

Nunavut et des Territoires du Nord-Ouest, territoires qui
constituent la cote la plus longue du Canada.

L’honorable Joe Savikataaq a témoigné devant notre comité le
26 février et a dit :

Je tiens a répéter que nous ne sommes pas opposés a la
création d’aires protégées, mais que nous soutenons que
nous devons jouer un role dans le processus décisionnel.
Nous avons exprimé a des occasions précises nos
préoccupations au sujet de 1’incapacité générale du
gouvernement du Canada a faire participer le gouvernement
du Nunavut a son processus décisionnel concernant les
zones de protection marine...

Il n’y a aucune consultation de prévue aux termes du projet
de loi C-55. Si le texte est adopté tel quel, le ministre
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and then we have five years to justify why it should be one.
We think that’s backwards.

Bob McLeod, Premier of the Government of Northwest
Territories, testified at the House of Commons committee:

Bill C-55 has made it all the way through second reading in
the House of Commons, and contains significant increases
in Ministerial power and authority, and yet again, the
GNWT was not consulted on its development. Specifically,
we are very concerned with the amended ability for the
Minister of Fisheries and Oceans to designate Marine
Protected Areas by order and without consultation.

Mr. Smith testified here on February 6:

Inuvialuit are concerned that establishment of MPAs by
ministerial order under the Oceans Act and the further
limitation on development by prohibition order under the
CPRA will reduce our meaningful participation in the future
of our region and exacerbate these implementation problems
we are already experiencing.

And you will recall Mr. Smith talked about having participated
with Canada in the development of no less than two Marine
Protected Areas and the implementation problems that they were
experiencing. He knows of what he speaks. And the director of
B.C. Seafood Alliance said:

. one of our concerns was that the bill sent to you for
review did not provide that the minister must consult with
those who would be affected by permanent MPA closures.
Consultation is what we need in order to get durable
solutions that all parties will support over the long term.

Mr. Ken Paul, Director of Fisheries, Assembly of First
Nations, February 21, 2019:

The draft bill does not provide any requirement to
consider Indigenous knowledge with respect to section 35
rights. In addition to concerns about the lack of protection
for section 35 rights generally in Bill C-55, the proposed bill
does not require or consider Indigenous knowledge or the
protection of section 35 rights when making designations.

This is very problematic, especially given the breadth of
some of the proposed legislation and order-making
provisions.

des Péches et des Océans peut dire que la zone est protégée,
et nous aurons cinq ans pour justifier cette affirmation. Nous
trouvons que c’est I’inverse de ce qui devrait se faire.

Bob McLeod, premier ministre des Territoires du Nord-Ouest,
a comparu devant le comité de la Chambre :

Le projet de loi C-55, qui a passé 1’étape de la deuxiéme
lecture a la Chambre des communes, prévoit un
accroissement important de pouvoirs ministériels. Une fois
de plus, le gouvernement des Territoires du Nord-Ouest n’a
pas été consulté pour I’¢laboration du document. Nous
sommes tout particulierement préoccupés par la
modification du pouvoir accordé au ministre des Péches et
des Océans pour désigner des zones de protection marine
par arrété et sans consultation.

M. Smith est venu témoigner ici le 6 février :

Les Inuvialuit craignent que 1’établissement de ZPM par
décret ministériel en vertu de la Loi sur les océans et la
restriction supplémentaire du développement par décret
d’interdiction en vertu de la LFH réduisent le niveau de leur
participation aux décisions déterminantes pour I’avenir de la
région et exacerbent les problémes de mise en ceuvre que
nous connaissons déja.

Vous vous souviendrez que M. Smith a dit avoir participé avec
le Canada a la création de pas moins que deux zones de
protection marine et a décrit les problémes encourus pendant la
création. Il parle en connaissance de cause. La directrice de la
B.C. Seafood Alliance a indiqué :

[...] 'une de nos préoccupations, c’est que le projet de loi
qui vous a été renvoyé pour étude ne précise pas que le
ministre doit consulter les personnes qui sont touchées par
des désignations permanentes des ZPM. Nous avons besoin
de consultations afin de trouver des solutions durables que
toutes les parties soutiendront a long terme.

M. Ken Paul, directeur des péches de 1’Assemblée des
Premicres Nations, a comparu le 21 février 2019 :

Le projet de loi ne prévoit aucune exigence pour tenir
compte du savoir autochtone au titre des droits protégés par
I’article 35. Outre les préoccupations générales concernant
les lacunes du projet de loi C-55 quant aux droits protégés
par D’article 35, soulignons que le projet de loi ne prévoit ou
n’exige pas de prendre en considération le savoir autochtone
ou les droits protégés par 1’article 35 dans le processus de
désignation.

C’est trés problématique, surtout lorsqu’on considére la
portée de certaines dispositions relatives aux mesures
législatives et aux décrets qui sont proposés dans le projet
de loi.
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To conclude, I think we have a duty in the Senate to propose
constructive amendments. I believe this amendment is consistent
with the process that was described by the Minister of Fisheries
and Oceans, with a process that is on the DFO website, with the
commitments made in the budget, talking about the High Arctic
Basin. By the way, with the greatest of respect to Marine
Protected Areas in, say, the Atlantic or elsewhere, with the High
Arctic Basin proposed — and there are discussions well
advanced within the department about preserving these areas.
They have engaged the Inuit of the region — this is an area that
is 109,000 square kilometres. This is, with all respect, twice size
of the land area of the province of Nova Scotia. It is one third the
size of Alberta. It will contribute 1.9 per cent of Canada’s entire
marine areas if it becomes a protected area.

All the duly elected representatives of the peoples of Nunavut
and the Northwest Territories are asking, modestly, is to be
consulted and to have the opportunity to participate in a
collaborative process, which I believe the government is publicly
committed to doing. But we’ve got to put it in the legislation to
provide that comfort and security and, frankly, respect for the
adjacent jurisdictions. Those are my submissions, Mr. Chair.

The Chair: Thank you for your proposed amendment. I’'m
going to suspend the meeting for a few moments. It is kind of out
of the ordinary, but I am allowed to do it, so I will do it. I am
going to have a chat with the deputy chair because we are
pushing on time. We still have another amendment. It is a very
important debate. I do not want to cut off the debate, and I don’t
want to hit eight o’clock.

I will suspend for a few minutes, and chat with my deputy
chair, we will come back and have a plan that we will all go
along with. Is everyone okay with that?

(The committee suspended.)
(The committee resumed.)

The Chair: I call the meeting back to order. I realize what I
did may be a little bit out of the ordinary. I like to be different
anyway, so it doesn’t really matter. In consultation with the
deputy chair, Senator Patterson has made a large amendment, a
compelling argument he has put forward. We felt that, starting
the discussion here tonight, with seven people around the table
who may want to ask questions, make comments, even from our
guests and we are dragged into the night, that we may not get to
it.

We will finish up our meeting this evening and reconvene on
Thursday morning. We will be dealing Senator Patterson’s
amendment on Thursday morning. Hopefully we will have an
ample discussion, and any concerns anybody has raised,
whatever the case will be, we will deal with. We have two

Pour terminer, je vous dis que nous avons une obligation ici au
Sénat de proposer des amendements constructifs. Je crois que
mon amendement est conforme au processus décrit par le
ministre des Péches et des Océans, c’est-a-dire le processus
affiché sur le site web du ministére, et aux engagements pris
dans le budget a 1’égard du bassin de I’Extréme-Arctique. En
passant, j’ai beaucoup de respect a 1’égard des zones de
protection marine dans 1’Atlantique et ailleurs, comme celle
proposée dans le bassin de I’Extéme-Arctique, et les discussions
sont bien avancées avec le ministére pour protéger ces zones. Le
gouvernement a consulté les Inuits de la région sur une zone qui
fait 109 000 kilométres carrés. C’est deux fois le territoire de la
Nouvelle-Ecosse et un tiers de I’Alberta et la zone représentera
1,9 p. 100 des zones marines totales du Canada si elle est
protégée.

Les représentants diment élus des peuples du Nunavut et des
Territoires du Nord-Ouest demandent seulement et poliment a
étre consultés et a avoir la possibilité de participer a un processus
collaboratif, et il me semble que le gouvernement s’est engagé
publiquement a procéder ainsi. Nous devons cependant ajouter
des dispositions dans le projet de loi pour le garantir et bien
franchement, garantir également un traitement de respect a
I’égard des territoires avoisinants. Voila ce que je propose,
monsieur le président.

Le président : Merci de votre amendement. Je vais
interrompre la séance pendant quelques instants. Ce n’est pas
habituel, mais je peux le faire et je le ferai. Je vais discuter avec
notre vice-président, parce que nous allons manquer de temps. Il
nous reste un autre amendement & examiner. Le débat est trés
important et je ne veux pas l’arréter, mais je ne veux pas non
plus que nous poursuivions jusqu’a 20 heures.

Je vais faire une pause de quelques minutes et parler avec le
vice-président. Nous vous reviendrons avec une proposition qui
fera I’affaire de tous. Tout le monde est d’accord?

(La séance est suspendue.)
(La séance reprend.)

Le président : Reprenons. Je sais que j’ai procédé d’une
facon inhabituelle. De toute facon, ce n’est pas grave, j’aime
bien étre original. J’ai consulté le vice-président, car le sénateur
Patterson a proposé un amendement de taille, avec de bons
arguments a 1’appui. Nous pensons que puisqu’il y a sept
personnes autour de la table ce soir qui voudraient peut-&tre
poser des questions et faire des observations, et comme nos
invités pourraient vouloir participer également, la séance risque
de se prolonger et nous n’aurons peut-étre pas fini.

Nous allons terminer notre réunion ce soir et nous retrouver
jeudi matin. Nous serons saisis de 1’amendement du sénateur
Patterson jeudi matin. J’espére que nous pourrons en discuter de
fagon approfondie et que tout le monde pourra soulever ses
préoccupations éventuelles et obtenir des précisions. Nous avons
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amendments, two other amendments to deal with after that. This
is the large amendment and it has taken some time for Senator
Patterson to explain it and [ —

Senator Patterson: I hope not too much time.

The Chair: My concern is that someone will start asking you
questions and you will have to explain it all over again. I don’t
want to start a discussion and then kind of end the discussion; I
would rather that we were all here focused in on Thursday
morning as the discussion starts and then we will have heard
from Senator Patterson.

Everybody has understood his reasoning for the amendment,
so now we can have that discussion all at once. I don’t want to
split that discussion in half. With the cooperation of Senator
Gold, that’s the process we’re going with.

[s everybody okay with that process?

Senator Bovey: Can we meet your objectives on Thursday if
we start at 8:30? It’s your decision, not mine.

Senator Mclnnis: There’s Senator Patterson’s amendment
and then I have two.

Senator Munson: Chair, I won’t be able to attend the
Thursday meeting because I’m the deputy chair of the Internal
Economy Committee and we meet at eight for two hours on
Thursday morning. You’ll have enough to have substantial
debate.

The Chair: 1 don’t like eight o’clock meetings either, to be
honest with you. We have this amendment and two other
amendments to deal with. When we looked at what we did here
this evening, I think we will have to start at eight o’clock on
Thursday morning.

Is everybody agreed? It’s 8 a.m. Thursday morning.

Senator Munson: You can ask the witnesses if they want to
come.

The Chair: You want to drop by at eight o’clock on Thursday
morning? See you here. We’ll have tea and coffee on.

(The committee adjourned.)

deux amendements qui suivront aprés. Nous sommes
actuellement saisis d’un grand amendement et le sénateur
Patterson a pris du temps pour I’expliquer, et je...

Le sénateur Patterson : J’espére que je n’ai pas pris trop de
temps.

Le président : Je crains que quelqu’un ne commence a vous
poser des questions et que vous n’ayez a répéter vos
explications. Je ne veux pas lancer la discussion et couper court
aux échanges; je préférerais que nous nous retrouvions ici frais et
dispos jeudi matin pour commencer la discussion et obtenir des

explications du sénateur Patterson.

Tout le monde a compris la raison d’étre de 1’amendement et
nous pourrons en débattre en une seule s€ance. Je ne veux pas
interrompre la discussion. La sénateur Gold est d’accord avec ce
que je propose.

Cela vous va?

La sénatrice Bovey : Pouvons-nous commencer a 8 h 30 et
faire ce que vous proposez jeudi matin? C’est vous qui décidez,
pas moi.

Le sénateur Mclnnis : Il y a I’amendement du sénateur
Patterson, et ensuite j’en ai deux.

Le sénateur Munson : Monsieur le président, je ne pourrai
participer a la séance prévue jeudi, car je suis vice-président du
Comité de la régie interne et nous nous réunissons a 8 heures
pendant 2 heures le jeudi matin. Vous aurez néanmoins
suffisamment de membres présents pour nourrir un bon débat.

Le président : Franchement, je n’aime pas non plus les
réunions a 8 heures. Or, nous sommes saisis de cet amendement
ainsi que de deux autres. Etant donné le travail effectué ce soir,
je crois que nous serons obligés de commencer a 8 heures jeudi
matin.

Tout le monde est d’accord? Nous nous retrouvons a 8 heures
jeudi matin.

Le sénateur Munson : Vous pouvez demander aux témoins
s’ils veulent venir.

Le président : Souhaitez-vous venir a 8 heures jeudi matin?
Nous vous attendrons. Il y aura du café et du thé.

(La séance est levée.)
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EVIDENCE
OTTAWA, Thursday, March 21, 2019

The Standing Senate Committee on Fisheries and Oceans, to
which was referred Bill C-55, An Act to amend the Oceans Act
and the Canada Petroleum Resources Act, met this day at
8:06 a.m. to give clause-by-clause consideration to the bill.

Senator Fabian Manning (Chair) in the chair.
[English]

The Chair: Welcome to our guests, one of whom had to leave
because of illness. Josée Annie Verville will be the replacement.

We are continuing with our study on Bill C-55. Tuesday night
we finished up with Senator Patterson presenting his amendment.
I trust that all committee members have DP1 at the top of the

page.

Senator Patterson gave a very detailed explanation of his
amendment, but I will give him three or four minutes to present a
Coles Notes version for a couple of senators who may not have
been here the other day.

Senator Patterson: Thank you, Mr. Chair. I'll try to be
concise. This is a modest amendment that only proposes
consultation and cooperation. The reason for this amendment is
that we have heard Premier Savikataaq and before him we had a
letter from Premier Taptuna from Nunavut saying that
consultation was not happening.

The committee received, and I’ll ask to pass this around, a
lovely coloured chart from the officials and the minister talking
about proposed steps to designate an interim protection area. It
talks about the federal, provincial and territorial multi-
stakeholder bioregional processes already under way. In the
proposed steps, the minister says they will consult with adjacent
jurisdictions and stakeholders, and that would include
Indigenous rights holders.

If the officials and the minister say they’re already proposing
to do that, let’s put it in the bill to make sure it happens. We have
heard these promises from governments before in the Senate. On
Bill C-17, the government made promises about the YESAB the
process in Yukon that haven’t been delivered on. On Bill S-3,
gender discrimination under the Indian Act and the promises to
get rid of the 1951 cutoff when we were looking at it in
committee didn’t happen and still hasn’t happened. On Bill C-45,
the cannabis bill, the promises from the government that they
would look at the rights of Aboriginal people to have a piece of
the excise tax and to deal with treatment centres is still a work in

TEMOIGNAGES
OTTAWA, le jeudi 21 mars 2019

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des péches et des océans,
auquel a été renvoyé le projet de loi C-55, Loi modifiant la Loi
sur les océans et la Loi fédérale sur les hydrocarbures, se réunit
aujourd’hui, a 8 h 6, pour faire I’étude article par article du
projet de loi.

Le sénateur Fabian Manning (président) occupe le fauteuil.
[Traduction]

Le président : J’aimerais souhaiter la bienvenue a nos
invités. Une personne a di partir pour des raisons de maladie.
Josée Annie Verville la remplacera.

Nous poursuivons notre étude du projet de loi C-55. Mardi
dernier, nous avons terminé avec le sénateur Patterson, qui a
présenté son amendement. Je suis sir que tous les membres du
comité ont I’amendement DP1 en main.

Le sénateur Patterson a fourni une explication trés détaillée de
son amendement, mais je vais lui donner trois ou quatre minutes
pour présenter une version abrégée de son amendement pour
quelques sénateurs qui étaient absents ce jour-1a.

Le sénateur Patterson : Merci, monsieur le président. Je
m’efforcerai d’étre bref. C’est un modeste amendement qui ne
fait que proposer la consultation et la coopération. Cet
amendement a été proposé parce que le premier ministre du
Nunavut, M. Savikataaq, a dit qu’il n’y avait pas eu de
consultations et parce qu’un premier ministre précédent,
M. Taptuna, nous avait envoyé une lettre sur ce sujet.

Les représentants ministériels et le ministre ont envoyé au
comité — et je vous demanderais de le distribuer — un trés beau
diagramme en couleurs qui illustre les étapes proposées pour
désigner une zone protégée provisoire. Ce diagramme invoque
les processus biorégionaux multipartites qui sont déja en cours a
I’échelon fédéral, provincial et territorial. Dans les étapes
proposées, le ministre dit que les administrations et les parties
intéressées voisines seront consultées — et cela comprend les
titulaires de droits ancestraux.

Si les représentants ministériels et le ministre affirment qu’ils
proposent déja de faire cela, ajoutons ces mesures dans le projet
de loi pour veiller a ce qu’elles soient mises en ceuvre. Nous
avons déja entendu des gouvernements faire ces promesses au
Sénat. Dans le cadre du projet de loi C-17, le gouvernement avait
fait des promesses liées au processus de I’OEESEY, au
Yukon — ces promesses n’ont pas été concrétisées. Lorsque le
comité a examiné le projet de loi S-3, on avait promis d’éliminer
la discrimination fondée sur le sexe et le seuil de 1951 dans la
Loi sur les Indiens, mais on ne I’a pas encore fait a ce jour. Dans
le projet de loi C-45, le projet de loi sur le cannabis,
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progress. So I’m saying let’s accept and welcome these great
promises, but make sure it happens by putting it in the bill.

We know the High Arctic Basin is the next marine protected
area. It was in the budget two days ago. It’s 100,000-plus square
kilometres, a huge area. The Government of Nunavut has told us
they haven’t been involved. As far as rights holders are
concerned, I know we received a last-minute letter from West
Coast Environmental Law saying that all Indigenous rights are
protected under section 35.

The Chair: Excuse me, Senator Patterson. I just want to make
sure that everyone is aware and has received a copy of this. Go
ahead, sir.

Senator Patterson: I draw special attention to Inuvialuit
Regional Corporation President Duane Smith who said that
Aboriginal rights holders should be consulted. Land claims
agreements don’t always take care of these issues. In particular,
Mr. Smith said this was required and that my proposed
amendment would allay the concerns he presented to us in his
testimony.

For context, this is required because the Inuvialuit Final
Agreement does not contain the same express requirements as
newer land claims agreements for the quid pro quo establishment
of [IBAs, Inuit impact benefit agreements, where areas are set
aside for conservation. The Inuvialuit Final Agreement was one
the first comprehensive claims agreements and it does not
provide those assurances.

Out of an abundance of caution, colleagues, and only requiring
what the government has pledged already that it will do, the
amendment proposes consultation and cooperation. It’s a pretty
modest amendment. Perhaps there’s a new government or new
players coming in this fall. I don’t think promises made in
committee or in testimony are enough assurance, especially for
rights holders in the offshore. We haven’t received testimony
from Nunavut Tunngavik, the rights holder in Nunavut, Canada’s
longest coastline, but I can tell the committee that there is also a
concern about the requirement to consult with them.

We’ve heard from the Inuvialuit. That alone should be enough
to allow us to approve this modest amendment. The government
is already proposing to do it. Let’s cement that with this

le gouvernement avait promis de se pencher sur les droits des
peuples autochtones de recevoir une partie de la taxe d’accise et
de régler la question des centres de traitements, mais les travaux
a cet égard se poursuivent. Je suggere donc d’accepter et
d’accueillir ces belles promesses, mais de veiller a ce qu’elles se
réalisent en les intégrant au projet de loi.

Nous savons que le bassin de I’Extréme-Arctique sera la
prochaine zone de protection marine. C’était dans le budgetily a
deux jours. Il s’agit de plus de 100 000 kilométres carrés; c’est
un énorme territoire. Le gouvernement du Nunavut nous a dit
qu’il n’avait pas participé a ce processus. En ce qui concerne les
titulaires de droits, je sais que nous avons regu, a la derniére
minute, une lettre de la West Coast Environmental Law
Association qui indique que tous les droits autochtones sont
protégés en vertu de ’article 35.

Le président : Excusez-moi, sénateur Patterson. Je tiens
seulement a m’assurer que tout le monde est au courant et a regu
un exemplaire de cette lettre. Allez-y, monsieur.

Le sénateur Patterson : J’aimerais attirer votre attention sur
le président de la Société régionale inuvialuit, Duane Smith, qui
a affirmé que les titulaires de droits ancestraux devraient &tre
consultés. En effet, les accords de revendications territoriales ne
réglent pas toujours ces questions. De plus, M. Smith a précisé
que c’était une exigence et que I’amendement que je propose
réglerait les préoccupations qu’il nous a présentées dans son
témoignage.

Pour vous donner un peu de contexte, c’est une exigence parce
que la Convention définitive des Inuvialuit ne renferme pas les
mémes exigences que les accords de revendications territoriales
plus récents en ce qui a trait a la mise en ceuvre des ERAI c’est-
a-dire les Ententes sur les répercussions et les avantages pour les
Inuits, en compensation dans les endroits ou des zones sont
réservées a des fins de préservation. La Convention définitive
des Inuvialuit était 1’un des premiers accords sur les
revendications globales et elle ne fournit pas ces assurances.

Par exceés de prudence, chers collégues, et en demandant
seulement au gouvernement de faire ce qu’il a déja promis,
I’amendement propose de mener des consultations et de
pratiquer la coopération. C’est un amendement plutét modeste. 11
y aura peut-étre un nouveau gouvernement ou de nouveaux
intervenants a ’automne. Je ne crois pas que des promesses
faites devant un comité ou dans le cadre d’un témoignage offrent
une certitude suffisante, surtout pour les titulaires de droits
extracotiers. Nous n’avons pas entendu le témoignage des
représentants de Nunavut Tunngavik, le titulaire des droits sur la
plus longue cote canadienne, au Nunavut, mais je peux dire aux
membres du comité qu’ils sont également préoccupés au sujet de
I’exigence de les consulter.

Nous avons entendu les témoignages des Inuvialuit. Cela
devrait étre suffisant pour nous convaincre d’approuver ce
modeste amendement. Le gouvernement propose déja de faire
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reasonable amendment to require consultation and cooperation
with adjacent jurisdictions and adjacent rights holders. It’s a
modest proposal, and I would urge my colleagues to support it.

We are in an era of reconciliation and respect for Aboriginal
rights. We’ve had an Aboriginal organization from the Beaufort
Sea tells us that this amendment would satisfy the concerns they
expressed to us very clearly. I tabled the letter at our last meeting
saying that the amendment would ensure that rights holders are
adequately notified, consulted and, where appropriate,
accommodated where a marine protected area is proposed. This
is from an organization that has already participated in the
development of two marine protected areas and is concerned
about how that has been implemented.

That’s my proposal, Mr. Chair.
The Chair: Thank you, Senator Patterson.

Senator Bovey: Thank you, senator, for the Coles Notes
version of your compelling speech of the other day. I want to put
on record that Senator Patterson and I have spoken. He knows
the questions I’ve had in my head and heart as we look at this
amendment. I have some questions, though, if I may, for
Mr. MacDonald or for anyone at the table.

In looking at what Senator Patterson has defined as a modest
proposal, is there anything in this proposed amendment that is
not already in the bill? Then I will have further questions, if I
may.

Jeff MacDonald, Director General, Oceans and Fisheries
Policy, Fisheries and Oceans Canada: Some aspects of what
is proposed with regard to the obligation to cooperate with other
levels of government, boards, agencies of the Government of
Canada, provincial and territorial governments and affected
Aboriginal organizations are in the Oceans Act already in
section 33.

Other aspects related to the notice and publication of
regulations and the intent to regulate are already part of a
different statute known as the Statutory Instruments Act that
guides all departments and agencies in the preparation of
regulations. Because regulations are statutory instruments, they
have the force of law behind them. We are obliged to follow the
Statutory Instruments Act when we are proposing regulations.
Further to that, as a result of that legislation, there is a cabinet
directive on regulations which lays out more specifically what all
departments and agencies proposing a regulation must follow in
terms of the process.

cela. Rendons cela officiel par 1’adoption de cet amendement
raisonnable qui exige de mener des consultations et de pratiquer
la coopération avec les administrations et les titulaires de droits
voisins. C’est une modeste proposition, et j’exhorte mes
collégues a I’appuyer.

Nous sommes dans une ére de réconciliation et de respect des
droits des Autochtones. Les représentants d’un organisme
autochtone de la mer de Beaufort nous ont dit que cet
amendement réglerait les préoccupations qu’ils nous ont trés
clairement exprimées. J’ai présenté cette lettre lors de notre
derniére réunion en précisant que cet amendement veillerait a ce
que les titulaires de droits soient adéquatement avisés, consultés
et, s’il y a lieu, accommodés lorsqu’une zone de protection
marine est proposée. Cela vient d’un organisme qui a déja
participé a la création de deux zones de protection marine et qui
est préoccupé par la fagon dont ces processus se sont déroulés.

C’est donc ce que je propose, monsieur le président.
Le président : Merci, sénateur Patterson.

La sénatrice Bovey : Merci, sénateur, de nous avoir présenté
la version abrégée de la présentation convaincante que vous avez
donnée 1’autre jour. Je tiens a ajouter au compte rendu que le
sénateur Patterson et moi-méme avons parlé. Il connait les
questions que je me pose et qui me tiennent a cceur pendant
I’examen de cet amendement. Toutefois, si vous me le
permettez, j’aimerais poser quelques questions @8 M. MacDonald
ou a tout autre intervenant a la table.

Si vous examinez ce que le sénateur Patterson a décrit comme
étant une modeste proposition, pouvez-vous voir quelque chose
dans cet amendement proposé qui ne se trouve pas déja dans le
projet de loi? Ensuite, si vous me le permettez, je poserai
d’autres questions.

Jeff MacDonald, directeur général, Politiques des océans et
des péches, Péches et Océans Canada : Certains éléments
proposés relativement a 1’obligation de coopérer avec d’autres
échelons de gouvernement, des conseils d’administration, des
organismes du gouvernement du Canada, les gouvernements
provinciaux et territoriaux et les organisations autochtones
concernées se trouvent déja dans l’article 33 de la Loi sur les
océans.

D’autres ¢éléments liés a 1’avis et a la publication de
réglementation et a 1’intention de réglementer font déja partie
d’une loi différente appelée la Loi sur les textes réglementaires,
qui guide tous les ministéres et organismes dans 1’¢laboration de
réglements. Puisque les réglements sont des textes
réglementaires, ils ont force de loi. Nous sommes donc tenus de
respecter la Loi sur les textes réglementaires lorsque nous
proposons des réglements. De plus, en raison de cette loi, il
existe une Directive du Cabinet sur la réglementation qui précise
le processus que doivent suivre tous les ministéres et organismes
qui proposent un réglement.



39:46

Fisheries and Oceans

21-3-2019

Members may be familiar with the tail end of that process,
such as prepublication in Canada Gazette Part 1 and then final
publication in Canada Gazette Part 1. Prior to the prepublication
period, departments and agencies are responsible under the
cabinet directive for identifying stakeholders impacted by
regulations, including Indigenous peoples. We need to
meaningfully consult and engage with them throughout the
development, management and review of regulations.

To answer your question, that particular aspect is not found in
the Oceans Act but is found in the Statutory Instruments Act,
which all departments and agencies must follow when they’re
proposing regulations.

Senator Bovey: What is in this amendment is already covered
by law.

Mr. MacDonald: That is correct, yes.

Senator Bovey: Let me twist the question and put it another
way. Is there anything in this amendment that contradicts what is
already either in this bill or in Canadian law now?

Mr. MacDonald: Thanks to the fact that we’ve had an extra
day to look at the amendment, we have some observations. It is
much broader than what is in the Statutory Instruments Act. For
example, in the proposed amendment, subparagraph (c), it says:

. . . provide written notice of the proposed order to every
jurisdiction whose lands or interests may be affected by the
order.

One of the words that caught our attention was “interests,”
because that is a very broad term.

Senator Patterson: What did you say?

Mr. MacDonald: The word “interests.” When we say to
every jurisdiction whose lands or interests may be affected by
the order, which is broader than what we find in the Statutory
Instruments Act, for example, because “interests” is a very broad
word and could mean many different things and is subject to
broad interpretation.

Senator Gold: For clarification, could you give us the
equivalent language in the Statutory Instruments Act so that we
can compare it?

Mr. MacDonald: I don’t have the Statutory Instruments Act
in front of me. I have a summary of what we are obliged to
follow. This is the cabinet directive where proposed regulations

Les membres du comité connaissent peut-étre déja les
derniéres étapes de ce processus, par exemple la publication
préalable dans la partie I de la Gazette du Canada, suivie de la
publication finale dans la partie Il de la Gazette du Canada.
Avant la période de publication préalable, les ministéres et les
organismes, en vertu de la directive du Cabinet, sont
responsables de cerner les parties intéressées touchées par les
réglements, notamment les peuples autochtones. Nous devons les
consulter et les mobiliser de fagon véritable tout au long de
1’¢élaboration, de la gestion et de I’examen de la réglementation.

Pour répondre a votre question, cet élément précis ne se trouve
pas dans la Loi sur les océans, mais il se trouve dans la Loi sur
les textes réglementaires, a laquelle tous les ministeéres et les
organismes doivent se conformer lorsqu’ils proposent des
réglements.

La sénatrice Bovey : Les ¢éléments décrits dans cet

amendement sont déja visés par la loi.
M. MacDonald : C’est exact.

La sénatrice Bovey : Permettez-moi de poser la question
sous un autre angle. Cet amendement contient-il des éléments
qui vont a I’encontre de ce qui se trouve déja dans le projet de loi
ou dans les lois canadiennes en vigueur?

M. MacDonald : Le jour supplémentaire qu’on nous a donné
pour examiner |’amendement nous a permis de formuler
quelques observations. L’amendement a une portée beaucoup
plus vaste que le contenu de la Loi sur les textes réglementaires.
Par exemple, 1’alinéa ¢) de I’amendement proposé indique ce qui
suit:

[...] donne un avis écrit du projet de décret a toute instance
dont les terres ou les intéréts peuvent &tre touchés par celui-
ci...

L’un des mots qui ont attiré notre attention est le mot
« intéréts », car c¢’est un terme trés général.

Le sénateur Patterson : Qu’avez-vous dit?

M. MacDonald : Le mot « intéréts ». Lorsque nous parlons
de toute instance ou des intéréts qui peuvent étre touchés par le
décret, c’est plus vague que ce qui se trouve dans la Loi sur les
textes réglementaires, par exemple, car le mot « intéréts » a une
vaste portée et il pourrait avoir de nombreuses significations et
faire 1’objet d’une interprétation plus large.

Le sénateur Gold : A des fins d’éclaircissement, pourriez-
vous nous fournir le libellé correspondant dans la Loi sur les
textes réglementaires, afin que nous puissions comparer les deux
textes?

M. MacDonald : Je n’ai pas la Loi sur les textes
réglementaires devant moi. J’ai un résumé du processus que nous
devons suivre. Il s’agit de la directive du Cabinet qui s’applique
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have the potential to adversely impact potential or established
Aboriginal or treaty rights, for example. Under section 35 of the
Constitution Act, departments and agencies must satisfy the
Crown’s duty to consult and, where appropriate, accommodate
those rights of the Aboriginal peoples of Canada.

The difference is between rights and interests. It’s a very
different legal term when we talk about someone’s interests.
That tends to make what is proposed in the amendment much
broader than what we would see in the cabinet directive on
regulation.

Senator Bovey: While we’re getting this right, I have two
other questions.

The Chair: I’ll give you all the time you need. Just give me a
moment, please.

In my discussions with several members, some of these are a
word here or a word there. It complicates things. I want to make
sure that everyone has ample time to ask a question.

Senator Bovey is asking Mr. MacDonald a question. I will
give ample time for someone to ask questions. Just let us know
here at the table. I don’t want to interrupt the conversation
because I am trying to get as much information as we can.

Senator Bovey: Building or picking up on what Senator
Patterson said about the concerns of lack of consultation, could
you just walk us through the process? I know some of us have
been walked through the process before. For record this morning,
it would be helpful for the committee to be clear as to what is the
process, Mr. MacDonald.

Mr. MacDonald: If I may, is that the process for the
establishment of a marine protected area?

Senator Bovey: Yes.

Mr. MacDonald: I’ll try to be short. It is a lengthy process.

Senator Bovey: Coles Notes or a high-level summary of the
key steps so that everyone is really clear as to what is what.

Mr. MacDonald: Sure. There may be circumstances where
the government itself is proposing a marine protected area, or we
may have other levels of government, Indigenous groups or
stakeholders proposing an area for protection. Regardless
whether it’s initiated by the government or by others, the initial

lorsque des réglements proposés pourraient avoir des
répercussions négatives sur des droits ancestraux ou des droits
issus de traités potentiels ou établis, par exemple. En vertu de
I’article 35 de la Loi constitutionnelle, les ministéres et
organismes doivent remplir ’obligation de la Couronne de
consulter et, s’il y a lieu, accommoder les droits des peuples
autochtones du Canada.

La différence est entre les droits et les intéréts. En effet,
lorsqu’on parle des intéréts d’une personne, on utilise un terme
juridique trés différent. Cela a donc tendance a attribuer une
portée beaucoup plus large a ce qui est proposé dans
I’amendement comparativement a ce qui se trouve dans la
Directive du Cabinet sur la réglementation.

La sénatrice Bovey : Pendant que nous tentons de préciser
cela, j’aimerais poser deux autres questions.

Le président : Je vais vous donner tout le temps nécessaire.
Donnez-moi seulement un instant, s’il vous plait.

Dans le cadre de mes discussions avec plusieurs membres du
comité, il s’agit parfois de ce mot-ci ou de ce mot-la. Cela
complique les choses. Je veux veiller a ce que tous les
intervenants aient amplement le temps de poser une question.

La sénatrice Bovey a posé une question a8 M. MacDonald. Je
vais donner tout le temps nécessaire aux personnes qui posent
des questions. Veuillez simplement nous aviser. Je ne veux pas
interrompre la conversation, car je tente d’obtenir tous les
renseignements possibles.

La sénatrice Bovey : Pour faire suite a ce que disait le
sénateur Patterson au sujet des préoccupations liées au manque
de consultation, pourriez-vous nous décrire les étapes du
processus? Je sais qu’on a déja expliqué les étapes du processus
a certains d’entre nous. Toutefois, pour le compte rendu, il serait
utile de préciser le processus aux membres du comité ce matin,
monsieur MacDonald.

M. MacDonald : Si vous me permettez de demander des
éclaircissements, s’agit-il du processus pour la création d’une
zone de protection marine?

La sénatrice Bovey : Oui.

M. MacDonald : Je tenterai d’étre bref. C’est un long
processus.

La sénatrice Bovey : Veuillez seulement fournir une version
abrégée ou un résumé des étapes principales, afin que tout le
monde comprenne bien le processus.

M. MacDonald : Certainement. Le gouvernement lui-méme
pourrait proposer la création d’une zone de protection marine
dans certaines circonstances ou d’autres échelons de
gouvernement, des groupes autochtones ou d’autres parties
intéressées pourraient également le faire. Que le processus soit
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area we look at tends to be drawn from the scientific work done
by the department with regard to identifying ecologically and
biologically significant areas of the ocean.

When we look at what are the important biodiversity features
of the ocean, that’s an initial conversation which is usually
initiated either by the department or by others because of a
general interest in protecting that particular part of the ocean.

What happens then is that a lot of information gathering takes
place. That’s an iterative and collaborative process. We may
have sources of information as the Government of Canada which
can help. We may rely on traditional ecological knowledge that
Indigenous groups may have or that coastal communities may
have. We may do additional scientific research, either ourselves
or other organizations. We may gather data from the fishing
industry. We may gather data from the shipping industry. There
are a lot of different sources of data. Once we bring all that to
bear, that is when we bring together more formally a stakeholder
advisory group where we share our analysis and engage in
feedback.

That can go on because the ocean is a very complex place. It’s
obviously very three dimensional and a lot of activities tend to
take place. A healthy debate takes place as to what the
conservation objectives should be for protecting an area. It is
only at that point where we start to enter into more formal
mechanisms. The first one, traditionally, has been going from an
ecologically and biologically significant area to the identification
of an area of interest. An area of interest doesn’t have any legal
status yet, but it is well known in policy as an important step in
the process.

A current example of an area of interest would be on the
offshore Pacific west of Vancouver Island. In May 2017, the
minister announced an area of interest. Since then we have been
working with Indigenous groups, stakeholders, the fishing
industry, the transportation industry and environmental
organizations in that area, in terms of refining the boundaries of
the area of interest and clarifying what are the objectives. In
order to prepare for a full regulatory process, we also need to
articulate the socio-economic impact of establishing that
protected area and clearly identifying what would be the
management plan.

Then and only then we go through the formal process of
proposing the area as a marine protected area under the
regulatory authority found in the Oceans Act. It’s at that point

lancé par le gouvernement ou d’autres intervenants, la zone
initiale que nous examinons a souvent été cernée dans le cadre de
travaux scientifiques menés par le ministére en vue de repérer
des zones océaniques importantes sur le plan écologique et
biologique.

Lorsque nous déterminons les éléments importants liés a la
biodiversité dans 1’océan, cette discussion préliminaire est
habituellement entamée par le ministére ou d’autres intervenants
qui manifestent un intérét général a 1’égard de la protection
d’une zone particuliére de I’océan.

Ensuite, nous recueillons wune grande quantité de
renseignements dans le cadre d’un processus itératif et
collaboratif. Nous pouvons avoir acces a des sources de
renseignements utiles comme le gouvernement du Canada. Nous
pouvons exploiter les connaissances écologiques traditionnelles
de groupes autochtones ou de collectivités cdtiéres. Nous
pouvons mener des recherches scientifiques supplémentaires
nous-mémes ou confier cette tache a d’autres organismes. Nous
pouvons recueillir des données auprés de I’industrie des péches.
Nous pouvons aussi recueillir des données auprés de 1’industrie
du transport maritime. Il existe de nombreuses sources de
données. Une fois que nous avons réuni tous ces renseignements,
nous établissons un groupe consultatif d’intervenants plus
officiel auquel nous présentons notre analyse et demandons de la
rétroaction.

Cela peut prendre du temps, car le milieu océanique est trés
complexe. Il est visiblement tridimensionnel et de nombreuses
activités s’y déroulent. Nous entamons ensuite un débat légitime
pour déterminer les objectifs en matiere de conservation qui
devraient accompagner la protection d’une région. C’est
seulement a ce moment-la que nous commengons a mettre en
ceuvre des mécanismes plus officiels. Habituellement, le premier
consiste a identifier une zone importante sur le plan écologique
et biologique comme étant une zone d’intérét. Une telle zone n’a
pas encore de statut officiel, mais dans le cadre des politiques, on
reconnait qu’il s’agit d’une étape importante du processus.

Un exemple actuel d’une zone d’intérét est la zone située a
I’ouest de I’ile de Vancouver, au large du Pacifique.
En mai 2017, le ministre a annoncé qu’il s’agissait d’une zone
d’intérét. Depuis, nous avons travaillé avec des groupes
autochtones, des parties intéressées, 1’industrie des péches,
I’industrie du transport et des organismes de défense de
I’environnement dans la région, afin de déterminer les limites de
la zone d’intérét et de préciser les objectifs. Pour nous préparer
au lancement d’un processus réglementaire complet, nous devons
aussi  déterminer les  répercussions  socioéconomiques
qu’entrainera la création de cette zone protégée et établir
clairement le plan de gestion.

Ce n’est qu’a ce moment-la que nous langons le processus
officiel qui consiste & proposer la transformation de cette zone en
zone de protection marine en vertu du pouvoir de réglementation
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we also need to demonstrate under the cabinet directive on
regulation all the information I shared before. It is a prerequisite
for the Treasury Board Secretariat to accept our regulations.
Internally, we have to work closely with the Treasury Board
Secretariat to ensure that we have fulfilled all the requirements in
the cabinet directive before the regulatory package is presented
to the Treasury Board committee of cabinet. Further to that, once
that is done, we then enter into the prepublication period where
the public once again has a final comment period prior to the
regulations coming into force.

Senator Bovey: I have a final question. Going back to my life
in the not-for-profit sector, our boards of governors have their
policy documents and their procedural documents. What I am
hearing is that the policy is enshrined in the bill and you have the
steps for implementation or the procedural steps.

If this proposed amendment is already duplicated in
legislation, but wanting to capture the concern that everything is
out there in the public to see for consultation and for
cooperation, tell me, would it be appropriate to have an
observation attached to the bill as it goes back to the House of
Commons requiring a government response?

Mr. MacDonald: I am not sure I understand the question. Is
your question related to the proposed amendment?

Senator Bovey: Yes. Wanting to capture the spirit of it, but if
it’s already duplicated, how do you capture the spirit to make
sure the action is really strong? Could that be done through an
observation?

I found in my time in the Senate — and I won’t go back to the
particular bill — that we could have saved ourselves a lot of
heartache if a report with amendments that were rejected was in
fact enshrined in an observation so that action had to be taken.

Mr. MacDonald: In that case, Mr. Chair, I am really in your
hands of the committee.

Senator Bovey: I put that forward as a consideration.
Obviously I am trying to look at how we make sure all the
concerns are captured but not necessarily repetitively.

The Chair: Mr. MacDonald may not be in a place to answer
that. We decide whether we are going to have amendments.

énoncé dans la Loi sur les océans. Nous devons également
indiquer, en vertu de la Directive du Cabinet sur Ia
réglementation, tous les renseignements que j’ai mentionnés
précédemment. C’est une exigence préalable pour que le
Secrétariat du Conseil du Trésor accepte la réglementation que
nous proposons. A 1’interne, nous devons collaborer étroitement
avec le Secrétariat du Conseil du Trésor pour veiller a remplir
toutes les exigences énoncées dans la directive du Cabinet avant
de présenter le dossier sur la réglementation au comité du
Cabinet du Conseil du Trésor. De plus, une fois cette étape
franchie, nous entrons dans la période de publication préalable
au cours de laquelle le public a, pour la derniére fois, I’occasion
de formuler des commentaires avant I’entrée en vigueur de la
réglementation.

La sénatrice Bovey : J’ai une derniére question a vous poser.
Si je me fie a mon expérience dans le secteur sans but lucratif,
les conseils d’administration ont leurs documents de politique et
de procédure. Si j’ai bien compris, la politique est inscrite dans
le projet de loi, et vous avez les étapes pour la mise en ceuvre ou
la procédure.

Si I’amendement proposé est déja prévu dans d’autres mesures
législatives, mais sachant que 1’objectif est de faire en sorte que
tout soit rendu public en matiére de consultation et de
coopération, dites-moi, ne conviendrait-il pas d’ajouter une
observation au projet de loi au moment de le renvoyer a la
Chambre des communes pour exiger une réponse du
gouvernement?

M. MacDonald : Je ne suis pas sGr de comprendre la
question. Votre question porte-t-elle sur I’amendement qui est
proposé?

La sénatrice Bovey : Oui. On veut en respecter I’esprit, mais,
si c’est déja prévu, comment peut-on 1’appliquer pour s’assurer
que la mesure a du mordant? Pourrait-on s’y prendre par ’ajout
d’une observation?

Depuis mon arrivée au Sénat, j’ai constaté — et je ne
reviendrai pas sur le projet de loi en cause — que nous aurions
pu nous épargner bien des maux de téte si nous avions formulé
une observation exigeant le dépot d’un rapport assorti des
amendements rejetés afin que des mesures soient prises.

M. MacDonald : Dans ce cas, monsieur le président, je m’en
remets au comité.

La sénatrice Bovey : C’est une idée que je soumets a votre
attention. Evidemment, j’essaie de voir comment nous pouvons
nous assurer que toutes les préoccupations sont prises en compte,
sans pour autant faire double emploi.

Le président : M. MacDonald n’est peut-étre pas bien placé
pour répondre a cette question. C’est nous qui décidons si nous
allons avoir des amendements.
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Senator Bovey: Everybody knows my thought process.
Everything is completely open.

Senator Patterson: Senator Bovey raised three points, and I
hope I can remember them all. The first one was that this could
be taken care of by an observation which requires a government
response.

Observations  don’t require  government  responses.
Recommendations require government responses. I mentioned
the examples that come to recent mind: Bill C-17, Bill S-3 and
Bill C-45. Observations haven’t been delivered on. I don’t know
if it’s fair to ask the witness that question, but I will just put that
on record.

I would like to ask the witness a question. You said that this
was taken care of under the Statutory Instruments Act. I would
like colleagues to refer to the proposed steps that I circulated
from the department. You’ll see in the sixth proposed step, I
hasten to say, that there will be a publication in the Canada
Gazette, to which Mr. MacDonald referred.

If you look at the timeline here, colleagues, the policy
development process has taken approximately one year. This is
the department’s own timeline. The regulatory development
process takes one to two years. The star under number six is
about halfway through the one-year to two-year period. We have
two years, according to the department’s own timeline, before
this statutory instruments requirement to consult kicks in. That’s
an awfully long time if adjacent stakeholders have not been
consulted or notified.

I remind members again that we heard from Premier
Savikataaq and his predecessor Premier Taptuna, also wrote a
letter to the committee that this was not happening with respect
to the High Arctic Basin, the largest Marine Protected Area that
we’ll see.

Finally, this is the second question for Mr. MacDonald, or
maybe I should stop and let you answer my concern on the
timeline on the statutory instruments requirement.

The Chair: Perhaps you could put your two questions
forward, and then Mr. MacDonald could answer them.

Senator Patterson: Very good, sir. You’ve spoken about a
cabinet directive on regulation which in effect sets out the
requirements for consultation. Again I would say that a cabinet
directive can be changed at the stroke of a pen in a cabinet
meeting. This is not the solid guarantee I am seeking to be put
into legislation. A directive like government policies can be
changed easily and without public involvement.

La sénatrice Bovey : Tout le monde connait

raisonnement. Il n’y a rien de secret.

mon

Le sénateur Patterson : La sénatrice Bovey a soulevé trois
points, et j’espere n’en oublier aucun. Le premier, c’était que
cette question pourrait étre réglée au moyen d’une observation
qui exige une réponse de la part du gouvernement.

Or, ce ne sont pas les observations qui exigent des réponses du
gouvernement, mais bien les recommandations. J’ai mentionné
quelques exemples récents qui me viennent a 1’esprit : les projets
de loi C-17, S-3 et C-45. Aucune réponse n’a été donnée aux
observations. Je ne sais pas s’il est juste de poser cette question
au témoin, mais je tiens a ce que ce soit consigné au compte
rendu.

Je voudrais poser, a mon tour, une question au témoin. Vous
avez dit que cet ¢élément fait déja partie de la Loi sur les textes
réglementaires. J’invite mes collégues a se reporter aux étapes
proposées dans le document du ministére, que j’ai fait circuler.
Vous verrez qu’a la sixiéme étape proposée, il y aura — et je le
dis vite fait — une publication dans laGazette du Canada, dont
M. MacDonald a parlé.

Si vous jetez un coup d’ceil a la ligne de temps ici, chers
collegues, le processus d’¢laboration de politiques s’échelonne
sur environ un an. C’est 1’échéancier méme du ministére. Le
processus d’élaboration de réglements, pour sa part, prend un an
ou deux. L’étoile sous le numéro 6 se trouve a peu pres au milieu
de la période d’un an ou deux. Nous avons donc deux ans, selon
I’échéancier du ministére, avant que 1’obligation de consulter au
sujet de textes réglementaires commence & s’appliquer. Voila qui
est terriblement long si les parties intéressées voisines n’ont pas
été consultées ou avisées.

Je rappelle encore une fois aux membres du comité que nous
avons entendu le témoignage du premier ministre Savikataaq, et
son prédécesseur, I’ex-premier ministre Taptuna, a également
écrit une lettre au comité pour dire qu’il n’y avait pas eu de
consultations au sujet du bassin de I’Extréme-Arctique, qui sera
la plus grande zone de protection marine.

Enfin, j’ai une deuxiéme question qui s’adresse a
M. MacDonald, ou je devrais peut-étre m’arréter la et vous
laisser répondre a ma préoccupation au sujet de 1’échéancier
concernant I’exigence relative aux textes réglementaires.

Le président : Vous pourriez peut-étre poser vos deux
questions, et M. MacDonald pourrait y répondre par la suite.

Le sénateur Patterson : Trés bien. Vous avez parlé d’une
Directive du Cabinet sur la réglementation qui, en fait, énonce
les exigences en matiére de consultation. La encore, je dirais
qu’une directive du Cabinet peut étre modifiée d’un trait de
plume a I’occasion d’une réunion du Cabinet. Cela ne fournit pas
la garantie solide que je cherche a intégrer au projet de loi. Il est
possible de modifier facilement une directive comme des
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Would you agree a cabinet directive is something that can be
easily changed without public input or notice, and therefore not
something that we can rely on or the public can rely on?

Mr. MacDonald: With regard to the timelines and for
illustrative purposes in the presentation we’ve provided to
committee members and to the committee, we were outlining in
this document where the interim protection MPA would serve a
useful purpose. I described earlier the process that we go through
to get to the point where we’ve identified an area of interest.

Our concern and the main reason for bringing forward this bill,
as Senator Patterson has laid out, is that there is quite a bit of
time between the moment when we’ve achieved a degree of
agreement that this is what we should be protecting, as we see in
the policy development process, and this is the delineation of the
area that we should be protecting. It takes quite some time to go
from there to the formal gazetting of the regulations. During that
whole interim period, the area that everyone has agreed needs to
be protected has no legal status as a protected area. The idea of
interim protection was that you would be able to make sure that
there are no new activities in that area freezing the footprint until
we’ve finalized all those things.

It’s illustrative and our timelines are based on the average
amount of time it has taken. When regulatory processes have
taken a long time, it’s sometimes as a result of working on the
details of the management plan. There’s an agreement among the
stakeholders with regard to the objectives, but how we’re going
to monitor or how we’re going to enforce, et cetera, begs a lot of
questions. In some cases it’s a question of what resources we
have. In other cases it’s a question of identifying who is going to
do what. The government has a role to play, as do many other
levels of government, Indigenous groups, stakeholders, et cetera.

Going into a full regulatory process, we have to articulate all
those things prior to the examination of the regulations under the
Statutory Instruments Act. While we didn’t put a star there
denoting consultation, we were choosing our words very
carefully there. Consultation means the formal consultation
between the Crown and the Indigenous people whose rights are
affected. It does not imply that there isn’t a lot of dialogue and
engagement that takes place during the process. The points of
engagement are actually throughout this process, with the sole
exception of when the cabinet confidence is invoked, which is
when the formal regulatory proposal is being considered by
cabinet.

politiques gouvernementales, et ce, sans la participation du
public.

Seriez-vous d’accord pour dire qu’une directive du Cabinet
peut étre modifiée facilement sans I’apport de la population ou
sans avis public et que, par conséquent, nous ou les citoyens ne
pouvons pas nous y fier?

M. MacDonald : En ce qui concerne les délais, qui sont
présentés a titre indicatif dans le document que nous avons remis
aux membres du comité, nous avons précisé les circonstances
dans lesquelles il serait utile de désigner une zone de protection
marine provisoire. J’ai décrit tout a 1’heure le processus que nous
suivons pour pouvoir cerner une zone d’intérét.

Ce qui nous inquiéte, et c’est la principale raison pour laquelle
le projet de loi a été présenté, comme le sénateur Patterson 1’a
expliqué, c’est qu’il y a un assez long laps de temps entre, d’une
part, le moment ou nous nous entendons sur ce qui devrait étre
protégé, conformément au processus d’élaboration de politiques,
et sur ce qui constitue la délimitation de la zone a protéger et,
d’autre part, le moment ou les réglements sont publiés
officiellement dans la Gazette du Canada. Pendant toute cette
période intermédiaire, la zone que tout le monde a convenu de
protéger n’a pas le statut juridique de zone protégée. Ainsi, I’idée
d’une protection provisoire vise & donner 1’assurance qu’aucune
nouvelle activité n’aurait lieu dans la zone pour geler I’empreinte
jusqu’a ce que le tout soit finalisé.

C’est donc a titre indicatif, et nos délais reposent sur le temps
moyen que cela a pris. Si les processus réglementaires prennent
beaucoup de temps, c’est parfois parce qu’il faut travailler sur les
détails du plan de gestion. Les parties intéressées s’entendent sur
les objectifs, mais la facon dont nous allons surveiller ou
appliquer la loi, et cetera, souléve tout un tas de questions. Dans
certains cas, cela dépend des ressources dont nous disposons.
Dans d’autres cas, c’est une question de savoir qui va faire quoi.
Le gouvernement a un rdle a jouer, tout comme les autres paliers
de gouvernement, les groupes autochtones, les parties
intéressées, et cetera.

Pour en venir au processus réglementaire dans son ensemble,
nous devons préciser tous ces ¢éléments avant I’examen des
réglements aux termes de la Loi sur les textes réglementaires.
Méme si nous n’avons pas mis d’étoile a cet endroit pour
désigner la tenue d’une consultation, nous avons choisi nos mots
avec beaucoup de soin. Une consultation signifie une
consultation officielle entre la Couronne et les peuples
autochtones dont les droits sont touchés. Cela ne sous-entend pas
que le dialogue et les activités de mobilisation font défaut
pendant le processus. La mobilisation a lieu tout au long du
processus, sauf quand le secret du Cabinet est invoqué, c’est-a-
dire au moment ou un projet de réglement officiel est étudié par
le Cabinet.
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With regard to the question on cabinet directives themselves, it
is true it is the government issues those directives, but they draw
that directive from the Statutory Instruments Act. Thank you to
whoever brought me a copy of the Statutory Instruments Act. If
we look at the examination of proposed regulations, the act itself
lays out the process by which any proposed regulations
submitted by a minister must be reviewed, both by the Privy
Council and the Department of Justice, to ensure that we have
fulfilled the requirements of any policy and that what we’re
proposing is ultimately congruent with the overriding statute,
which in this case would be the Oceans Act.

That’s not the last word either. The Standing Joint Committee
for the Scrutiny of Regulations is Parliament’s review of
regulations to ensure that the government is satisfied we have
adhered to the statute in question. It’s also Parliament’s last
check to make sure that the government is following the
directions that Parliament gave through passing these acts.

Senator Patterson: I have a further supplementary question
arising from Senator Bovey’s comments. Mr. MacDonald, I am
not sure if you’re aware of this point, but I would put it to you
that the Standing Joint Committee for the Scrutiny of
Regulations is idle, impotent, inactive and dysfunctional. Need I
say more? I don’t know if you want to respond, but as a
parliamentarian I can tell you that committee is functus. That is
another adjective I would use. It ain’t working. It is not working.
It is not operational. It is a red herring, with respect.

I have a second question for Mr. MacDonald. Senator Bovey
referred to section 33 of the Oceans Act. It’s all taken care of in
section 33. I would like to quote subsection 33(2) of the Oceans
Act briefly.

In exercising the powers and performing the duties and
functions mentioned in this part, the Minister may consult
with other ministers, boards and agencies of the
Government of Canada, with provincial and territorial
governments and with affected aboriginal organizations,
coastal communities and other persons and bodies,
including those bodies established under land claims
agreements.

My amendment says, “the minister shall.” I will make no
apologies about it being stronger language than the language in
section 33 that Senator Bovey has told us should provide us with
comfort. There’s a big difference between “may” and “shall,” is
there not?

Mr. MacDonald: Just for clarification, Mr. Chair, when we
were examining this clause on Tuesday, I pointed out
subsection 33(1), the chapeau. There is a number of subsections
in the Oceans Act. It’s there that we find the “shall” in exercising

Pour ce qui est de la question sur les directives du Cabinet
proprement dites, il est vrai qu’elles sont élaborées par le
gouvernement, mais elles découlent de la Loi sur les textes
réglementaires. Je remercie la personne qui vient de me remettre
une copie de cette loi. Si nous jetons un coup d’ceil a la partie sur
I’examen des projets de réglement, la loi elle-méme établit le
processus par lequel tout projet de réglement présenté par un
ministre doit étre examiné, tant par le Conseil privé que le
ministére de la Justice, pour veiller & ce que nous ayons rempli
les exigences d’une politique donnée et que notre proposition
soit, au bout du compte, conforme a la loi ayant préséance, qui
serait en ’occurrence la Loi sur les océans.

Ce n’est pas le dernier mot non plus. Le Comité mixte
permanent d’examen de la réglementation est le comité
parlementaire chargé d’examiner la réglementation pour donner
au gouvernement 1’assurance que nous avons respecté la loi en
question. C’est aussi la derniére vérification effectuée par le
Parlement pour s’assurer que le gouvernement suit les
instructions que le Parlement a données en adoptant ces lois.

Le sénateur Patterson : J’ai une autre question qui découle
des observations de la sénatrice Bovey. Monsieur MacDonald,
j’ignore si vous étes au courant, mais je vous dirais que le
Comité mixte permanent d’examen de la réglementation est
désceuvré, inefficace, inactif et dysfonctionnel. Dois-je en dire
plus? Je ne sais pas si vous voulez répondre, mais en tant que
parlementaire, je peux vous dire que ce comité est désuet. Voila
un autre adjectif que j’utiliserais. Ce comité laisse a désirer. Il ne
fonctionne pas. Ce n’est pas fonctionnel. C’est un faux-fuyant,
en tout respect.

Je voudrais poser une deuxiéme question 8 M. MacDonald. La
sénatrice Bovey a fait allusion a 1’article 33 de la Loi sur les
océans. Tout est réglé dans cette disposition. J’aimerais citer
brievement le paragraphe 33(2) de la Loi sur les océans.

Dans I’exercice des attributions prévues par la présente
partie, le ministre peut consulter d’autres ministres et
organismes fédéraux, les gouvernements provinciaux et
territoriaux et les organisations autochtones, les collectivités
cotieres et les autres personnes de droit public et de droit
privé intéressées, y compris celles constituées dans le cadre
d’accords sur des revendications territoriales.

Dans mon amendement, j’emploie plutot 1’indicatif présent
pour indiquer que le ministre doit prendre ces mesures. Je ne
m’excuserai pas de rendre le libellé plus ferme que celui de
I’article 33 qui, aux dires de la sénatrice Bovey, devrait nous
offrir une certitude suffisante. Il y a une différence entre « peut »
et « doit », n’est-ce pas?

M. MacDonald : A titre de précision, monsieur le président,
quand nous avons examiné cette disposition mardi, j’ai souligné
que le paragraphe 33(1) constitue la disposition liminaire. Il y a
un certain nombre de paragraphes dans la Loi sur les océans.
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the powers and performing the duties and functions assigned to
the minister by this act. Subsection 33(1) covers the entire
Oceans Act:

... the Minister
(a) shall cooperate with other ministers . . .

The section that Senator Patterson is referring to is
subsection 33(2). They’re speaking specifically about the part.
That part means Part II of the Oceans Act, which is related to the
integrated management of oceans. Subsection 33(1) covers the
entire act is there where the minister shall cooperate. Whereas in
the development of integrative oceans planning, Part II, is where
the minister may consult with other ministers. That’s the
difference between “shall” and “may.”

Senator Patterson: This is my last supplementary question
for Mr. MacDonald. The “shall” in subsection 33(1) is about
cooperation. The “shall” in my proposed amendment is about
consultation and cooperation. Would you not agree that the
amendment includes the requirement to consult as well as to
cooperate, and therefore is stronger and better language to
respect rights holders in the offshore including Aboriginal
organizations?

Mr. MacDonald: With regard to that question on the
consultation, we are obliged under the Constitution Act to
consult. It is underscored in the Oceans Act non-derogation
clause.

With regard to the section related to internal protection, there
was an amendment made by the house which is found in the bill.
It underscores the need to use the interim protection authority in
a way that is not inconsistent with land claims agreements. Our
duty to consult is clear. It’s outlined in the Constitution and it’s
underscored on a couple of occasions in the act and in the bill.

Senator Campbell: Normally I wouldn’t engage on this issue,
but I have to say that what Senator Patterson is saying is
absolutely true. For the 14 years I have been here, we’ve fallen
back on the Charter of Rights, consultation and all the rest of it.
All of the bills he mentioned went with advice to the government
that this is what should be done, and nothing has been done.

When the leader of a territory comes here and says to us, “We
have not been consulted,” it’s shocking to me that the
government ministry doesn’t get a hold of that leader
immediately to find out the exact context. What consultation
didn’t take place? I personally don’t think that Indigenous

C’est 1a que nous trouvons 1’indicatif présent; autrement dit, le
ministre doit prendre ces mesures dans 1’exercice des attributions
qui lui sont conférées par la loi. Le paragraphe 33(1), qui
s’applique a toute la Loi sur les océans, dit :

[...] le ministre :
a) coopere avec d’autres ministres [...]

La disposition & laquelle fait allusion le sénateur Patterson est
le paragraphe 33(2). Cette disposition porte spécifiquement sur
la partie II de la Loi sur les océans, qui concerne la gestion
intégrée des océans. Le paragraphe 33(1), pour sa part, vise la loi
au complet et dit que le ministre doit coopérer. Par contre, en ce
qui a trait a la planification de la gestion intégrée, aux termes de
la partie II, le ministre peut consulter d’autres ministres. Voila
donc la différence entre « doit » et « peut ».

Le sénateur Patterson : Voici ma derniére question
complémentaire, monsieur MacDonald. L’obligation prévue au
paragraphe 33(1) porte sur la coopération. Celle que je propose
dans mon amendement concerne la consultation et la
coopération. N’Etes-vous pas d’accord pour dire que
I’amendement prévoit I’exigence de consulter et de coopérer et
qu’il renferme, par conséquent, un libellé plus ferme et plus
efficace pour assurer le respect des intéréts des titulaires de
droits extracotiers, y compris des organisations autochtones?

M. MacDonald : S’agissant de la consultation, nous sommes
tenus, en vertu de la Loi constitutionnelle, de consulter. Cette
obligation est soulignée dans la disposition de non-dérogation de
la Loi sur les océans.

Pour ce qui est de la disposition relative a la protection
interne, le projet de loi contient une modification proposée par la
Chambre, qui fait ressortir la nécessité d’utiliser le pouvoir de
protection provisoire d’une maniére qui n’est pas incompatible
avec les accords sur des revendications territoriales. Notre
obligation de consulter est claire. C’est souligné dans la
Constitution, et c’est mis en évidence a quelques reprises dans la
loi et dans le projet de loi.

Le sénateur Campbell : Normalement, je ne me prononcerais
pas sur cette question, mais je dois dire que 1’observation faite
par le sénateur Patterson est tout a fait vraie. Depuis 14 ans que
je suis ici, nous avons invoqué la Charte des droits, 1’obligation
de consulter et tout le reste. Les projets de loi mentionnés par le
sénateur ont tous été soumis au gouvernement, accompagnés de
conseils sur les mesures qui s’imposent, mais rien n’a été fait.

Lorsque le dirigeant d’un territoire vient ici et nous dit que les
gens n’ont pas été consultés, je trouve aberrant que le ministére
fédéral ne communique pas immédiatement avec ce dirigeant
pour se renseigner sur le contexte précis. Quelles consultations
n’ont pas eu lieu? A mon avis, les nations autochtones
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nations should be having to go to the Supreme Court every time
they’re not consulted. When are we going to wake up?

In this case here maybe it’s time that we started sending a
message to all governments, not just this government. This has
been going on for a long time. All governments have to be aware
of this obligation. It’s simply not enough to mouth it; it has to be
real. In this case I am supporting the senator.

I would ask if it would give you any comfort if the word
“interest” were taken out of that amendment. That seems to be a
word that has significant connations. I don’t know whether
Senator Patterson would be agreeable to that. I am just looking at
it. Immediately you said “interest” would cause a problem. If
that’s the case, is there someplace for us to move here?

It simply is not enough for us to send little memos and asides
to the government and expect them to do it. They don’t do it. We
know that. I am not even blaming Fisheries. You can take
government agencies across the board. This has been going on
for years. My question is: If we took out the word “interest,”
would that give you any comfort?

Mr. MacDonald: I am in the hands of the committee whether
they want a debate on the amendment. All I can say is what is in
the Oceans Act and what is in the Statutory Instruments Act.

Senator Campbell: No, the question I asked is: Would it give
you any comfort? I didn’t ask for an explanation. Would it give
you any comfort not to have that in that amendment?

Mr. MacDonald: All I can say is: If Parliament were to pass
this amendment and we were to propose regulations under the
Oceans Act, we would have to follow the process outlined in this
amendment. At the same time we would also have to follow what
is already in the Statutory Instruments Act. It would create quite
a lot of duplication of effort. We would have to adhere to both
processes at the same time because it is found in two different
statutes.

Senator Campbell: Mr. MacDonald, you’ve already heard
that I don’t think you’re following it under the Oceans Act. I
don’t think it’s being done. If it were being done, we wouldn’t
have two premiers, one ex-premier and a premier, complaining
that they have had no consultation. This is significant for the
North because of the huge amount of area that is being
considered and the effect it will have on Lower Canada and
Upper Canada too. That doesn’t seem to be happening. Either
that or the premiers are mistaken and have got bad advice. I
simply have difficulty believing that.

ne devraient pas avoir & s’adresser a la Cour supréme chaque fois
qu’elles ne sont pas consultées. Quand allons-nous enfin nous
réveiller?

Dans le cas qui nous occupe, il est peut-étre temps que nous
commencions a envoyer un message a tous les gouvernements, et
pas seulement au gouvernement fédéral. Cela dure depuis
longtemps. Tous les gouvernements doivent &tre au courant de
cette obligation. Il ne suffit pas de le dire; il faut le concrétiser.
Voila pourquoi j’appuie le sénateur.

J’aimerais savoir si vous seriez quelque peu rassuré d’une
décision éventuelle de retirer le mot « intéréts » de
I’amendement. C’est, me semble-t-il, un terme qui revét
d’importantes connotations. Je ne sais pas si le sénateur
Patterson serait d’accord. Je suis en train de relire I’amendement.
D’entrée de jeu, vous avez dit que le mot « intéréts » poserait
probléme. Si c’est le cas, avons-nous une certaine marge de
manceuvre?

Nous ne pouvons pas nous contenter d’envoyer de petites
notes et observations au gouvernement et de nous attendre a ce
qu’il y donne suite. Il ne le fait pas. Nous le savons. Je ne blame
méme pas le ministére des Péches. C’est le cas pour tous les
organismes gouvernementaux. Cela dure depuis des années. Ma
question est donc la suivante : si nous enlevions le mot
« intéréts », cela vous rassurerait-il?

M. MacDonald : Je m’en remets aux membres du comité, car
c’est a eux de décider s’ils veulent débattre de I’amendement. Je
peux seulement m’appuyer sur ce qui se trouve dans la Loi sur
les océans et la Loi sur les textes réglementaires.

Le sénateur Campbell : Non, ma question était la suivante :
cela vous rassurerait-il? Je n’ai pas demandé d’explication.
Seriez-vous rassuré si ce mot ne figurait pas dans I’amendement?

M. MacDonald : Je me contenterai de dire ceci : si le
Parlement adoptait cet amendement et que nous proposions des
réglements aux termes de la Loi sur les océans, nous aurions
alors a suivre le processus décrit dans I’amendement. En méme
temps, nous serions aussi tenus de suivre ce qui est déja prévu
dans la Loi sur les textes réglementaires. Il y aurait alors
beaucoup d’efforts en double. Nous aurions a adhérer aux deux
processus en méme temps parce qu’ils sont établis dans deux lois
différentes.

Le sénateur Campbell : Monsieur MacDonald, vous avez
déja entendu dire que je ne pense pas que vous observez cette
obligation aux termes de la Loi sur les océans. Je ne pense pas
que c’est le cas. Si c’était le cas, nous n’aurions pas deux
premiers ministres, un ex-premier ministre et un premier ministre
qui se plaindraient de ne pas avoir été consultés. C’est important
pour le Nord en raison de I’immensité de la superficie envisagée,
mais ce I’est aussi a cause de ’effet que ces mesures auront sur
le Bas-Canada et le Haut-Canada. Cela n’a pas 1’air d’étre en
train de se produire. Soit qu’il n’y ait pas eu de consultation, soit
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Senator Anderson: I will backtrack a bit, but I also repeat the
sentiments of Senator Campbell. In answer to the first question
you said “meaningfully consult” and review. I would like a
definition of what that means from your side.

You also mentioned “where appropriate.” I wanted to know
what “where appropriate” meant and who decides where it is
appropriate? In dealing with negotiations in the past, the
decisions weren’t made by an Indigenous group. They were told
to us as an Indigenous group and the decision was made for us. I
just want some clarification as to what that means.

Mr. MacDonald: I am not really in a position to reply. I am
not here as an expert in terms of the consultation processes. I can
tell you as a practitioner of what we’re expected to do. When we
talk about consultation, it is a higher bar than just engagement. It
requires an agreement between the two parties to actually come
and discuss a particular subject. That needs to be formal. It
requires us to explain what is being proposed, to listen, to reflect
upon and to demonstrate that we’ve taken into account any rights
that may be infringed by the action. Then we’re obliged to also
demonstrate how we’ve accommodated those rights if the action
proposed takes place.

That’s just in layman’s term. If the committee wants more on
meaningful consultation and what it means, I am probably not in
the best position to give you the exact government policy. In
practice it means what I have outlined and described.

I am also in a position to talk about the bill. If you want,
Mr. Chair, I could respond to the questions about what we have
done in the Arctic, but I don’t know if it’s appropriate at this
venue.

The Chair: We’re getting a feel around the table for what is
actually in the law versus what people conceive as being
followed. That’s where we have a grey area. I don’t know if
anyone can totally explain grey areas. Explaining black and
white is hard enough in this place.

I am not sure, Senator Anderson, if that was the answer to
your question. It may not be the case that Mr. MacDonald is in a
position to give you the answer you are looking for.

Senator Anderson: That was kind of the answer I expected.
There will be an obligation, a legal obligation, to do it.

que les premiers ministres se trompent et qu’ils ont regu de
mauvais conseils, ce que j’aurais du mal a croire.

La sénatrice Anderson : Je vais revenir un peu en arriére,
mais je suis d’accord avec ce que le sénateur Campbell a dit. En
réponse a la premiére question, vous avez parlé de « consulter de
fagon véritable » et d’examiner. J’aimerais que vous me disiez ce
que cela signifie.

Vous avez également mentionné « s’il y a lieu ». Je voulais
savoir ce qu’il fallait comprendre de ce « s’il y a lieu » et qui
décide de cela? Par le passé, lorsqu’il s’agissait de négociations,
les décisions n’étaient pas prises par un groupe autochtone. Les
décisions étaient prises pour nous et on nous disait ce qu’il en
était en tant que groupe autochtone. J’aimerais simplement
savoir ce que cela signifie.

M. MacDonald : Je ne suis pas vraiment en mesure de
répondre. Je ne suis pas ici en tant qu’expert en ce qui concerne
les processus de consultation. En tant que praticien, je peux vous
dire ce que I’on attend de nous. Lorsque nous parlons de
consultation, c’est plus qu’un simple engagement. Les deux
parties doivent s’entendre pour se rencontrer et discuter d’un
sujet donné. Cela doit se faire de maniére officielle. Nous
sommes tenus d’expliquer ce qui est proposé, d’écouter, de
réfléchir aux opinions émises et de montrer que nous avons pris
en considération tous les droits que 1’action ciblée est susceptible
d’enfreindre. Ensuite, nous sommes aussi obligés de montrer ce
que nous avons fait pour tenir compte de ces droits si 1’action
proposée a lieu.

C’est I’essence de ce qu’il faut comprendre. Si le comité veut
en savoir plus sur ces consultations significatives et ce qu’elles
signifient, je ne suis probablement pas le mieux placé pour vous
expliquer la politique exacte du gouvernement a cet égard. Dans
la pratique, cela signifie ce que je viens d’expliquer.

Je suis également en mesure de parler du projet de loi. Si vous
le voulez, monsieur le président, je pourrais répondre aux
questions sur ce que nous avons fait dans 1’Arctique, mais je ne
sais pas si le présent contexte se préte a cela.

Le président : Nous nous faisons une idée autour de la table
de ce qui se trouve dans la loi par opposition a ce que les gens
pergoivent comme étant ce qui est suivi. C’est 1a qu’il y a une
zone grise. Je ne sais pas si quelqu’un peut vraiment nous fournir
des explications sur toutes ces zones grises. Il est déja assez
difficile pour nous d’expliquer ce qui est noir et blanc.

Je ne suis pas certain, sénatrice Anderson, que cela a répondu
a votre question. Il se peut que M. MacDonald ne soit pas en
mesure de vous donner la réponse que vous recherchez.

La sénatrice Anderson : C’est un peu la réponse que
j’attendais. Je comprends qu’il y aura une obligation, une
obligation légale, de le faire.
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Senator Christmas: I’ve been thinking about Senator
Patterson’s amendment. I was trying to recollect some of the
evidence we heard at committee. The two individuals that came
to mind were Duane Smith, the Chair and CEO of the Inuvialuit
Corporation, and Premier of Nunavut, Joe Savikataaq. I checked
the testimony of those two witnesses. | was trying to recall the
adequacy of the consultation processes that we already have and
whether or not they were met in developing this legislation.

On February 6, Senator Gold asked Mr. Smith about the
adequacy of the consultation process around the MPA
designations. Mr. Smith when referring to the oil and gas
moratorium, he said:

It is fairly ignorant in regards to my region. I say that
because the government slapped a moratorium on my region
without any consultation to begin with. The reason I say
“ignorant” is because we have had a final agreement with
the federal government for almost 35 years.

The land claims agreement in the Inuvialuit region is the
second major modern treaty we’ve had in Canada. Talking to
that land claims agreement, Mr. Smith said:

We have a co-management body that deals with offshore
marine management and research. It’s called the Fisheries
Joint Management Committee. It has Inuvialuit, territorial
and federal government representation.

In referring to this process that has already been in place for
35 years, he said:

The federal government is ignoring that process of
responsibility that is already in place with the co-
management process.

When Senator Patterson asked about the impact of the
unilateral actions, Mr. Smith:

The present bill as it’s drafted doesn’t respect the rights
within the final agreement that’s in place. It actually goes
backward because there was no real consultation.

When referring to this particular bill, he said:

There needs to be some mechanism or process placed within
this bill to recognize our rights and numerous court rulings
that point out requirements for adequate consultation.

Le sénateur Christmas : J’ai réfléchi & ’amendement du
sénateur Patterson. J’essayais de me rappeler certains des
témoignages que nous avons entendus au comité. Les deux
personnes qui m’ont traversé 1’esprit étaient Duane Smith,
président et directeur général de la Société régionale inuvialuit,
et Joe Savikataaq, le premier ministre du Nunavut. J’ai passé en
revue leurs témoignages. J’essayais de retrouver ce qui avait été
dit sur le caractére adéquat des processus de consultation actuels
et sur le fait que ces processus aient été respectés ou non dans
1’¢laboration de cette mesure 1égislative.

Le 6 février, le sénateur Gold a demandé a M. Smith si le
processus de consultation sur la désignation des zones de
protection marine était adéquat. S’exprimant au sujet du
moratoire sur le pétrole et le gaz, M. Smith a dit :

Je dirais que c’est plutot ignorant en ce qui concerne ma
région. Je dis cela parce que le gouvernement a imposé un
moratoire dans ma région sans aucune consultation
préalable. [...] si je dis « ignorant », c’est parce que nous
avons un accord définitif avec le gouvernement fédéral
depuis prés de 35 ans [...]

L’accord sur les revendications territoriales dans la région
d’Inuvialuit est le deuxiéme grand traité moderne que nous avons
conclu au Canada. En parlant de cet accord sur les revendications
territoriales, M. Smith a dit ceci :

[...] il existe un organisme de cogestion qui s’occupe de la
gestion et de la recherche marines extracotiéres. Il s’agit du
Comité mixte de gestion de la péche, dans lequel sont
représentés les Inuvialuit et les gouvernements territorial et
fédéral.

Voici ce qu’il avait a dire au sujet de ce processus qui est en
place depuis déja 35 ans :

[...] le gouvernement fédéral fait fi du processus établi et de
la responsabilité exercée dans le cadre de la cogestion.

Quand le sénateur Patterson a posé des questions sur 1’impact
des mesures unilatérales, M. Smith a dit :

[...] le projet de loi tel qu’il est rédigé ne respecte pas les
droits que nous confére ’accord définitif. A vrai dire, il fait
marche arriére parce qu’il n’y a pas de véritable
consultation.

11 a dit également, a propos de ce projet de loi :

11 faut prévoir un mécanisme ou un processus dans ce projet
de loi pour reconnaitre nos droits et donner suite aux
nombreuses décisions des tribunaux qui affirment la
nécessité d’une consultation adéquate.



21-3-2019

Péches et océans

39:57

Senator Patterson once again followed up with Mr. Smith and
asked him about the degree of consultation. Mr. Smith referred
to the oil and gas moratorium and said:

. if you consider a phone call 20 minutes before the
announcement of the moratorium being put into place
consultation, then that was the extent of the outreach that
was conducted by the federal government in working — or
lack of working with us — in regards to the development of
this moratorium. We had companies that had rights on the
offshore to explore at that time, and basically that was a
signal for them to shut down. So in reality, there was no
consultation on that.

. again, it depends on what you mean by the extent of
consultation.

Referring to Bill C-55, he said:

We were put on notice that this bill was being drafted,
please provide comment; come to us and provide it if you do
have any comment. If I recollect, there has been no outreach
to the region that will be affected by this bill, and I think
that there should be because we are a democracy. So the
draft bill should be reaching out to the people that it will
effect for them to provide adequate input into it.

That was the CEO of the Inuvialuit Regional Corporation, a
rights holder, who was trying to implement the land claims
agreement. He’s saying the standard under the land claims
agreement is much higher than what’s prescribed in Bill C-55.
He wanted assurance in Bill C-55 that at least it would meet the
higher standard.

Perhaps I could turn again to our other witness, the
Honourable Joe Savikataaq, Premier of Nunavut. He too was
responding to a question from Senator Patterson about how they
wish to be involved in the process for MPAs. The premier said
about Bill C-55:

We’re not against it. We want to be part of the process.
We’re the Government of Nunavut and this is our area. And
it’s no different from the provinces putting up an argument
on their issues if a huge chunk of their coastal area is to be
taken away without their consent and almost without their
knowledge.

At this point I jumped in and asked the premier if he felt
something should be inserted in Bill C-55. I suggested to him:
Should be a collaborative structure in the bill? Should there be a

Le sénateur Patterson est revenu a la charge et lui a posé des
questions sur 1’étendue de la consultation. Faisant allusion au
moratoire sur le pétrole et le gaz, voici ce que M. Smith a
répondu :

[...] pour peu que vous considériez qu’un appel téléphonique
20 minutes avant l’annonce du moratoire constitue une
consultation, c’est tout ce que le gouvernement fédéral a fait
pour travailler — ou ne pas travailler — avec nous a la
préparation du moratoire. Il y avait des entreprises qui
avaient des droits d’exploration extracotiére a 1’époque, et
c’était essentiellement pour elles le signal de fermeture. Il
n’y a donc pas eu, a proprement parler, de consultation a ce
sujet.

[...] cela dépend, encore une fois, de ce que vous entendez
par I’étendue de la consultation.

En ce qui concerne le projet de loi C-55, voici ce qu’il avait a
dire :

Nous avons été avisés que ce projet de loi était en cours de
rédaction. On nous a dit : « Veuillez nous faire part de vos
commentaires, venez nous voir et faites-nous connaitre vos
commentaires, si vous en avez. » Si je me souviens bien, il
n’y a pas eu de sensibilisation dans la région touchée par le
projet de loi, et je pense qu’il devrait y en avoir parce que
nous sommes en démocratie. L’avant-projet de loi devrait
donc s’adresser a la population pour qu’elle puisse y
participer comme il se doit.

C’¢était le PDG de la Société régionale inuvialuit, un détenteur
de droits, qui essayait de mettre en ceuvre [’accord de
revendication territoriale. Il dit que la norme prévue aux termes
de 1’accord de revendication territoriale est beaucoup plus
rigoureuse que ce qui est prescrit dans le projet de loi C-55. Il
voulait avoir 1’assurance que le projet de loi C-55 répond au
moins a la norme la plus rigoureuse.

Je pourrais peut-étre me tourner de nouveau vers notre autre
témoin, 1’honorable Joe Savikataaq, premier ministre du
Nunavut. Lui aussi répondait a une question du sénateur
Patterson sur la fagon dont ils souhaitent participer au processus
de désignation des zones de protection marine. Le premier
ministre a parlé du projet de loi C-55 en ces termes :

[...] nous ne sommes pas contre le processus. Nous voulons
en faire partie. Nous sommes le gouvernement du Nunavut,
et c’est notre région. Et c’est exactement comme les
provinces qui lancent un débat et font connaitre leurs
insatisfactions si un énorme morceau de leur région cotiere
leur est retiré sans leur consentement et presque sans
qu’elles le sachent.

A ce moment-13, j’ai demandé au premier ministre s’il était
d’avis que quelque chose devrait étre inséré dans le projet de
loi C-55. Je lui ai suggéré ceci : le projet de loi devrait-il prévoir
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working group or something that would help identify the areas
before any final decisions were made?

The premier responded:

I think that’s a good recommendation as long as we would
be part of the process. The working group would have to
have Nunavut representation on it.

As 1 keep stating, we are not against marine protected
areas. We want to be part of the process right from when
they start figuring out which areas they want to protect and
what they want to protect it from. A working group
generally works very well; they do all the footwork and then
it goes up to the political level. That’s where it starts to take
form, once they’ve done their work.

Both of these witnesses want to have some kind of comfort or
some mechanism within this bill that enables both the Indigenous
rights groups and the territorial government to be involved in
part of the process of designation of MPAs.

This speaks to me that what we have in place is currently
inadequate despite the duty to consult, despite section 35 rights
and despite the processes we have in place. We know as
parliamentarians that the duty to consult has really failed
Indigenous people quite miserably despite all the legislation and
the court rulings.

I find Senator Patterson’s amendment is quite modest. It has
no reference to rights. It is simply trying to define and elaborate
a process in which the rights holders and the territorial
governments affected by this bill have a clear and defined
process on how they can be engaged.

Fellow senators, I support this bill. I agree that there might be
some tweaks here and there. As someone who has been involved
in Indigenous politics for about 40 years, I have a hard time
trusting government. Perhaps we could be more detailed, more
elaborate and more definitive. At least the two areas of the
Northwest Territories and Nunavut and their two territorial
governments should be given ample assurance and comfort that
the designation of MPAs would have to follow some detailed
process to ensure that they’re involved, engaged and tare
consulted.

Senator Poirier: I don’t really have a question. It’s more just
a comment to add to the debate.

une structure de collaboration? Devrait-il y avoir un groupe de
travail ou quelque chose qui aiderait a identifier les zones avant
que les décisions finales soient prises?

Le premier ministre a répondu :

Je pense qu’il s’agit d’une bonne recommandation,
pourvu que nous fassions partie du processus. Il faudrait
qu’un représentant du Nunavut fasse partie du groupe de
travail.

Comme je n’arréte pas de I’affirmer, nous ne sommes pas
contre les zones de protection marine. Nous voulons faire
partie du processus dés le moment ou on commence a
déterminer quelles zones on veut protéger et de quoi on veut
les protéger. Généralement, les groupes de travail
fonctionnent trés bien; ils effectuent tout le travail sur le
terrain, puis cela remonte a 1’échelon politique. C’est 1a que
le projet commence a prendre forme, une fois qu’ils ont fait
leur travail.

Ces deux témoins veulent que ce projet de loi offre un certain
réconfort ou un mécanisme permettant aux groupes de défense
des droits des Autochtones et au gouvernement territorial de
participer a une partie du processus de désignation des zones de
protection marine.

Cela me porte a croire que ce que nous avons en place est
inadéquat malgré ’obligation de consulter, malgré les droits
garantis par ’article 35 et malgré les processus en place. En tant
que parlementaires, nous savons que, pour les peuples
autochtones, 1’obligation de consulter a vraiment échoué
lamentablement, et ce, malgré toutes les lois et toutes les
décisions rendues par les tribunaux.

Je trouve que I’amendement du sénateur Patterson est trés
modeste. Il ne fait aucune référence aux droits. Il se contente
d’essayer de définir et d’élaborer un processus clair et précis sur
la facon dont les titulaires de droits et les gouvernements
territoriaux touchés par ce projet de loi pourront étre intégrés aux
prises de décisions.

Chers collégues, j’appuie ce projet de loi. Je conviens que
certains ajustements pourraient étre apportés ici et 1la. Comme je
m’intéresse a la politique autochtone depuis une quarantaine
d’années, j’ai de la difficulté a faire confiance au gouvernement.
Le projet de loi pourrait étre plus précis, plus détaillé et plus
achevé. Au minimum, les deux régions des Territoires du Nord-
Ouest et du Nunavut et leurs deux gouvernements territoriaux
devraient se voir donner 1’assurance et la quiétude d’esprit que la
désignation des zones de protection marine ob€ira & un processus
détaillé afin d’assurer qu’ils seront impliqués, mobilisés et
diment consultés.

La sénatrice Poirier : Je n’ai pas vraiment de question. Il
s’agit plutot d’une observation que j’aimerais ajouter au débat.
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[’ve been listening very carefully to all the ongoing debates.
I’ve listened very carefully to Senator Patterson’s presentation
last week. I listened very carefully to the witnesses we had on
this issue and have listened again very carefully to Senator
Christmas’ refreshment of some of the comments that we have
heard.

The biggest thing I seem to be catching around here is that
maybe we shouldn’t take this amendment because it already
seems from the officials’ and the governments’ points of view
covered in the two different acts, the Oceans Act and the other
act that’s out there already. Even though it’s covered in the acts
that they will be protected, obviously from what we are hearing
it’s not working. The people from the area, or the people who
understand the issues and have been there, have told us that
what’s there doesn’t work.

I guess my argument is if it’s already there and you think you
shouldn’t put it in again because we’re duplicating, what’s the
big deal? Why are we even hesitant to put this back if it’s just
reinforcing and just strengthening what’s already there? Other
than a couple of words that I hear about “shall,” “may” and
“interest,” I have not seen any big concerns coming. What’s the
big deal with refusing this amendment?

I am going to support the amendment. It’s good to support it.
It’s great to listen to the people on the ground. I’ve been an
advocate of that all along. I’ve seen issues in New Brunswick
and all lands where people haven’t been consulted and seen the
results from it. I don’t see why we have to continue discussing
this issue for hours and hours and hours when the importance of
this amendment to strengthen what needs to be done is obvious.

I wanted to put that on record.

The Chair: Thank you, Senator Poirier. To your point of
discussion, I understand that to some people this is a drawn-out
process. As chair, I try my best to give everyone ample
opportunity to state their case, as did Senator Patterson on his
amendment, and to allow them an opportunity to say why they
agree or disagree.

On Tuesday night I knew this conversation was going to be
long. This is why we adjourned the other night so that we could
have ample time this morning to do it properly.

Senator MclInnis: I am not going to be repetitive, but I think
Senator Christmas said a lot of what I wanted to say.

J’ai écouté tres attentivement toutes les discussions en cours.
Jai écouté tres attentivement 1’exposé du sénateur Patterson la
semaine derniere. J’ai écouté trés attentivement les témoins que
nous avons entendus sur cette question et j’ai de nouveau écouté
trés attentivement les observations formulées par le sénateur
Christmas au sujet de certaines interventions antérieures.

A mon sens, ce qui est le plus important a retenir de tout cela,
c’est que nous devrions peut-étre rejeter cet amendement
puisqu’il semble, aux dires des fonctionnaires et des
gouvernements, que son objet est déja couvert par deux lois
distinctes, nommément la Loi sur les océans et cette autre loi qui
existe déja. Méme si les lois établissent que ces droits seront
protégeés, il est évident, d’aprés ce que nous entendons, que cela
ne fonctionne pas. Les gens de la région, ou ceux qui
comprennent les problémes et qui sont passés par 1a, nous ont dit
que ce qui existe ne fonctionne pas.

Je suppose que mon argument est que si cette disposition
existe déja et que vous pensez que vous ne devriez pas la
remettre par crainte de redondance, ou est le probléme? Pourquoi
hésitons-nous méme a la remettre si elle ne fait que renforcer ce
qui existe déja? A part les quelques réserves qui ont été évoquées
a propos de mots — les « doit », les « peut » et cette question des
« intéréts » —, je ne comprends pas tout cet émoi. Qui a-t-il de si
grave a rejeter cet amendement?

Je vais appuyer ’amendement. C’est bien de 1’appuyer. C’est
formidable d’écouter les gens sur le terrain. J’ai toujours été une
partisane des consultations. J’ai vu des problémes au Nouveau-
Brunswick et partout ou les gens n’ont pas été consultés, et j’ai
vu les résultats de cela. Je ne vois pas pourquoi nous devons
continuer a discuter de cette question pendant des heures et des
heures alors que I’importance de cet amendement pour renforcer
ce qui doit étre fait est évidente.

Je voulais que cela soit consigné.

Le président : Merci, madame la sénatrice Poirier. Pour en
revenir a votre sujet de discussion, je crois comprendre que, pour
certaines personnes, il s’agit d’un processus qui prend du temps.
En tant que président, je fais de mon mieux pour donner
amplement 1’occasion a chacun de faire valoir son point de
vue — comme [’a fait le sénateur Patterson au sujet de son
amendement — et lui donner la chance de dire pourquoi il est
d’accord ou non.

Mardi soir, je savais que cette conversation allait étre longue.
C’est pourquoi nous avons ajourné la séance. Nous voulions
avoir suffisamment de temps ce matin pour faire les choses
correctement.

Le sénateur MclInnis : Loin de moi I’idée d’étre répétitif,
mais je tiens a signaler que le sénateur Christmas a dit beaucoup
de choses que je voulais dire.
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I am currently part of the discussion of an MPA. It is most
important to understand that this amendment is before an order.
It’s not during; it’s before. I can tell you the anxiety and the fear
of rural communities when they hear after a designation for an
order has been made that consultations are starting. What this is
saying is that before an order may be made this investigative
work will be done.

You may not have experienced it. I am experiencing it. People
are terribly upset. It’s tearing communities apart; it’s terrible.
They don’t know if there’s going to be a block of the lobster
fishery. They don’t know if they’re going to have to get another
career. Have social and economic studies been done to determine
if people will have to be trained? What about ecotourism? All
these types of things are tearing communities apart.

Four different groups have been formed. If you drive down the
eastern shore of Nova Scotia, you will see professionally made
four-by-eight and four-by-four signs saying: “No MPA.” Why?
It is because they weren’t consulted in advance. No one came out
and talked to them. As Senator Christmas said, they don’t even
know what’s being protected.

They’ve fished there for hundreds and hundreds of years. The
waters are pristine. Why, all of a sudden, are we doing this, and
what are we doing it for? That’s the important thing. This is all
well intended, all the consultation and all that type of thing, if in
fact it takes place. It does not in its entirety. I tried to find out
from the band that’s covered the area of the MPA. I’ve been
unable to, but I rather suspect they have not been consulted at all.
Yet all of this has taken place.

There are all kinds of precedents where legislation has been
mentioned in this piece of legislation and in this piece of
legislation. There is absolutely no problem with that. You don’t
have to consolidate everything. Another piece of legislation to
reinforce would be extremely important.

At the end of the bill, you could also reference other pieces of
legislation to ensure they’re brought in as well. For me, this
amendment is wonderful, and it’s something that we should
embrace.

Senator Gold: I have a couple of observations. I am
struggling a little. I understand the importance of the amendment
to allay concerns. It’s more than that, but [ understand that.

Je participe actuellement a une discussion au sujet d’une zone
de protection marine. Il est trés important de comprendre que cet
amendement concerne ce qui se passe avant une ordonnance. Ce
n’est pas pendant, mais avant. Je pourrais vous parler de
I’anxiété et de la crainte des collectivités rurales lorsqu’elles
apprennent, une fois la désignation décrétée, qu’il y aura des
consultations. Ce que cela veut dire, c’est que ce travail
d’enquéte devra étre fait avant qu’une ordonnance ne soit
rendue.

Vous n’en avez peut-étre pas fait I’expérience. C’est ce que je
vois présentement. Les gens sont terriblement contrariés. C’est
en train de déchirer certaines collectivités; c’est terrible. Les
gens ne savent pas s’il y aura un gel de la péche au homard. Ils
ne savent pas s’ils vont devoir changer de carriére. A-t-on fait
des études socio-économiques pour déterminer si les gens
devront recevoir une formation dans d’autres domaines? Qu’en
est-il de I’écotourisme? Toutes ces choses déchirent les
collectivités.

Quatre groupes différents ont été formés. Si vous descendez la
cote est de la Nouvelle-Ecosse en voiture, vous verrez des
panneaux professionnels de quatre sur huit et de quatre sur
quatre qui disent : « Pas de ZPM ». Pourquoi? Parce qu’ils n’ont
pas été consultés a 1’avance. Personne n’est venu leur parler.
Comme 1’a dit le sénateur Christmas, ils ne savent méme pas ce
qui est protégé.

IIs péchent 1a depuis des centaines et des centaines d’années.
Les eaux sont pures. Alors pourquoi faisons-nous cela tout d’un
coup? C’est ce qui est important. Tout cela est bien intentionné,
toutes ces consultations et toutes ces démarches ont leur raison
d’étre, a condition qu’elles aient lieu. Ce n’est pas ce qui se fait,
du moins, pas de fagon aussi poussée qu’il le faudrait. J’ai essayé
de savoir ce qu’il en était aupres du groupe qui a été touché par
cette désignation. Je n’ai pas pu le faire, mais j’aurais tendance a
croire qu’ils n’ont pas été consultés du tout. Pourtant, tout cela
s’est produit.

I1 y a toutes sortes de précédents ot une loi a été évoquée dans
telle ou telle autre loi. Ce n’est absolument pas problématique.
Vous n’avez pas besoin de tout consolider. Il serait néanmoins
extrémement important d’aller chercher du renfort dans une autre
loi.

A la fin du projet de loi, vous pourriez également faire
référence a d’autres mesures législatives pour vous assurer
qu’elles pourront étre évoquées. Pour moi, cet amendement est
formidable, et c’est quelque chose que nous devrions adopter.

Le sénateur Gold : J’ai quelques observations a formuler.
J’ai un peu de mal a me faire une opinion sur cet amendement. Je
comprends D’importance qu’il revét en ce qui concerne
I’apaisement des préoccupations. L’amendement va plus loin,
mais je comprends cet aspect-la de ’amendement.
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The first questions of Senator Bovey covered the two sides of
the coin. Is every jot and tittle covered in legislation and
directives? If so, it might be just fine because the process is not
satisfactory or satisfying to stakeholders. It has legal
significance. Does it add something of legal significance above
and beyond what the current law provides? I am hearing Senator
Patterson say, “In your interpretation it requires consultation,”
and we’ve heard the back and forth. The overlay between
allaying concerns and legal significance is important.

The point of the bill is to provide for interim protection
pending the full regulatory process that has been described. I
have concern with the uncertainty about how much more might
be in the amendment than is currently in the law. Apart from the
important significance of sending a strong signal to government,
as Senator Campbell and others have pointed out, what this
would do to the regulatory process? I would be as concerned as
legislators should be concerned if the consequence of an
amendment is to actually compromise the actual purpose of the
bill. T am not saying that it does, but I am a little concerned about
the difference in language that may exist between the current
Statutory Instruments Act and the proposed amendment. As a
legally trained student of these things, a notion of interest is a
very broad one and can mean many things.

I want to put a concern on record. Salutary though the
objective is, in many cases it reflects what the law and
Constitution require us to do and what the processes ought to be.
Sometimes they are; sometimes our testimony suggests they have
fallen far short.

My enthusiasm is tempered by a legislator’s concern that if we
pass this there will be consequences within the processes that
may have the effect of compromising the purpose of the bill,
which is to provide for some temporary protection of the
environment. I want on record that I sense this amendment has
the support of most people around the table. I suggest that we
move to deal with it. We may get it back with tweaks. We may
get it back with a thanks but no thanks. We’ll cross that bridge
when we come to it.

[ have a concern based upon my ignorance of exactly how the
internal regulatory machine will cope with duplicative language
which has a strong symbolic message. If I were reassured that it
absolutely duplicates word for word, part of me says it’s not
necessary and I like economy. If it doesn’t and I don’t know

Les premiéres questions de la sénatrice Bovey nous ont permis
de parler des deux cotés de la médaille. Est-ce que chaque iota
de I’amendement est abordé dans la mesure législative et les
directives? Si c’est le cas, I’amendement pourrait étre approprié,
car le processus n’est pas satisfaisant ou il ne satisfait pas les
intervenants. L’amendement est cohérent d’un point de vue
juridique. Toutefois, ajoute-t-il une valeur juridique a la version
actuelle de la loi? J’entends le sénateur Patterson dire que, selon
votre interprétation, des consultations sont nécessaires, et nous
avons entendu des arguments dans les deux sens. La
superposition de la valeur juridique et de I’apaisement des
préoccupations importe.

Le projet de loi a pour objet d’assurer une protection
provisoire en attendant la fin du processus réglementaire, qui a
été décrit. Je suis préoccupé par I’incertitude qui existe quant au
nombre d’ajouts qu’apporte I’amendement, comparativement a la
teneur actuelle de la loi. Outre I’importance d’envoyer un
message clair au gouvernement, comme le sénateur Campbell et
d’autres personnes 1’ont souligné, quel effet cet amendement
aura-t-il sur le processus réglementaire? Je serais inquiet, comme
des législateurs devraient 1’étre, si un amendement avait pour
effet de compromettre 1’objectif du projet de loi. Je ne dis pas
que c’est le cas, mais je suis un peu inquiet a propos de la
différence qui pourrait exister entre le libellé actuel de la Loi sur
les textes réglementaires et la formulation de 1’amendement
proposé. En tant qu’analyste de ces questions ayant recu une
formation juridique, j’estime qu’une notion d’intérét est trés
vaste et qu’elle peut vouloir dire de nombreuses choses.

Je tiens a mentionner mes préoccupations afin qu’elles
figurent dans le compte rendu. Aussi salutaire que 1’objectif
puisse étre, dans de nombreux cas, il met en évidence ce que le
droit et la Constitution exigent que nous fassions et ce en quoi
les processus devraient consister. Parfois, les processus sont a la
hauteur, mais parfois les témoignages que nous entendons
semblent indiquer que les processus sont nettement déficients.

Mon enthousiasme est tempéré par ma crainte, en tant que
législateur, que, si nous adoptons l’amendement, il ait des
répercussions sur les processus, des répercussions qui pourraient
avoir pour effet de compromettre 1’objectif du projet de loi, a
savoir  l’assurance  d’une  protection temporaire de
I’environnement. Je tiens a ce que le compte rendu indique le fait
que je sens que la plupart des gens assis a la table appuient cet
amendement. Je suggére que nous proposions de mettre
I’amendement aux voix. Il se peut qu’il nous soit renvoyé avec
des modifications mineures, ou il se peut qu’on nous le renvoie
en disant : « Non, merci. » Nous franchirons cette étape lorsque
le moment sera venu.

Ma crainte est fondée sur mon ignorance de la facon dont le
processus réglementaire interne gérera un libellé redondant qui
communique un message symbolique clair. Si j’étais sir que
I’amendement reproduit mot pour mot le libellé¢ de la loi, une
partie de moi dirait que I’amendement est inutile et que j’aime la
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exactly what the consequences are I think we ought to be
concerned. It is not necessarily to give us pause going forward. I
may choose to abstain because I deeply support the objective
with regard to our Indigenous peoples and First Nations and with
regard to the legitimate interests of territorial and provincial
governments. I am nervous not knowing exactly what are the
consequences are. They have tried to lay it out but it is
circumscribed by their role before us.

It’s our decision to make. I wanted to share those

preoccupations.

Senator Bovey: Could I ask one yes or no answer question?

The Chair: I don’t know if that’s possible, but let’s try.

Senator Bovey: Mr. MacDonald, we’ve heard about no
consultation on the High Arctic Basin from one perspective.
Could I ask you, from your perspective, was there consultation?
Yes or no.

Mr. MacDonald: Yes.
The Chair: Anything is possible here.

Senator Patterson: I’ve said a lot already. I don’t want to add
too much, but I have a couple of points.

First, there was a reference to the term “interests.” I would
point out that in the amendment the word “interests” relates to
the proposed order. It’s not as broad as some might fear.

Second, I’ll be candid here. This is about the offshore. The
word “interests” reflects what I believe are the interests of
Aboriginal rights holders adjacent to the offshore as well as
territorial governments. There is a section in the Inuit land claim,
the Nunavut agreement, that basically acknowledges the Inuit
helped establish sovereignty for Canada in the High Arctic. Inuit
are a marine-based economy. They have interests in the offshore.

Thank you, Senator Christmas, for reiterating what Duane
Smith said about those interests, which were actually recognized
in their agreement, perhaps in a limited way, with the
establishment of a working group that has not really worked. The
Inuit of Nunavut similarly had a provision in their land claim
agreement that allowed for the establishment of a marine

concision. Si ce n’est pas le cas et que j’ignore au juste quelles
seront ses conséquences, je crois que nous devrions étre
préoccupés. Toutefois, je ne dis pas cela nécessairement pour
que cela nous fasse réfléchir a ’avenir. Il se peut que je décide
de m’abstenir de voter, parce que je soutiens fermement
I’objectif du projet de loi en ce qui concerne nos peuples
autochtones, nos Premiéres Nations et les intéréts légitimes des
gouvernements territoriaux et provinciaux. Le fait de ne pas
savoir exactement quelles seront les conséquences de
I’amendement me rend nerveux. Ils ont essayé de les décrire,
mais leur description est circonscrite par le role qu’ils jouent
aupres de nous.

La décision nous revient, mais je souhaitais vous faire part de
ces préoccupations.

La sénatrice Bovey : Pourrais-je poser une question a
laquelle on peut répondre par oui ou non?

Le président : Je ne sais pas si c¢’est possible, mais essayons.

La sénatrice Bovey : Monsieur MacDonald, nous avons
entendu une personne dire qu’il n’y a eu aucune consultation en
ce qui concerne la protection du bassin de I’Extréme-Arctique.
Pourrais-je vous demander si, selon vous, des consultations ont
eu lieu? Veuillez répondre par oui ou non.

M. MacDonald : Oui.
Le président : Tout est possible ici.

Le sénateur Patterson : Comme j’ai déja dit beaucoup de
choses, je ne tiens pas a ajouter trop d’observations, mais j’ai
deux ou trois arguments a faire valoir.

Premiérement, le terme « intéréts » a été mentionné. Je vous
ferais observer que, dans I’amendement, le mot « intéréts » est
lié au projet de décret. Le terme n’est pas aussi général que
certains d’entre vous pourraient le craindre.

Deuxiémement, je serai candide avec vous maintenant. Cela
concerne les ressources extracotiéres. Le mot « intéréts » rend
compte de ce que je crois €tre les intéréts des gouvernements
territoriaux et des détenteurs de droits autochtones adjacents aux
zones extracotiéres. Dans la revendication territoriale par les
Inuits, c¢’est-a-dire 1’Accord sur les revendications territoriales
du Nunavut, il y a une section dans laquelle il est essentiellement
reconnu que les Inuits ont aidé le Canada a établir sa
souveraineté dans I’Extréme-Arctique. L’économie inuite est
axée sur la mer, et les Inuits ont des intéréts dans les ressources
extracdtiéres.

Sénateur Christmas, je vous remercie d’avoir répété ce que
Duane Smith a déclaré a propos de ces intéréts qui ont, en fait,
été reconnus, peut-étre d’une facon limitée, dans I’accord qu’ils
ont négocié, grace a 1’établissement d’un groupe de travail qui
n’a pas vraiment fonctionné. De méme, 1’une des dispositions de
I’accord sur les revendications territoriales des Inuits du Nunavut
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protection committee, which has not been put in place. It doesn’t
exist, even though it was in the agreement. Yes, “interests” has
meaning, and it’s about interests of the rights holders in the
offshore.

First, I will just mention that when the Government of the
Northwest Territories was negotiating devolution in the 1980s I
was premier of the Northwest Territories. We signed what was
called an enabling agreement for a Northern Accord. I was
thrilled that was signed by a minister of the Crown. I was thrilled
that they acknowledged that the Government of the Northwest
Territories had interest in Hudson Bay because Ontario and
Quebec were lusting after what was thought to be resources in
Hudson Bay. So, yes, interest does have meaning, and it’s about
the offshore.

Second, there is this business of emphasizing consultation. In
another committee we’re looking at Bill C-69, the new
regulatory process for major projects in Canada. This regulatory
process is covered by the same Statutory Instruments Act and
cabinet directive, yet there is a whole chapter in Bill C-69 on
Indigenous rights and consultation which hasn’t so far become
an issue in the committee’s consideration of the bill. If it’s okay
for Bill C-69, let’s err on the side of caution and put in what
might be duplicative, according to some views. If it is good
enough for Bill C-69, why don’t we do it here?

The last point is people invoke section 35. The West Coast
Environmental Law group invoked section 35. Mr. MacDonald
has invoked section 35.

Colleagues, section 35 says that the existing Aboriginal rights
of the Inuit, Indians and Metis of Canada shall hereby be
recognized and affirmed. That was a wonderful, happy result that
we all celebrated in 1982. Then we took no less than three
years — and I was involved in every one of those meetings — to
have federal, provincial, territorial ministers and Aboriginal
organizations meet to define section 35. What are those rights?
What do they mean? Put flesh on it. We absolutely failed.
Slowly, some meat has been put on it through a court process. I
agree with Senator Campbell that we don’t want to subject
Aboriginal people, or anyone else, to undertaking to crystallize
their rights. Section 35 doesn’t give me any comfort.

For all these reasons and the examples of failed consultation, I
would respectfully recommend that we support this amendment.
I am glad we’ve had a good debate. I think it will provide a lot of

permet 1’établissement d’un comité de protection marine, qui n’a
jamais été mis en place. Il n’existe pas, méme s’il est mentionné
dans I’accord. Oui, le mot « intéréts » a une signification qui est
liée aux intéréts des détenteurs de droits extracdtiers.

Premicrement, je vais mentionner simplement que, lorsque le
gouvernement des Territoires du Nord-Ouest a négoci¢ le
transfert de certains pouvoirs du gouvernement fédéral dans les
années 1980, j’étais alors premier ministre des Territoires du
Nord-Ouest. Nous avons signé ce qui était appelé une entente
habilitante en vue de 1’Accord du Nord. J’étais exalté que cet
accord ait été signé par un ministre de la Couronne. J’étais
emballé qu’ils reconnaissent que le gouvernement des Territoires
du Nord-Ouest avait des intéréts dans la baie d’Hudson, parce
que 1’Ontario et le Québec reluquaient ce qui était considéré
comme les ressources de la baie d’Hudson. Alors, oui, les
intéréts ont une signification, laquelle est liée aux ressources
extracdtieres.

Deuxiemement, il y a la question de I’importance a accorder
aux consultations. Dans un autre comité, nous examinons le
projet de loi C-69, le nouveau processus réglementaire pour les
projets majeurs au Canada. Ce processus réglementaire est
assujetti a la méme Loi sur les textes réglementaires et a la méme
directive du Cabinet. Pourtant, un chapitre complet du projet de
loi C-69 porte sur les droits des Autochtones et sur les
consultations, des sujets qui n’ont pas encore soulevé des
questions dans le cadre de I’étude du projet de loi par le comité.
Si ces dispositions conviennent au projet de loi C-69, il est
préférable de pécher par excés de prudence en insérant ce qui
pourrait étre redondant, selon certains points de vue. Si ces
dispositions sont assez bien pour le projet de loi C-69, pourquoi
ne les ajoutons-nous pas au projet de loi qui nous occupe?

Mon dernier point est que les gens invoquent I’article 35. Le
groupe West Coast Environmental Law a invoqué 1’article 35, et
M. MacDonald invoque I’article 35.

Chers collégues, ’article 35 stipule que les droits existants des
Inuits, des Indiens et des Métis du Canada sont reconnus et
confirmés. C’est un merveilleux résultat que nous avons tous
célébré en 1982. Ensuite, il a fallu non moins de trois ans, pour
obtenir que les ministres fédéraux, provinciaux et territoriaux se
rencontrent pour définir 1’article 35 — et j’ai participé a chacune
de ces réunions. Quels sont ces droits? Que signifient-ils?
Etoffons-les. Nous avons complétement échoué a répondre a ces
questions. Cependant, ces droits ont lentement été étoffés dans le
cadre de processus judiciaires. Je partage 1’avis du sénateur
Campbell. Nous ne voulons pas que les peuples autochtones, ou
qui que ce soit d’autre, soient obligés d’entreprendre la
concrétisation de leurs droits. L’article 35 ne me réconforte pas
du tout.

Pour toutes ces raisons et les exemples de consultation ratée,
je recommanderais respectueusement que nous appuyions cet
amendement. Je suis heureux que nous ayons eu un débat
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assistance maybe to the department and maybe to the general
public, in saying that all angles of this was given thoughtful
consideration. On balance, I am delighted to hear expressions of
support from my colleagues. Thank you.

The Chair: Thank you, Senator Patterson. I believe we have
all had an opportunity to have our say on Senator Patterson’s
amendment. I thank you all for a very detailed discussion. It’s
my role as chair to make sure that everyone has an opportunity.
We certainly gave ample time to this very important amendment.
It’s a learning process for all of us for sure.

Is it the pleasure of honourable senators to adopt the motion in
amendment?

Senator Patterson: Could I ask for a recorded vote,
Mr. Chair?

The Chair: Honourable senators, we will now proceed to the
roll call. The clerk of the committee will call members’ names,
beginning with the chair and going in alphabetical order.
Senators should verbally indicate whether they vote for, against
or abstain.

Afterward, the clerk will give the results of the vote. Then it is
my duty, as chair, to declare whether the motion is carried or
defeated, but that will speak for itself.

Chantal Cardinal, Clerk of the
Honourable Senator Manning?

Committee: The

Senator Manning: Yes.

Ms. Cardinal: The Honourable Senator Anderson?
Senator Anderson: Yes.

Ms. Cardinal: The Honourable Senator Bovey?
Senator Bovey: I am going to abstain.

Ms. Cardinal: The Honourable Senator Christmas?
Senator Christmas: Yes.

Ms. Cardinal: The Honourable Senator Francis?
Senator Francis: Yes.

Ms. Cardinal: The Honourable Senator Senator Gold?
Senator Gold: I abstain.

Ms. Cardinal: The Honourable Senator Senator McInnis?

constructif a ce sujet. Je pense que cela aidera grandement peut-
étre le ministere et peut-étre le grand public a déclarer que tous
les angles de ce projet de loi ont été examinés
consciencieusement. Dans I’ensemble, je suis ravi d’entendre les
paroles d’appui de mes collégues. Merci.

Le président : Merci, sénateur Patterson. Je crois que nous
avons tous eu l’occasion d’exprimer notre opinion sur
I’amendement du sénateur Patterson. Je vous remercie tous de la
discussion tres détaillée que nous avons eue. En ma qualité de
président, mon réle consiste a m’assurer que tous les membres
ont ’occasion de prendre la parole. Nous avons certainement
accordé amplement de temps a cet amendement trés important.
C’est assurément un processus d’apprentissage pour chacun
d’entre nous.

Plait-il aux honorables sénateurs la motion

d’amendement?

d’adopter

Le sénateur Patterson : Pourrais-je demander un vote par
appel nominal, monsieur le président?

Le président : Honorables sénateurs, nous allons maintenant
procéder a I’appel nominal. La greffiecre du comité nommera
chacun des membres du comité, en commengant par le président
et en poursuivant par ordre alphabétique. Les sénateurs devraient
indiquer verbalement s’ils votent pour ou contre, ou s’ils
s’abstiennent de voter.

Ensuite, la greffiére annoncera les résultats du vote. En tant
que président, il est de mon devoir de décréter si la motion est
adoptée ou rejetée, mais les résultats se passeront d’explications.

Chantal Cardinal, comité : L’honorable

sénateur Manning?

greffiere du

Le sénateur Manning : Oui.

Mme Cardinal : L honorable sénatrice Anderson?
La sénatrice Anderson : Oui.

Mme Cardinal : L honorable sénatrice Bovey?
La sénatrice Bovey : Je m’abstiens.

Mme Cardinal : L honorable sénateur Christmas?
Le sénateur Christmas : Oui.

Mme Cardinal : L honorable sénateur Francis?
Le sénateur Francis : Oui.

Mme Cardinal : L honorable sénateur Gold?

Le sénateur Gold : Je m’abstiens.

Mme Cardinal : L’honorable sénateur McInnis?
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Senator MclInnis: Yes.

Ms. Cardinal: The Honourable Senator Senator Patterson?
Senator Patterson: Yes.

Ms. Cardinal: The Honourable Senator Petitclerc?
Senator Petitclerc: Yes.

Ms. Cardinal: The Honourable Senator Senator Campbell?
Senator Campbell: Yes.

Ms. Cardinal: The Honourable Senator Poirier?

Senator Poirier: Yes.

Ms. Cardinal: Abstentions, 2; yeas, 9; nays, 0.

The Chair: The motion is carried and the amendment is
adopted.

Shall clause 5, as amended, carry?

Senator MclInnis: I have two amendments. Let me deal with
the first one.

The Chair: They are TM3 and TM4. We’ll do TM3 first.
Does everyone have a copy of TM3?

Senator Mclnnis: I move:

That Bill C-55 be amended in clause 5, on page 4, by
adding the following after line 32:

“(4) Despite section 35.2, no order may be made under
subsection (2) unless the minister

(a) is able to delineate the exact geographical location of
the proposed marine protected area and make a precise
determination of any habitat or species requiring
protection in that area; and

(b) posts a report of the information referred to in
paragraph (a) on the departmental website.”

If I may just say a word or two about the amendment, it makes
it mandatory for the minister to determine what exactly is to be
protected within the proposed so-called area of interest prior to
the designation of the order and to precisely determine what
habitat or species is to be protected. Finally, the department’s
findings must be posted on the website.

Hearsay and unfounded statements can and do create turmoil
among stakeholders. Businesses and communities at large have
tremendous concern and worry. Rumours of geographic areas to
be covered are a problem. What footprint covers and no-take
zones may be in play? Will aquaculture companies that employ a

Le sénateur MclInnis : Oui.

Mme Cardinal : L honorable sénateur Patterson?

Le sénateur Patterson : Oui.

Mme Cardinal : L honorable sénatrice Petitclerc?

La sénatrice Petitclerc : Oui.

Mme Cardinal : L honorable sénateur Campbell?

Le sénateur Campbell : Oui.

Mme Cardinal : L honorable sénatrice Poirier?

La sénatrice Poirier : Oui.

Mme Cardinal : Il y a 2 abstentions, 9 oui et aucun non.

Le président : La motion et ’amendement sont adoptés.

L’article 5 modifié est-il adopté?

Le sénateur Meclnnis : J’ai préparé deux amendements.
Permettez-moi de présenter le premier.

Le président : Ce sont les amendements TM3 et TM4. Nous
discuterons de I’amendement TM3 en premier. Avez-vous tous
une copie de ’amendement TM3?

Le sénateur McInnis : Je propose :

Que le projet de loi C-55 soit modifié, a 1’article 5, a la
page 4, par adjonction, apres la ligne 31, de ce qui suit :

« (4) Malgré I’article 35.2, il est interdit de prendre un arrété
en vertu du paragraphe (2), sauf si le ministre :

a) peut délimiter I’emplacement géographique exact de la
zone de protection marine proposée et identifier
précisément les habitats et les espéces qui doivent étre
protégées dans cette zone;

b) publie un rapport contenant les renseignements visés a
I’alinéa a) sur le site Web du ministére. ».

Si je peux me permettre de dire quelques mots a propos de
I’amendement, j’aimerais mentionner qu’il oblige le ministre a
déterminer exactement quelles espéces ou quels habitats seront
protégés dans la soi-disant zone d’intérét proposée avant que
I’arrété de désignation soit pris. Enfin, les conclusions du
ministére doivent étre affichées sur son site Web.

Les oui-dire et les déclarations non fondées peuvent
bouleverser la vie des intervenants. Les entreprises et les
collectivités en général éprouvent de grandes craintes. Les
rumeurs qui courent sur les régions géographiques qui seront
couvertes causent des problémes. Quelles empreintes et quelles
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lot of people be shut down? In my mind and for many others
from the province that I represent, it’s important to get as many
details up front. We hear that the department does that, but I
have to tell you that they did not in this instance.

We cannot continue to create a veil of uncertainty as to what
the MPA or the interim MPA will hold for the communities in
these areas. It pits community groups against other community
groups. As I said, when you have a challenge to your livelihood
you don’t know if you’re going to be able to fish or not fish.

In this particular area that I am referring to, there are 800
lobster fishermen. That’s the income and that’s the community.
It’s not just the lobster fishermen. It’s the gas stations. It’s
grocery stores. It’s the people who buy vehicles. It has a
detrimental effect on all of these types of things. People have a
great deal of consternation and anxiety over the fact that they
don’t know what’s coming. They don’t know exactly what area
will be covered. They suggest that this area is 2,100 kilometres.
It’s a big area. It covers an awful lot of small rural communities.
They simply don’t know what their future is.

In advance of any footprint being put into play, this would do
some research to lay out where it is going to cover, what are the
effects on the community and what exactly it is going to be
protected. It can be said by the department that they do this. The
people in the department are all nice. Don’t get me wrong. This
is not a shot against them. They can say it’s done, and it’s not
done. It’s not completed. It’s not consulted. With respect to the
Indigenous people, I couldn’t get a hold of Chief Gloade last
week, but from what I am indirectly told there has been no
consultation with the Indigenous communities in this particular
area. That’s what I’ve been told. It’s not absolute, and I so
qualify.

That’s why I am trying to prevent this turmoil. As I mentioned
on Tuesday evening, at a meeting on Saturday afternoon there
had to be 250 to 300 people in attendance. As I say, there is this
veil of uncertainty. There has to be a better way to do it. We hold
this up as starting in year one, the time of the order that’s in play.
At the end of five years, the minister then has to bring it into
regulations and the Governor-in-Council has to approve it. It
may be rejected. It could be rejected, or they could become
regulations and a full-blown marine protected area.

zones sans prélévement peuvent €tre en jeu? Les entreprises
aquacoles qui emploient un grand nombre de travailleurs
fermeront-elles leurs portes? D’aprés moi et d’aprés un grand
nombre d’habitants de la province que je représente, il est
important d’obtenir dés le début le plus d’information possible.
Nous entendons dire que le ministére fournit ces renseignements,
mais je dois vous dire que, dans le cas présent, il ne I’a pas fait.

Nous ne pouvons pas continuer a créer un voile d’incertitude
quant au sort que la ZPM ou la ZPM provisoire réserve aux
collectivités de ces régions. Cela dresse des groupes
communautaires contre d’autres groupes communautaires.
Comme je 1’ai indiqué, lorsque votre gagne-pain est menacé,
vous ignorez si vous serez en mesure de pécher ou non.

Dans la région a laquelle je fais allusion, il y a 800 pécheurs
de homard. Cette péche est la source de revenus de cette
collectivité. Cette incertitude ne touche pas seulement les
pécheurs de homard. Elle a des répercussions sur les stations
d’essence, les épiceries et les gens qui achétent des véhicules.
Elle nuit a tous ces types d’activités. Les gens ressentent une
grande consternation et anxiété a propos du fait qu’ils ignorent
ce qui adviendra. Ils ne savent pas exactement quelle étendue
sera couverte. Ils estiment que cette zone a une superficie de 2
100 kilomeétres. C’est une grande zone qui touche un grand
nombre de petites collectivités rurales. Leurs habitants ne savent
tout simplement pas ce que 1’avenir leur réserve.

Avant que toute empreinte entre en jeu, cela permettrait de
mener des recherches pour exposer 1’emplacement de la ZPM,
les effets qu’elle aurait sur la collectivité, et les espéces ou les
habitats particuliers qu’elle protégerait. On peut peut-&tre dire
que le ministére fournit déja ces renseignements, et ses employés
sont tous trés gentils. Comprenez-moi bien; je ne cherche pas a
m’attaquer a eux. Ils peuvent dire que cela a été fait, mais ce
n’est pas le cas. Le travail n’est pas terminé, et des consultations
n’ont pas été menées. En ce qui concerne les Autochtones, je n’ai
pas réussi a joindre le chef Gloade la semaine derniére, mais,
d’aprés ce qu’on m’a dit indirectement, les collectivités
autochtones de cette région particuliére n’ont pas été consultées.
Voila ce qu’on m’a communiqué. Mon information n’est pas
absolument stire, et je le mentionne.

Voila pourquoi je m’efforce de prévenir ces bouleversements.
Comme je I’ai mentionné mardi soir, de 250 a 300 personnes ont
assisté a une réunion tenue samedi aprés-midi. Comme je 1’ai
indiqué, il régne la-bas une grande incertitude. Il doit y avoir une
meilleure fagon de faire les choses. Nous faisons respecter cette
zone a compter de 1’année un, c¢’est-a-dire au moment ou 1’arrété
entre en jeu. A la fin de I’année cing, le ministre doit prendre un
réglement a cet égard, et le gouverneur en conseil doit
I’approuver. Toutefois, le réglement peut étre rejeté. Il pourrait
I’étre, ou le reéglement pourrait étre pris, et la zone pourrait
devenir une véritable zone de protection marine.
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In advance of all of this, we are saying: Do the work they say
is being done, but it’s not enshrined in any legislation that I can
see. That’s the whole purpose. In advance, make it law that they
have to come up with the criteria I mentioned in the amendment.

Senator Gold: I have three questions about this amendment
for our officials that are here. I will ask the first two together.

First, were this amendment to be enacted, generally speaking,
how would this change, if at all, the process contemplated for
temporary MPAs? I mean how would it change both the terms of
the details and the time it would take. Every area is different, but
answer it anyway you wish with as much detail as you can.

Second, and depending on your answer, would it compromise
the objective of this bill? As I understand, it is to provide for
some interim protection before all of the work? If you’ve
described it then we need not rehear it. Would it compromise or
frustrate the objectives of the bill which is to create this interim
or temporary protection? I would really be grateful for you to
help us understand that better.

Mr. MacDonald: It would change the process. This proposed
amendment directs the minister to delineate the exact
geographical location of the proposed marine protected area and
make a precise determination of any habitat or species requiring
protection in that area. It would put us into a loop in the sense
that the whole purpose of the process we go through to establish
a marine protected area ultimately, in regulation, is iterative. We
are trying to determine through our processes the precise
determination of the habitat or species and the exact
geographical location at the final end of the process.

It presupposes that we know that information before we enter
into the final consultation period. It would put us into a loop
where we would never be able to prove that the minister
delineated exactly the geographical location and the precise
determination for the proposed MPA because the MPA has not
yet been established. We get into a loop in terms of trying to be
exact and precise at a moment in the process when we are trying
to determine that information.

Senator Gold: I am going to try and understand it in
vernacular terms, and here I invoke my late father who loved to
fish.

Avant que tout cela se produise. Nous les exhortons a faire le
travail qu’ils prétendent avoir fait, méme si, @ ma connaissance,
cela n’est prescrit par aucune loi. L’amendement a pour but de
donner a I’avance force de loi au fait qu’ils doivent préciser le
critére que j’ai mentionné dans I’amendement.

Le sénateur Gold : J’ai trois questions a poser aux hauts
fonctionnaires ici présents a propos de I’amendement dont nous
sommes saisis. Je vais formuler les deux premicres en méme
temps.

Premic¢rement, si 1’amendement était adopté, comment en
général cela modifierait-il, le cas échéant, le processus envisagé
pour établir des ZPM provisoires? Je veux dire, comment cela
modifierait-il le processus du point de vue de ses détails et de sa
durée? Chaque zone est différente, mais veuillez répondre a la
question comme bon vous semble en fournissant autant de
renseignements que possible.

Deuxiémement, selon votre premicere réponse, cette
modification compromettrait-elle I’objectif du projet de loi? Si
j’ai bien compris, le projet de loi a pour but d’assurer une
protection provisoire avant que tout le travail de recherche soit
accompli. Si vous avez déja décrit son objectif, nous avons
besoin d’entendre de nouveau vos précisions. L’amendement
compromettrait-il ou entraverait-il les objectifs du projet de loi,
qui consistent a assurer cette protection provisoire ou
temporaire? Si vous pouviez nous aider a mieux comprendre les
répercussions de I’amendement, je vous en serais grandement
reconnaissant.

M. MacDonald : Son adoption changerait le processus.
L’amendement proposé demande au ministre de délimiter
I’emplacement géographique exact de la zone de protection
marine et d’identifier précisément les habitats et les espéces qui
doiventétre protégés dans cette zone. Cela nous placerait dans
une boucle en ce sens que ’objectif global du processus que
nous suivons pour créer une zone de protection marine est, au
bout du compte, itératif dans la réglementation. Par
I’intermédiaire de nos processus, nous essayons de définir
précisément les habitats ou les espéces et I’emplacement
géographique exact a la fin du processus.

Cela présuppose que nous connaissons cette information avant
d’entamer la période de consultations finale. Cela nous placerait
dans une boucle ot nous ne serions jamais en mesure de prouver
que le ministre a délimité exactement I’emplacement
géographique et identifi¢ précisément la zone de protection
marine proposée parce que celle-ci n’a pas encore été
déterminée. Nous entrons dans une boucle parce que nous
essayons d’étre exacts et précis & un stade du processus ou nous
tentons de déterminer cette information.

Le sénateur Gold : Je vais essayer de I’expliquer en langage
populaire et, pour ce faire, j’invoquerai mon défunt pére qui
adorait la péche.
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Would the effect of this be to gut the bill?

Mr. MacDonald: It would gut the intent of the bill in the
sense that we’re trying to bring in an interim protection so that
for the five-year period we’re trying to be more precise with
what exactly are the geographic location, the habitat and/or
species. Because the bill is designed in a way where a minister
after five years has to make a decision as to whether to
recommend an MPA or to repeal the order, the intent of the five-
year process is to get to the point to where the minister is
satisfied he can be precise in terms of what is being protected
and be exact in terms of the geographic location.

Senator Gold: It would make it impossible to achieve the
objectives of this bill if what appears to be the final requirements
for the designation of a permanent MPA have to be satisfied
before a temporary one can be put into place.

Mr. MacDonald: That’s correct, yes.
Senator Gold: Thank you for that.

Senator Mclnnis: Just a minute now. This committee has
been told that a great deal of science has been carried out in
advance of any area of interest and footprint being put in play.
We were told that. I think at one point you even said that,
Senator Bovey. In advance of coming out, certain science and
certain information was gathered. Otherwise, why would you
even be in that area? Why would you come out when you have
absolutely no information at all? You haven’t done any
investigative work, really. You know that’s not true. Before you
come out and put an interim MPA in place, lots of preparatory
work was supposed to be done. Why would you be there? We
were told that here.

Please explain that. How would this possibly gut a bill that
you were to be democratic about? You are actually going to
come out and tell the people in advance, before all the groups are
formed, that this is where we’re going to put it; this is the area
we’re going to cover; and, incidentally, this is the habitat and
species that we’re concerned about and want protection for.

How would that gut the bill? I would like to hear an answer to
that.

Mr. MacDonald: It guts the bill, in the sense that amendment
for subsection (a) has words in it that are very specific. It says
the exact geographic location and a precise determination of any
habitat or species requiring protection in that area. Those three
words, “exact, precise and requiring,” would put the onus on the
minister to have to be exact, precise and talk about requiring at a
moment in time when none of those things have been finalized.

Est-ce que cela aurait pour effet d’éviscérer le projet de 10i?

M. MacDonald : Cela éviscérerait le projet de loi en ce sens
que notre intention est de tenter d’instaurer une mesure de
protection provisoire de facon a essayer de définir plus
précisément 1’emplacement géographique, les habitats ou les
espéces exacts qui seront visés pendant la période de cinq ans.
Comme le projet de loi a été rédigé de manieére a ce qu’un
ministre doive, aprés cinq ans, décider de recommander la
création d’une zone de protection marine ou d’abroger
I’ordonnance, I’intention du processus quinquennal est d’en
arriver au point ou le ministre estime qu’il peut dire précisément
ce qui est protégé et définir avec exactitude 1’emplacement
géographique.

Le sénateur Gold : 11 serait impossible d’atteindre les
objectifs de ce projet de loi si ce qui semble étre les exigences
finales pour la désignation d’une zone de protection marine
doivent étre satisfaites avant qu’une zone temporaire puisse étre
mise en place.

M. MacDonald : C’est exact, oui.
Le sénateur Gold : Merci pour cette réponse.

Le sénateur MclInnis : Un instant. Le comité s’est fait dire
qu’on avait mené énormément de recherches scientifiques avant
qu’une quelconque zone d’intérét et empreinte entre en jeu. C’est
ce qu’on nous a dit. Je pense que vous 1’avez méme dit a un
moment donné, sénatrice Bovey. Avant I’annonce, on a recueilli
certaines données scientifiques et certains renseignements.
Sinon, pourquoi iriez-vous méme dans ce secteur? Pourquoi
feriez-vous une annonce alors que nous n’avez absolument
aucune information? Vous n’avez pas vraiment enquété. Vous
savez que ce n’est pas vrai. Avant de décider de mettre en place
une zone de protection marine provisoire, vous étiez censé faire
beaucoup de travail préparatoire. Pourquoi seriez-vous 1a? C’est
ce qu’on nous a dit.

Veuillez, je vous prie, expliquer comment cela pourrait
éviscérer un projet de loi a 1’égard duquel vous deviez étre
démocratique. Vous allez vraiment dire aux gens a 1’avance,
avant que tous les groupes ne soient formés, que c’est 1’endroit
ou vous aller créer cette zone; c’est le secteur que nous allons
couvrir; et, incidemment, ce sont les habitats et les espéces qui
nous préoccupent et que nous voulons protéger.

En quoi cela éviscérerait-il le projet de loi? J’aimerais obtenir
une réponse a cette question.

M. MacDonald : Cela éviscére le projet de loi en ce sens que
la modification de 1’alinéa a) contient des termes qui sont trés
précis. Il est question de délimiter I’emplacement géographique
exact et d’identifier précisément les habitats ou les espéces qui
doivent étre protégés dans cette zone. Ces trois termes, « exact,
précisément et doivent » obligeraient le ministre a étre exact et
précis et a parler de devoir a un moment ou aucune de ces choses
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The purpose of the interim protection is to give some interim
protection. It’s not turning the area into a protected area; it’s
merely freezing the footprint.

But it allows the time for the minister, the stakeholders, the
other levels of government and the Indigenous groups to be fully
satisfied that we have been exact and precise, and that we know
what is required at the moment when a full regulation is brought
into place.

Senator MclInnis: When I dealt with the clerk’s office, they
suggested the words “exact” and “precise.” I am not wedded to
them at all, but you know the geographical footprint would be
approximated. In fact, it was said that this particular area was
2,165 kilometres, about 15 kilometres from mean tide. You had a
pretty good idea. Someone did some preparatory work for that
one.

With respect to the habitat, I agree with you. You would have
a pretty darn good idea whether there are or sponges or what
habitat is there. You would know that. It’s coming out now that
there are certain kinds of grasses, eelgrass and these types of
things. You had a pretty good idea on that, but I am not wedded
to “exact” and “precise.” I am wedded to the whole purpose of
stopping the anxiety and doing it up front before we have the
footprint frozen. We were told the preparatory work was carried
out.

Senator Petitclerc: Thank you for your concerns. I am trying
to recall the academics and the marine specialist that we heard
from. My worry is that in my recollection they explained that it
was complex when it comes to evaluating ecosystems and
changing the habitat. While it’s scientific, it’s not always that
they can pinpoint one species, one habitat or one geographical
decision. The indications say to them as experts that something
wrong is happening and they need to protect that space.

An amendment like that would really restrict the ability to
come to that conclusion. Sometimes it can be a change in
temperature, a change in numbers, or something a way more
complex than having one species. That is why I would be very
hesitant that it would counteract what the bill is trying to do. I
am very supportive about the goal of this bill, but that’s my
general worry.

Senator Campbell: I am having difficulty understanding
what is wrong with the terms “exact” and “precise.” I don’t think
that it is definitive at the end of the day. You can say that this is
where we are looking at putting this. Here’s where it’s going to
be. This is the area that we’re looking at.

n’a été finalisée. L’objectif de la mesure de protection provisoire
est d’offrir une protection provisoire. Il ne s’agit pas de faire de
la zone une aire protégée, mais simplement de geler I’empreinte.

Toutefois, cela donne le temps au ministre, aux intervenants,
aux autres ordres de gouvernement et aux groupes autochtones
d’étre convaincus que nous avons été exacts et précis, et que
nous savons ce qu’on doit protéger au moment ou une pleine
réglementation sera mise en ceuvre.

Le sénateur MclInnis : Lorsque j’ai eu affaire au bureau de la
greffiére, on m’a suggéré les termes « exact » et « précisément ».
Je n’y suis pas profondément attaché, pas du tout, mais vous
savez que l’empreinte géographique serait approximative. En
fait, on a dit que cette zone particuliére faisait 2,165 kilométres,
a 15 kilométres environ de la marée moyenne. Vous aviez une
assez bonne idée. Quelqu’un a fait du travail préparatoire dans ce
cas.

Je suis d’accord avec vous en ce qui concerne les habitats.
Vous auriez une sacrée bonne idée des habitats qui s’y trouvent
ou s’ils contiennent des éponges ou autres. Vous le sauriez. On
apprend maintenant qu’il y a certains types d’herbes, de mousse
de mer et de choses du genre. Vous en aviez une assez bonne
idée, mais je ne tiens pas mordicus & « exact » ou
« précisément ». Je suis profondément attaché a 1’objectif global
de mettre fin a ’anxiété et de faire les choses avant que
I’empreinte ne soit gelée. On nous a dit qu’on avait mené les
travaux préparatoires.

La sénatrice Petitclerc : Merci d’avoir soulevé ces
préoccupations. J’essaie de me souvenir des universitaires et du
spécialiste du domaine maritime que nous avons entendus. Ce
qui m’inquiéte, c’est que je crois me rappeler qu’ils ont expliqué
que 1’évaluation des écosystémes et la modification de 1’habitat
étaient complexes. Bien qu’il s’agisse de questions scientifiques,
ils ne sont pas toujours en mesure d’isoler une espece, un habitat
ou une décision géographique. Les données indiquent a ces
experts que quelque chose va mal et qu’ils ont besoin de protéger
cet espace.

Pareille modification limiterait vraiment la capacité d’en
arriver a cette conclusion. Parfois, il peut s’agir d’un changement
de température, d’un changement de nombres ou de quelque
chose de beaucoup plus complexe que le fait d’avoir une espéce.
Voila pourquoi je crains fort que cela puisse contrer ce que le
projet de loi essaie de faire. Je suis trés favorable & 1’objectif de
ce projet de loi, mais c’est ce qui m’inquicte en général.

Le sénateur Campbell : J’ai du mal a comprendre ce qui
cloche avec les termes « exact » et « précisément ». Je ne pense
pas que ce soit définitif au bout du compte. Vous pouvez dire
que c’est I’endroit ou nous envisageons d’instaurer une zone de
protection marine. Voila ou elle sera. C’est le secteur que nous
examinons.
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At the end of the day that allows the people who are there to
have some idea of what’s going on, but I don’t believe it holds
them to that as definitive. As you go into this, as you study it, as
more people get involved and as more information comes
forward, maybe it changes. At least you’re involving people in it,
and they know where it’s going to be.

The idea that we throw out a big net and then narrow it down,
I don’t think that is a wrong way of looking at it. The
government hates words like “exact” and “precise” because they
feel like they can never live up to them. That simply is not true. I
don’t see how this guts it. I don’t see that at all. One of the
problems we have going here is communications between
government and stakeholders, for want of a better word, and
there are lots of them. I don’t have any difficulty with this.

Senator Bovey: I agree with the sentiments expressed by
Senator Petitclerc on this one.

Senator Gold: I heard what the witnesses suggested. I am
going to put words in your mouth, and please correct me if [ am
wrong. I took from them was that this is the degree of precision
that will be required, and properly so, for it to become a
permanent MPA. It’s totally appropriate for that stage of the
process when it’s going to become a permanent MPA, with all
that implies for the stakeholders, the fishing and transportation
industries, the Indigenous rights holders and others.

If T understand the point of this bill is to allow, under the
precautionary principle, current activities to go on such as
freezing the footprint. We’ve had discussion about that. This
would be during a period where consultations, further scientific
inquiry and geographical precisions take place. By definition, if
we care about the consultation that stakeholders are demanding,
properly so, and that the government is obligated to do, properly
so, reinforced by an amendment that we’ve passed, that’s what
will determine the exact geographical area.

We’ve had examples in testimony about how, through the
better of the processes that have occurred up to now, the map has
shifted with the input of Indigenous and other stakeholders with
their own particular knowledge. Similarly, only when the science
gets deeper and takes advantage of these consultations will we
know exactly — and here my ignorance is going to betray me —
whether it is sponge or that sea cucumber or the like. When I
asked the question at the beginning, it was because I was
concerned that the amendment would effectively make it
impossible to implement this act. It would require a level of
certainty or a level of precision the current Oceans Act already
requires and therefore would render this act meaningless.

Au bout du compte, cela permet aux gens qui y sont d’avoir
une idée de ce qui se passe, mais je ne crois pas qu’ils doivent y
étre tenus comme si ¢’était une décision définitive. Peut-&tre que
cela changera plus on approfondira la question, plus il y aura de
gens qui participent au processus et plus on obtiendra de
renseignements. Au moins, on fait participer les gens, qui savent
ou la zone sera créée.

L’idée qu’on jette un grand filet et qu’on le rétrécisse, je ne
pense pas que ce soit une mauvaise fagon d’envisager la chose.
Le gouvernement déteste des termes comme « exact » et
« précisément », car il estime ne jamais pouvoir atteindre ces
idéaux. C’est tout simplement faux. Je ne vois pas comment cela
éviscere le projet de loi. Pas du tout. Un des problémes que nous
avons est celui des communications entre le gouvernement et les
intervenants, si vous me permettez 1’expression, et ils sont
nombreux. Cela ne me pose pas probléme.

La sénatrice Bovey : Je suis d’accord avec les sentiments
exprimés par la sénatrice Petitclerc a cet égard.

Le sénateur Gold : J’ai entendu ce que les témoins ont
suggéré. Je vais vous faire dire des choses, et je vous prierais de
me corriger si je me trompe. J’ai cru comprendre qu’il s’agit du
degré de précision qui sera exigé, et a juste titre, pour qu’elle
devienne une zone de protection marine permanente. C’est
totalement approprié a ce stade du processus lorsqu’un endroit va
devenir une zone de protection marine permanente, avec tout ce
que cela implique pour les intervenants, les secteurs des péches
et des transports, les titulaires de droits autochtones et d’autres
personnes.

Si je comprends bien, 1’objectif de ce projet de loi est de
permettre, en application du principe de précaution, le maintien
des activités actuelles comme le gel de ’empreinte. Nous en
avons discuté. Ce serait pendant une période ou les
consultations, d’autres enquétes scientifiques et des précisions
géographiques ont lieu. Par définition, si nous nous soucions des
consultations que réclament les intervenants, a juste titre, et que
le gouvernement est obligé de tenir, comme il se doit, et qui sont
renforcées par un amendement que nous avons adopté, c’est ce
qui déterminera la zone géographique exacte.

Pendant les témoignages, nous avons eu des exemples de la
facon dont, par I’intermédiaire de la plupart des processus qui
ont eu lieu a ce jour, la carte a changé en fonction des
commentaires des Autochtones et d’autres intervenants et de
leurs connaissances particuliéres. De méme, ce n’est que lorsque
les données scientifiques s’approfondissent et tirent parti de ces
consultations que nous saurons exactement — et ici, mon
ignorance va me trahir — s’il s’agit d’une éponge ou d’un
concombre de mer ou de quelque chose de semblable. Lorsque
j’ai posé la question au début, c’était parce que je craignais que
I’amendement fasse en sorte qu’il soit impossible de mettre en
ceuvre cette mesure législative dans les faits. Elle requerrait
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For anything you would ultimately be able to do under this act,
you don’t need this act to do it.

I was colloquial in my language of gut. I didn’t mean any
offence. I hesitate to use the word, but I see this as almost out of
scope because it really frustrates the purpose of the interim
protection regime that is the only rationale for this bill.

I understand opposition to MPAs and the impact they have on
communities. | know there’s great concern among communities
in your province, Senator Mclnnis, and undoubtedly elsewhere.
We have heard of the North, but our job is to ensure that any
amendments we pass do not completely frustrate, if not
compromise, the objectives of the bill.

I can’t support this amendment for that reason, unless I’ve
misunderstood. I should end with a question. Do I understand
your analysis correctly?

Mr. MacDonald: Yes, that’s part of it. The other part is
related to the chapeau because it describes section 35.2 that lays
out the precautionary approach which members have been
alluding to.

If we are to use the precautionary approach under section 35.2,
and then underneath it says you have to be precise and exact
despite that, that’s how it becomes a loop. We are saying that the
authority is there because we are acting out of precaution in a
temporary way to make sure we’re protecting what we know is
important. At the same time this amendment would ask us to be
precise and exact and know in advance what requires protection.

Senator Christmas: I agree with you, Mr. MacDonald, that
the three words you had outlined, “exact, precise and requiring,”
would substantially change the process of a designated interim
MPA. It strikes me that it would be contradictory to the intent
and spirit of the act.

I also agree that the minister should have a responsibility to
communicate to the public the location of the proposed interim
MPA and what species of value are within that area. I would be
open to choosing better words other than “exact, precise and
requiring.”

Are there other words, Senator Mclnnis, that could be used?
Senator Mclnnis: I am sorry.

The Chair: He is asking you something, I believe.

un niveau de certitude ou de précision que la Loi sur les océans
en vigueur exige déja, ce qui lui ferait perdre tout son sens. Nul
besoin de cette mesure législative pour faire ce qu’elle vous
permettrait de faire au bout du compte.

J’ai été familier lorsque j’ai parlé d’éviscérer. Je ne voulais
choquer personne. J’hésite a employer ce terme, mais je vois la
chose comme allant presque au-dela de la portée de 1’étude parce
qu’elle entrave vraiment l’objectif du régime de protection
provisoire qui est la seule justification de ce projet de loi.

Je comprends qu’on s’oppose aux zones de protection marine
et a I’incidence qu’elles ont sur les collectivités. Je sais que les
collectivités de votre province sont vivement préoccupées,
sénateur Mclnnis, et ailleurs aussi, sans aucun doute. Nous avons
entendu parler du Nord, mais notre travail est de veiller a ce que
tout amendement que nous adoptons n’entrave pas
complétement, voire ne compromette pas, les objectifs du projet
de loi.

Voila pourquoi je ne peux pas appuyer cet amendement, a
moins que j’aie mal compris. Je devrais terminer sur une
question. Ai-je bien compris votre analyse?

M. MacDonald : Oui, cela en fait partie. L’autre aspect se
rapporte au chapeau parce qu’il décrit ’article 35.2, qui énonce
I’approche de précaution a laquelle les membres ont fait allusion.

Si nous utilisons I’approche de précaution prévue a
I’article 35.2, et qu’ensuite, en dessous, on dit qu’il faut étre
précis et exact malgré cela, c’est ainsi que cela devient une
boucle. Nous disons que le pouvoir existe parce qu’on agit par
précaution de fagon temporaire pour s’assurer de protéger ce que
nous savons étre important. Parallélement, cet amendement nous
demanderait d’étre précis et exacts et de savoir a I’avance ce qui
doit étre protégé.

Le sénateur Christmas : Je suis d’accord avec vous,
monsieur MacDonald, pour dire que les trois mots que vous avez
énoncés, soit « exact, précisément et doivent » modifieraient
considérablement le processus de désignation d’une zone de
protection marine provisoire. Cela me frappe comme étant en
contradiction avec I’intention et I’esprit de la loi.

Je conviens aussi que le ministre devrait étre responsable de
communiquer au public I’emplacement de la zone de protection
marine provisoire que 1’on propose et les espéces de valeur qui
s’y trouvent. Je serais partant pour choisir de meilleurs termes
que « exact, précisément et doivent ».

Pourrait-on employer d’autres termes, sénateur McInnis?
Le sénateur Mclnnis : Désolé.

Le président : Je crois qu’il vous demande quelque chose.
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Senator Christmas: Yes, [ was suggesting to Senator
Mclnnis that other words could be used to replace “exact, precise
and requiring” that might meet the intent of his amendment. I
agree the minister should have a responsibility to communicate
to the public the geographical location and the value of the
habitat.

Senator MclInnis: As I said earlier, those words can be taken
out and can be dropped. I don’t like to use general terms, but you
could even say, “is able to delineate the approximate
geographical location of the proposed marine protected area and
make an estimate,” or words such as those. The whole purpose of
this is to it lay it to rest so that the individuals and the coastal
communities know where approximately this is going to be. It’s
hard to elaborate in stronger words that this is very important to
them. The other is for them to know what exactly is going to be
protected.

You could have a situation where there’s an aquaculture
company there employing many people. Are they going to be
told to leave?

The Chair: I think we know what you’re trying to accomplish
with your amendment. I think we got that part. There seems to be
some concerns about the wording. In order for you to do
anything with your amendment, you need to move a
subamendment to change the wording before we can even cast a
vote.

Senator Bovey: Could T ask how an interim area is
communicated, when you’re considering an interim area, in
terms of the general area and objectives?

Mr. MacDonald: In terms of our practice with regard to areas
of interest, when an area of interest is identified it is published
on our website. We outline the general area that we’re interested
in. We identify the habitat and the species that have been
identified as worthy of conservation. We outline in a general
sense the types of human activities that take place in that area.
Also on our website we have a list of all the consultations we
have done to date, the meetings that have taken place, the subject
matter, and the types of organizations that have been present. We
also put up a map of the area, including key ecological features,
on our website. We’ve done it for both areas of interest that are
heading directly for full regulatory. As well, if Parliament passes
Bill C-55, we would do the same for areas proposed for interim
protection.

Senator Gold: I thank you for that explanation because that is
what we had heard in testimony. I totally understand how,
despite that information, people could still be very concerned
about their livelihoods. I thank you for refreshing our memory
about the testimony.

Le sénateur Christmas : Oui, je suggérais au sénateur
MclInnis qu’on pourrait utiliser d’autres termes pour remplacer
« exact, précisément, et doivent » qui pourraient respecter
I’intention de son amendement. Je suis d’accord pour dire que le
ministre devrait étre responsable de communiquer au public
I’emplacement géographique et la valeur des habitats.

Le sénateur MclInnis : Comme je I’ai dit plus tot, ces termes
peuvent étre retirés et abandonnés. Je n’aime pas employer des
termes génériques, mais vous pourriez méme dire « est capable
de délimiter I’emplacement géographique approximatif de la
zone de protection marine proposée et de faire une estimation »
ou des termes du genre. Le but est de préciser les choses pour
que les particuliers et les collectivités cotiéres sachent ou cette
zone se situera environ. C’est difficile d’insister davantage sur le
fait que c’est trés important pour eux. L’autre point est qu’ils
doivent savoir exactement ce qui sera protégé.

On pourrait se retrouver dans une situation ou une entreprise
aquacole de la-bas donne de I’emploi a nombre de personnes.
Va-t-on lui demander de partir?

Le président : Je pense que nous savons ce que vous essayez
d’accomplir avec votre amendement. Je pense que nous avons
compris cette partie. La formulation semble soulever des
réserves. Pour que vous puissiez faire quoi que ce soit avec votre
amendement, vous devez proposer un sous-amendement pour
modifier le libellé avant que nous puissions méme le mettre aux
VOiX.

La sénatrice Bovey : Puis-je vous demander comment vous
annoncez le secteur général et les objectifs d’une zone provisoire
proposée lorsque vous envisagez d’en créer une?

M. MacDonald : Lorsque nous avons cerné une zone
d’intérét, nous avons pour pratique de le publier sur notre site
web. Nous décrivons le secteur général qui nous intéresse. Nous
cernons les habitats et les espéces dont on a déterminé qu’ils
valaient la peine d’étre conservés. Nous décrivons en général les
types d’activités humaines qui se déroulent dans ce secteur.
Notre site web contient aussi une liste de toutes les consultations
que nous avons tenues a ce jour, les réunions qui ont eu lieu, le
sujet a I’étude et les types d’organismes qui y ont assisté. Nous y
affichons aussi une carte de la zone, qui contient les principales
caractéristiques écologiques. Nous I’avons fait dans les deux
zones d’intérét qu’on se prépare a réglementer entiérement. De
plus, si le Parlement adopte le projet de loi C-55, nous ferons la
méme chose pour les zones pour lesquelles on propose une
mesure de protection provisoire.

Le sénateur Gold : Je vous remercie pour cette explication,
car c’est ce que nous avions entendu pendant les témoignages. Je
comprends tout a fait comment, malgré cette information, les
gens pourraient toujours s’inquiéter de leurs moyens de
subsistance. Je vous remercie de nous avons rafraichi la mémoire
concernant les témoignages.
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The only other observation I want to make is quite apart from
tweaking the language about “precise” and all of that. We are
still making this notwithstanding the precautionary principle.
That is at the heart of this approach to providing some temporary
protection, consistent with ongoing activities, which I think is an
important point. I speak now as a university professor, a former
full-time academic. I mean scientific certainty is not possible in
most cases. Even students of Einstein would admit that,
especially as we learn more about science.

I am satisfied that the existing rules and practices
communicate adequately to communities. They may not be
happy with what they’re hearing and may legitimately object to
their area of being designated as an area of interest. I cannot help
but feel that this amendment would compromise the objectives of
the bill. One can vote against the bill, but I am not sure we
should be amending it in a way to neuter it, if I may use that
term.

Senator Mclnnis: May I respond to something because you
have mentioned twice now precautionary approach, with which I
don’t agree. The two tenets of the fisheries and the Fisheries Act
in the way they operate is that they are to be based on science
and transparency. The precautionary approach is to say let the
fact we haven’t discovered the science, what’s there and what
effect it will, not deter our going ahead and interfering with the
livelihoods of families.

That’s what it is, Senator Gold. I am telling you that you can’t
have the department saying everything they do is based on
science and transparency, and then bring in and invoke the
precautionary principle. The precautionary principle is basically
saying, “We didn’t get the science done, but let that not stop us
from putting in the footprint and freezing it.”

Senator Gold: Respectfully, senator, I think we had evidence
that was different. Lots of science goes into identifying an area
of interest. At what stage of certainty does science have to be
before we take some measures to protect, at least for a temporary
period of time, while we pursue further scientific investigation,
the socio-economic impact, the management plans, and so on
and so forth? As I read the testimony and as I understand the
principle, it is not to say we don’t care about science;

La seule autre observation que je veux faire n’a rien a voir
avec la modification du libellé en ce qui concerne des termes
comme « précisément » et tout cela. Nous le faisons toujours
malgré le principe de précaution. Il est au cceur de cette approche
a I’égard de I’instauration de mesures de protection provisoires,
selon les activités en cours, ce qui, & mon sens, est un point
important. Je parle maintenant a titre de professeur d’université,
qui occupait un poste a temps plein dans ce domaine. Je veux
dire que la certitude scientifique n’est pas possible dans la
plupart des cas. Méme les étudiants d’Einstein le reconnaitraient,
surtout plus nos connaissances scientifiques augmentent.

Je suis convaincu que les régles et pratiques en place prévoient
une communication adéquate avec les collectivités. Elles
n’aiment peut-étre pas ce qu’elles entendent et pourraient
s’opposer de fagon légitime a ce que leur secteur soit désigné
comme zone d’intérét. Je ne peux pas m’empécher de penser que
cet amendement remettrait en question les objectifs du projet de
loi. On peut voter contre le projet de loi, mais je ne suis pas
certain qu’on doive le modifier de fagon a le neutraliser, si je
puis m’exprimer ainsi.

Le sénateur Mclnnis : Si vous me le permettez, j’aimerais
donner mon opinion sur un point, car je ne suis pas d’accord
avec 1’approche de précaution que vous avez mentionnée a deux
reprises. Les deux principes du fonctionnement des péches et de
la Loi sur les péches sont qu’ils doivent étre fondés sur les
données scientifiques et la transparence. L’approche de
précaution est de dire qu’il ne faut pas nous empécher de donner
suite au projet et d’interférer avec les moyens de subsistance des
familles parce que nous n’avons pas déterminé les données
scientifiques, les habitats et espéces a protéger et les
répercussions de la création d’une zone sur les moyens de
subsistance des familles.

C’est ainsi, sénateur Gold. Je vous dis que le ministére ne peut
pas dire que tout ce qu’il fait est fondé sur des données
scientifiques et la transparence pour ensuite invoquer le principe
de précaution. Ce principe dit, en gros : « Nous n’avons pas
mené les recherches scientifiques nécessaires, mais cela ne nous
empéche pas d’apporter notre empreinte et de la geler. »

Le sénateur Gold : Sauf votre respect, sénateur Mclnnis, je
pense que nous avions des preuves qui étaient différentes. Bien
des données scientifiques servent a cerner une zone d’intérét.
Quel niveau de certitude doit nous donner les preuves
scientifiques avant que nous prenions des mesures de protection,
du moins temporairement, pendant que nous menons d’autres
recherches scientifiques et vérifions, entre autres, I’incidence
socioéconomique et les plans de gestion? Selon ce que
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we’re going to zoom ahead away because of an ideological
commitment to environment over livelihood. Rather, we are not
going to wait until the last jot and tittle of scientific certainty is
achieved, which may never be achieved, before we take steps to
protect at-risk environments that we’ve identified at risk by
virtue of science. I may be wrong, but that’s how I understood
the testimony we heard.

Senator MclInnis: The precautionary approach, Senator Gold,
is that the science has not been completed. That’s what happens.
They move forward without having a fait accompli as to the
science. In fact, it does not say anywhere that after five years the
science will continue to be investigated. There are no words
there at all.

The department either operates on the basis of or is predicated
on science or it doesn’t. I simply don’t agree with invoking the
precautionary principle. You and I should stand outside one
windy night and have a debate on this.

Senator Gold: Why don’t we go outside?

Senator McInnis: Perhaps I may move an amendment to my
amendment to my amendment or a subamendment.

Senator Petitclerc: Very quickly, I want to add my voice to
Senator Gold’s. I have a very clear memory of the explanation of
the precautionary approach by scientists who proved to us that
science is indeed involved when it comes to the precautionary
approach. It’s the certainty. They showed very well that when it
comes to the environment and a lot of things 100 per cent
certainty is hard to achieve, and that when you have danger and
vulnerability in the environment you cannot allow yourself as a
planet to wait for 100 per cent.

That’s my understanding of the precautionary approach from
the witnesses we got. [ wanted to put it on record.

Senator McInnis: My amendment does not touch that.

The Chair: I am going to touch on something for a moment.
It’s 9:51 a.m. I’ve been advised by the clerk that we have to
finish by ten o’clock because there’s another committee coming
into this room. We are on TM3, with TM4 to follow, and now
we’re looking at a subamendment. I am seeking guidance or
advice. We have nine minutes to deal with this amendment plus

je comprends des témoignages que j’ai lus et du principe, ce
n’est pas que nous ne nous soucions pas des données
scientifiques, que nous allons privilégier des mesures fondées sur
un engagement idéologique a 1’égard de 1’environnement plutot
que les moyens de subsistance. C’est plutdt que nous n’allons
pas attendre le dernier iota de certitude scientifique, qu’on
n’atteindra peut-étre jamais, avant de prendre des mesures pour
protéger des milieux dont nous avons déterminé qu’ils étaient a
risque en nous fondant sur des données scientifiques. Je pourrais
me tromper, mais c’est ainsi que j’ai compris les témoignages
que nous avons entendus.

Le sénateur MclInnis : L’approche de précaution, sénateur
Gold, montre que les recherches scientifiques n’ont pas été
menées a bien. C’est ce qui se produit. On procéde sans preuves
scientifiques solides. En fait, il n’est écrit nulle part qu’aprés
cinq ans on continuera les recherches scientifiques. Il n’en est
nullement mention.

Soit le ministére s’appuie sur les données scientifiques, soit il
ne le fait pas. Je ne suis simplement pas d’accord avec le fait
d’invoquer le principe de précaution. Vous et moi devrions sortir
un soir de grand vent pour en discuter.

Le sénateur Gold : Pourquoi n’allons-nous pas a I’extérieur?

Le sénateur Meclnnis : Peut-étre que je peux proposer un
amendement a ’amendement que j’apporte &8 mon amendement
ou un sous-amendement.

La sénatrice Petitclerc : Trés brievement, je veux abonder
dans le méme sens que le sénateur Gold. Je me souviens trés bien
de D’explication que les scientifiques nous ont donnée de
I’approche de précaution et par laquelle ils nous ont prouvé
qu’on suit vraiment une démarche scientifique lorsqu’on opte
pour cette approche. C’est une certitude. Ils nous ont bien montré
que lorsqu’il est question de l’environnement et de bien des
choses, il est difficile d’étre certains a 100 p. 100, et que,
lorsqu’un danger plane sur un environnement vulnérable, pour le
bien de la planéte, on ne peut pas se permettre d’attendre d’étre
stirs a 100 p. 100.

Voila ce que je crois comprendre des explications que nous
ont données les témoins concernant I’approche de précaution. Je
voulais le consigner.

Le sénateur Mclnnis : Mon amendement ne porte pas sur
cette question.

Le président : Je vais aborder un point trés briévement. Il est
9 h 51. La greffiere m’a informé qu’il faut finir & 10 heures au
plus tard, parce qu’un autre comité viendra dans cette piéce.
Nous sommes a [’amendement TM3, qui sera suivi de
I’amendement TM4, et nous envisageons maintenant un sous-

amendement. J’ai besoin de vos avis. Il nous reste neuf minutes
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another amendment. I don’t know how we can do that and do it
properly. We’ll just continue until we shut down.

I have been advised that we can’t do the subamendment now
because we don’t have the French text, and you won’t get it from
me. Do you want to move a subamendment to your amendment?

Senator MclInnis: Yes.
The Chair: Do you have it in French also?

Senator MclInnis: We have people here who can do it, and |
trust you.

The Chair: You could provide us with it.

Senator Patterson: It’s not in the job description.

The Chair: 1 want everybody to be aware that we still have
another amendment we need to work on, and it is impossible to
do so with the time available now.

For our next meeting on April 2, we have the minister who has
confirmed his attendance to appear on Bill C-68. Believe me, |
am not blaming anybody for this discussion because we need to
have healthy discussion, but the plan for this morning, if things
had gone a bit faster, was to discuss some of our proposed
witnesses for Bill C-68.

We have two weeks in April, and I would ask the committee to
give permission to steering to determine the witnesses for the
first couple of meetings on Bill C-68, which includes the
minister. The minister’s here for one hour, I believe, on April 2,
so we will finish off the two amendments we have on Bill C-55
on April 2. I am asking for permission for steering to decide who
we will invite as witnesses for the other three meetings that we
have in April.

In the process of those three meetings, we will find time to
discuss future witnesses for May and into June, whenever we
can, on Bill C-68. I realize that’s not the perfect situation, but I
am trying to find a middle ground here. We won’t have time to
have a steering and come back to the committee to decide who
witnesses will be for Bill C-68.

We should be able to determine who are our first few
witnesses. We have requests. Is that agreed?

Hon. Senators: Agreed.

pour traiter cet amendement et un autre. Je ne sais pas comment
on pourra arriver a bien le faire. Nous allons simplement
continuer jusqu’a la fin de la séance.

On me dit qu’on ne peut pas traiter maintenant le sous-
amendement parce qu’on n’a pas le libellé dans les deux langues
officielles, et ce n’est pas moi qui vais vous le fournir. Voulez-
vous suggérer un sous-amendement a votre amendement?

Le sénateur MclInnis : Oui.
Le président : L’avez-vous dans les deux langues officielles?

Le sénateur Mclnnis : Nous avons des personnes ici qui
peuvent le traduire, et je vous fais confiance.

Le président : Vous pourriez nous fournir la traduction.

Le sénateur Patterson : Cela ne fait pas partie de la
description de taches.

Le président : Je veux que tout le monde sache qu’il nous
reste toujours un autre amendement auquel nous devons
travailler et qu’il nous est impossible de le faire pendant le temps
qu’il nous reste.

Pour notre prochaine réunion qui se tiendra le 2 avril, le
ministre a confirmé sa présence pour parler du projet de loi C-68.
Croyez-moi, je ne blame personne pour cette discussion parce
que nous devons tenir une saine discussion, mais le plan, ce
matin, si les choses étaient allées un peu plus vite, était de
discuter de certains des témoins que nous proposons d’inviter
pour étudier le projet de loi C-68.

Nous avons deux semaines en avril, et je demanderais au
comité d’autoriser les membres du comité directeur a décider de
la liste de témoins pour les deux premiéres réunions sur le projet
de loi C-68, qui comprend le ministre. Il sera ici pendant une
heure, je crois, le 2 avril, si bien que nous conclurons 1'étude
desdeux amendements que nous avons sur le projet de loi C-55
ce jour-la. Je demande qu’on autorise le comité directeur a
décider qui nous inviterons comme témoins pendant les trois
autres réunions que nous tiendrons en avril.

Dans le cadre de ces trois réunions, nous trouverons le temps
de parler des témoins pour les réunions de mai et de juin sur le
projet de loi C-68, quand nous le pourrons. Ce n’est pas la
situation idéale, j’en conviens, mais j’essaie de trouver un
compromis. Nous n’aurons pas le temps de tenir une réunion du
comité directeur et de revenir devant le comité pour décider
quels témoins nous convoquerons dans le cadre de 1’étude du
projet de loi C-68.

Nous devrions pouvoir déterminer qui sont nos premiers
témoins. Nous avons des demandes. Etes-vous d’accord?

Des voix : D’accord.
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The Chair: If you have the subamendment, Senator Mclnnis,
you will hand that into the clerk as soon as possible. We have
one more amendment, which is TM4.

I thank all the senators for their great contributions this
morning and the department personnel who joined us as
witnesses to answer our questions. Thank you very much.

(The committee adjourned.)

Le président : Si vous avez le sous-amendement, sénateur
Mclnnis, je vous prie de le remettre a la grefficre dés que
possible. Il nous reste un amendement, soit le TM4.

Je remercie tous les sénateurs de leurs excellentes
contributions ce matin et les employés des ministéres qui sont
venus comme témoins pour répondre a nos questions. Merci
beaucoup.

(La séance est levée.)




WITNESSES
Tuesday, March 19, 2019
Fisheries and Oceans Canada:

Jeff MacDonald, Director General, Oceans and Fisheries Policy;

Darren Goetze, Director General, Conservation and Protection.
Natural Resources Canada.

Candace Newman, Senior Policy Analyst, Offshore Petroleum
Management Division, Energy Sector;

Danny Wright, Subdivision Chief, Environmental Earth Sciences,
Geological Survey of Canada, Lands and Minerals Sector.

Thursday, March 21, 2019
Fisheries and Oceans Canada:

Jeff MacDonald, Director General, Oceans and Fisheries Policy;

Josée-Annie Verville, Chief, Enforcement Policy.
Natural Resources Canada:

Candace Newman, Senior Policy Analyst, Offshore Petroleum
Management Division, Energy Sector;

TEMOINS
Le mardi 19 mars 2019
Péches et Océans Canada:

Jeff MacDonald, directeur général, Politiques des océans et des
péches;

Darren Goetze, directeur général, Conservation et protection.
Ressources naturelles Canada:

Candace Newman, analyste de la politique principale, Division de la
gestion des hydrocarbures extracotiers, Secteur de 1’énergie;

Danny Wright, chef de sous-division, Géosciences environnementales,
Commission géologique du Canada, Secteur des terres et des
minéraux.

Le jeudi 21 mars 2019
Péches et Océans Canada:

Jeff MacDonald, directeur général, Politiques des océans et des
péches;

Josée-Annie Verville, chef, Politiques d’application de la loi.
Ressources naturelles Canada:

Candace Newman, analyste de la politique principale, Division de la
gestion des hydrocarbures extracotiers, Secteur de I’énergie;
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